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Crowe Crowe Advartis Assurance s.r.o. 
Member Crowe International

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
To the Shareholders, Supervisory Board and Board of Directors of COMPANY SK-NIC, a.S.

REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of COMPANY SK-NIC, a.S.. (the “Company”), which comprise 
the balance sheet as at 31 December 2018, and the income statement for the year then ended, and notes to the 
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.
In our opinion, based on our audit performed within the limits of materiality and the significance of the 
matter described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion paragraph,the accompanying financial statements give a 
true and fair view of the financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2018, and its financial 
performance for the year then ended in accordance with the Act on Accounting No. 431/2002 Coll, as 
amended (the “Act on Accounting”).

Basis for Qualified Opinion
Company SK-NIC, a.s. merged with SK-NIC Slovakia a.s., the successor company is the company SK-NIC, 
a.s. and the dissolving company is SK-NIC Slovakia, a.s. , The decisive date of the merger was 1 January 
2018 and the date of registration of the merger was I December 2018. At the date of the report we could not 
obtain reliable and demonstrable evidence that provide reasonable assurance about the correct accounting of 
each transactions related to this merger.
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the provisions of 
Act No. 423/2015 Coll, on Statutory Audit and on Amendment to and Supplementation of Act No. 431/2002 
Coll, on Accounting, as amended (hereinafter the “Act on Statutory Audit”) related to ethical requirements, 
including the Code of Ethics for Auditors that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements, and we 
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Responsibilities of Management

Management is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements to give a true and fair view in 
accordance with the Act on Accounting, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary
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to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting, unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with International Standards on Auditing will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis 
of these financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing, we exercise professional 
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud 

or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Company's internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by management.

® Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If 
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report 
to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify 
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going 
concern.
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• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS 
Report on Information Disclosed in the Annual Report
The statutory body is responsible for information disclosed in the annual report prepared under the 
requirements of the Act on Accounting. Our opinion on the financial statements stated above does not apply 
to other information in the annual report.

In connection with the audit of financial statements, our responsibility is to gain an understanding of the 
information disclosed in the annual report and consider whether such information is materially inconsistent 
with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit of the financial statements, or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated.
We evaluated whether the Company’s annual report includes information whose disclosure is required by the 
Act on Accounting.

Based on procedures performed during the audit of the financial statements, in our opinion:
o Information disclosed in the annual report prepared at 31 December 2018 is consistent with the financial 

statements for the relevant year; and
o The annual report includes information pursuant to the Act on Accounting.
Furthermore, based on our understanding of the Company and its position, obtained in the audit of the 
financial statements, we are required to disclose whether material misstatements were identified in the annual 
report, which we received prior to the date of issuance of this auditor’s report. There are no findings that 
should be reported in this regard.

UDVAW
! 370 •

Bratislava, 28. Jim 2019

Key statutory audiwrAudit firm: CIslo licencie / «
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UZP0Dv14Jr nFINANCIAL STATEMENTSUc POD
of entrepreneurs maintaining accounts under the system of double entry bookkeeping

a* 3 1 . 1 2 . 2 0 1 8 (in whole euros)

Tax identification number (DlC) Month YearFinancial statements Accounting entity

from 0 1 2 0 182020310754 X ordinary X small For the period
Identification number (ICO)

to 1 2 2 0 1 8extraordinary large35698446
from 0 1 2 0 17Preceding

period
SK NACE interim

(vyznaci sa x)6 1.90.0 to 1 2 2 0 1 7
Attached parts of the financial statements
X Balance Sheet (Uc POD 1-01) X Income Statement (Uc POD 2-01) X Notes to the Financial Statements (Uc POD 3-01) 

(in whole euros) (in whole euros) (in whole euros or eurocents)

Legal name (designation) of the accounting entity

S K - N I C a . s .

Registered office of the accounting entity

Street Number

NAMES! I E SNR 1 4
Zip code Municipality

8 110 6 BRAT I S LAVA
Designation of the Commercial Register and company registration number

OS Brat i s I a v a I o d d i e I S a v I . c .

1 1 5 6 / B
Telephone Fax

0235035031 0235035039
Email

Prepared on: Approved on: Signature of the accounting entity's statutory body or 
a member of the accounting entity's statutory body or 
the signature of a sole trader who is the accounting entity:2 5.0 2.2 0 1 9 . 2 0

/

This form in any foreign language cannot be submitted to the Tax office and it is only for the purpose of helping.
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UZPODv14_2r ndig 2020310754 ico 35698446Suvaha 
Uc POD 1 - 01

Current accounting period Preceding 
accounting period

Desig
nation

LineASSETS No.
Gross - part 1 Net 2b 1ca

Correction - part 2 Net 3

30505468 2 6 5 5 1 9 7 9TOTAL ASSETS 
line 02 + line 33 + 
line 74

01

3 9 5 3 4 8 9 4 8 4 7 6 5 2
26836788 22883299A. Non-current assets 

line 03 + line 11 + 
line 21

02

3 9 5 3 4 8 9 19 9 16 5
26705223 2 2 8 2 6 9 7 1A.I. Non-current 

intangible assets 
total (lines 04 to

03

3 8 7 8 2 5 2 1 4 7 0 7 410)

1 7 3 8 1 5 1 1 4 6 0 7A.I.1. Capitalized 
development costs 
(012)-/072, 091 A/

04

5 9 2 0 8 1 4 5 8 6 3
3 3 6 5 02. Software

(013)-/073, 091 A/
05

3 3 6 5 0 12 11
Valuable rights 
(014)-/074, 091 A/

3. 06

26497758 2 2 7 1 2 3 6 44. Goodwill
(015) - /075, 091 A/

07

3 7 8 5 3 9 4
5. Other non-current 

intangible assets 
(019, 01X)-/079. 
07X, 091A/

08

Acquisition of non- 
current intangible 
assets 
(041)-/093/

096.

Advance payments 
made for non- 
current intangible 
assets
(051) - /095A/

7. 10

1 1 0 8 5 4 3 5 6 1 7A.II. 11Property, plant and
equipment
total (lines 12 to 20)

7 5 2 3 7 5 13 8 7
LandA.II.1. 12
(031) - /092A/

2. Structures 
(021) - /081, 092A/

13

Individual movable 
assets and sets of 
movable assets 
(022) - /082, 092A/

3 5 6 1 71 1 0 8 5 43. 14

7 5 2 3 7 5 13 8 7

L MF SR e. 18009/2014/ENG Page 2 —^



UZPODv14_3r nSuvaha 
Uc POP 1 -01

dig 2020310754 ico 35698446
Current accounting periodDesig

nation
Line Preceding 

accounting period
ASSETS No. Gross - part 1 Net 2b 1a c

Correction - part 2 Net 3

4. Perennial crops 
(025) - /085, 092A/

15

Livestock
(026) - /086, 092A/

5. 16

6. Other property, plant 
and equipment 
(029, 02X, 032) - 
/089, 08X, 092A/

17

7. Acquisition of 
property, plant and 
equipment 
(042) - /094/

18

8. Advance payments 
made for property, 
plant and equipment 
(052) - /095A/

19

9. Value adjustment to 
acquired assets 
(+/- 097) +/- 098

20

2 0 7 1 1 2 0 7 1 1A.III. Non-current 
financial assets 
total (lines 22 to

21

7 0 432)

Shares and 
ownership interests 
in affiliated 
accounting entities 
(061 A, 062A, 063A) - 
/096A/

A.III.1. 22

Shares and owner
ship interests with 
participating interest, 
except for affiliated 
accounting entities 
(062A) - /096A/

2. 23

3. Other available-for- 
sale securities and 
ownership interests 
(063A) - /096A/

24

4. Loans to affiliated 
accounting entities 
(066A) - /096A/

25

Loans within 
participating interest, 
except for affiliated 
accounting entities 
(066A) - /096A/

5. 26

6. Other loans 
(067A) - /096A/

27

Debt securities and 
other non-current 
financial assets 
(065A, 069A.06XA) - 
/096A/

7. 28
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UZPODv14_4r ndig 2020310754 ico 35698446Suvaha 
Uc POD 1 -01

Current accounting period Preceding 
accounting period

Desig
nation

LineASSETS No. Gross - part 1 Net 21b ca
Correction - part 2 Net 3

Loans and other non- 
current financial 
assets with remaining 
maturity of up 
year (066A, 067A, 
069A, 06XA) - /096A/

8. 29

to one

2 0 7 1 12 0 7 1 19. Bank accounts with 
notice period 
exceeding one year 
(22XA)

30

7 0 4

10. Acquisition of non- 
current financial 
assets
(043) - /096A/

31

Advance payments 
made for non- 
current financial 
assets
(053) - /095A/

11. 32

3 5 0 8 6 2 7 3 5 0 8 6 2 7B. Current assets 
line 34 + line 41 + 
line 53 + line 66 + 
line 71

33

4 6 4 7 9 3 6
B.l. Inventory 

total (lines 35 to
34

40)

B.I.1. Raw material 
(112, 119, 11X) 
-/191, 19X/

35

Work in progress 
and semi-finished 
products 
(121, 122,12X) - 
/192, 193, 19X/

2. 36

3. Finished goods 
(123)-/194/

37

4. Animals 
(124)-/195/

38

5. Merchandise 
(132, 133, 13X, 139) 
- /196, 19X/

39

6. Advance payments 
made for 
inventory 
(314A) - /391 A/

40

2 3 7 1 7 2 3 7 1 7B.ll. Non-current 
receivables 
total (line 42 + lines 
46 to 52)

41

5 6 12 7
B.II.1. Trade receivables 

total (lines 43 to
42

45)
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UZPODv14_5r nDie 2020310754 ico 35698446Suvaha 
Uc POD 1 -01

Current accounting period Preceding 
accounting period

Desig
nation

LineASSETS No. Gross - part 1 Net 2b 1ca
Correction - part 2 Net 3

Trade receivables 
from affiliated 
accounting entities 
(311 A, 312A, 313A, 
314A, 315A, 31XA) - 
/391A/

1.a. 43

Trade receivables within 
participating interest, 
except for receivables 
from affiliated accounting 
entities
(311A, 312A, 313A, 314A, 
315A,31XA)-/391A/___

1.b. 44

Other trade 
receivables 
(311A, 312A, 313A, 
314A, 315A, 31XA) - 
/391A7

1.c. 45

Net value of contract 
(316A)

2. 46

3. Other receivables 
from affiliated 
accounting entities 
(351 A) - /391A/

47

Other receivables 
within participating 
interest, except for 
receivables from 
affiliated accounting 
entities (351 A)-/391 A/

4. 48

Receivables from 
participants, members 
and association 
(354A, 355A, 358A, 
35XA) - /391A/

5. 49

6. Receivables related 
to derivative 
transactions 
(373A, 376A)

50

7. Other receivables 
(335A, 336A, 33XA, 
371 A, 374A, 375A, 
378A) - /391 A/

51

2 3 7 1 7 2 3 7 1 7Deferred tax asset 
(481 A)

8. 52

5 6 12 7

7 7 6 3 6 3 7 7 6 3 6 3B.lll. Current 
receivables 
total (line 54 + lines 
58 to 65)

53

3 8 1 1 4 3 8
4 0 2 5 4 0 4 0 2 5 4 0B.III.1. Trade receivables 

total (lines 55 to
54

57)
2 1 2 5 3 2

Trade receivables 
from affiliated 
accounting entities 
(311A, 312A, 313A, 
314A, 315A, 31XA) - 
/391A/

1.a. 55

Trade receivables within 
participating interest, 
except for receivables 
from affiliated accounting 
entities
(311A, 312A, 313A, 314A, 
315A, 31XA)-/391A/

1.b. 56
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UZPODv14_6r nSuvaha 
Uc POP 1-01 dig 2020310754 ico 35698446

Current accounting period Preceding 
accounting period

Desig
nation

LineASSETS No. Gross - part 1 Net 2b 1ca
Correction - part 2 Net 3

Other trade 
receivables 
(311A, 312A, 313A, 
314A, 315A, 31XA) - 
/391A/

4 0 2 5 4 0 4 0 2 5 4 0l.c. 57

2 1 2 5 3 2
2. Net value of contract 

(316 A)
58

3. Other receivables 
from affiliated 
accounting entities 
(351 A) - /391A/

59

3 4 1 3 4 3 5
Other receivables 
within participating 
interest, except for 
receivables from 
affiliated accounting 
entities (351 A) -/391 A/

4. 60

Receivables from 
participants, members 
and association 
(354A, 355A, 358A, 
35XA, 398A) - /391 A/

5. 61

Social security 
(336A) - /391 A/

6. 62

1 7 3 7 2 3 1 7 3 7 2 37. Tax assets and 
subsidies
(341,342, 343, 345, 
346, 347)-/391 A/

63

1 8 5 2 9 0
8. Receivables related 

to derivative 
transactions 
(373A, 376A)

64

2 0 0 1 0 0 2 0 0 1 0 09. Other receivables 
(335A, 33XA, 371 A, 
374A, 375A, 378A)
- /391A/

65

1 8 1
- 2 5 0 0 0 - 2 5 0 0 0B.IV. Current financial 

assets
total (lines 67 to

66

70)

Current financial 
assets in affiliated 
accounting entities 
(251 A, 253A, 256A, 
257A, 25XA) -/291A, 
29XA/

B.IV.1. 67

Current financial assets, 
not including current 
financial assets in 
affiliated accounting 
entities (251 A, 253A, 
256A, 257A, 25XA) - 
/291 A, 29XA/

2. 68

- 2 5 0 0 0 - 2 5 0 0 03. Own shares and 
own ownership 
interests 
(252)

69

4. Acquisition of 
current financial 
assets
(259, 314A)-/291A/

70
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UZPODv14_7In ndig 2020310754 ico 35698446Suvaha 
Uc POD 1 -01

Current accounting periodDesig
nation

Line Preceding 
accounting period

ASSETS No. Gross - part 1 Net 2b 1ca
Correction - part 2 Net 3

2 7 3 3 5 4 7 2 7 3 3 5 4 7B.V. Financial accounts 
line 72 + line 73

71

7 8 0 3 7 1
5 1 2 5 1 2B.V.1. Cash 72

(211,213, 21X)

7 6 3
2 7 3 3 0 3 5 2 7 3 3 0 3 52. Bank accounts 

(221 A, 22X, +/-261)
73

7 7 9 6 0 8
1 6 0 0 5 3 1 6 0 0 5 3c. Accruals/deferrals 

total (lines 75 to
74

78)

5 5 1
C.1. Prepaid expenses -

long-term
(381 A, 382A)

75

1 6 0 0 5 3 1 6 0 0 5 3Prepaid expenses -
short-term
(381 A, 382A)

2. 76

3 1 0
Accrued income -
long-term
(385A)

3. 77

Accrued income -
short-term
(385A)

4. 78

2 4 1
Desig
nation

LineEQUITY AND LIABILITIES Current accounting period Preceding accounting periodNo.
4 5cba

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 
line 80 + line 101 + line 141 2 6 5 5 1 9 7 9 4 8 4 7 6 5 279

Equity line 81 + line 85 + line 86 + line 87 
+ line 90 + line 93 + line 97 + line 100 8 3 5 6 0 7 8 1 6 9 3 3 5 3A. 80

2 5 0 0 0 1 3 7 5 2 8 0Share capital total (lines 82 to 84)A.I. 81

2 5 0 0 0 1 3 7 5 2 8 0A.I.1. Share capital (411 alebo +/- 491) 82

2. Change in share capital +/- 419 83

Unpaid share capital 
(1-1353)

3. 84

Share premium (412)A.II. 85

1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0A.III. Other capital funds (413) 86

2 7 5 0 5 6 2 7 5 0 5 6A.IV. Legal reserve funds line 88 + line 89 87

Legal reserve fund and non-distributable 
fund (417A.418, 421A, 422) 2 7 5 0 5 6 2 7 5 0 5 6A.IV.1. 88

Reserve fund for own shares and own 
ownership interests (417A, 421 A)2. 89

MF SR 6. 18009/2014/ENG Page 7



UZPODv14_8n nSuvaha 
Uc POP 1 -01 dig 2020310754 ico 35698446

Desig
nation

LineEQUITY AND LIABILITIES Current accounting period Preceding accounting periodNo.
Cb 4 5a

Other funds created from profit 
line 91 + line 92

A.V. 90

A.V.1. Statutory funds (423, 42X) 91

Other funds (427,42X)2. 92

Differences from revaluation 
total (lines 94 to 96)

A.VI. 93

Differences from revaluation of assets 
and liabilities (+/-414)A.VI.1 94

Investment revaluation reserves 
(+/-415)2. 95

Differences from revaluation in the event of 
a merger, amalgamation into a separate 
accounting entity or demerger (+/- 416)

3. 96

Net profit/loss of previous years 
line 98 + line 99 -5712A.VII. 97

Retained earnings from previous years 
(428) 4 3 0 1 7A.VII.1 98

Accumulated losses from previous years 
(1-1429) - 4 8 7 2 92. 99

Net profit/loss for the accounting period 
after tax /+-/ line 01 - (I. 81 + I. 85 + I. 86 + 
I. 87 + I. 90 + I. 93 + I. 97 + 1.101 + 1.141)__

- 1 9 3 8 2 6 6 4 3 0 1 7A.VIII. 100

Liabilities line 102 + line 118 + line 121 
+ line 122 + line 136 + line 139 + line 140 16 14 12 2 1 1 3 2 2 4 3 4B. 101

Non-current liabilities
total (line 103 + lines 107 to 117) 1 1 4 5 8 8 0 0 2 16 3B.l. 102

Non-current trade liabilities 
total (lines 104 to 106)

B.I.1. 103

Trade liabilities to affiliated accounting 
entities (321 A, 475A, 476A)

1.a. 104

Trade liabilities within participating interest, 
except for liabilities to affiliated accounting 
entities (321 A, 475A.476A)________________

1.b. 105

Other trade liabilities 
(321A, 475A, 476A)

1.c. 106

Net value of contract (316A)2. 107

Other liabilities to affiliated accounting 
entities (471 A, 47XA)

3. 108

Other liabilities within participating interest, 
except for liabilities to affiliated accounting 
entities (471 A, 47XA)__________________ 1 0 8 9 3 3 8 74. 109

5 6 4 4 7 4Other non-current liabilities (479A, 47XA)5. 110

Long-term advance payments received 
(475A)6. 111

Long-term bills of exchange to be paid 
(478A)

7. 112

Bonds issued (473A/-/255A) 1138.

9 3 9 2 16 3Liabilities related to social fund (472)9. 114

Other non-current liabilities 
(336A, 372A, 474A, 47XA)

10. 115

Non-current liabilities related to derivative 
transactions (373A, 377A)

11. 116

12. Deferred tax liability (481 A) 117

L JMFSRc. 18009/2014/ENG Page 8



UZPODv14_9r 1Suvaha 
Uc POD 1-01

dig 2020310754 ico 35698446
Desig
nation

LineEQUITY AND LIABILITIES Current accounting period Preceding accounting periodNo.
b c 4 5a

2 19 0 15 4B.ll. Long-term provisions line 119 + line 120 118

B.II.1. Legal provisions (451 A) 119

21901542. Other provisions (459A, 45XA) 120

B.lll. Long-term bank loans (461 A, 46XA) 121

Current liabilities
total (line 123 +lines 127 to 135) 1845106 9 3 8 9 1 6B.IV. 122

Trade liabilities 
total (lines 124 to 126) 1 7 4 7 8 2 5 8 5 2 5 7 8B.IV.1. 123

Trade liabilities to affiliated accounting entities 
(321 A, 322A, 324A, 325A, 326A, 32XA, 475A, 
476A, 478A, 47XA)_________ ________ 7 5 0 0 0 0l.a. 124

Trade liabilities within participating interest, 
except for liabilities to affiliated accounting 
entities (321A, 322A, 324A, 325A, 326A, 32XA, 
475A, 476A, 478A, 47XA) ______

1.b 125

Other trade liabilities
(321 A, 322A, 324A, 325A, 326A, 32XA,
475A, 476A, 478A, 47XA)____________ 1 7 4 7 8 2 5 1 0 2 5 7 81.C.I 126

2. Net value of contract (316A) 127

Other liabilities to affiliated accounting 
entities (361 A, 36XA, 471 A, 47XA)3. 128

Other liabilities within participating interest, 
except for liabilities to affiliated accounting 
entities (361 A, 36XA, 471 A, 47XA)______

4. 129

Liabilities to partners and association (364, 
365, 366, 367, 368, 398A, 478A, 479A)5. 130

Liabilities to employees 
(331,333, 33X, 479A) 2 8 7 5 0 16 5 196. 131

1 6 2 3 3 1 0 0 6 5Liabilities related to social security (336A)7. 132

Tax liabilities and subsidies 
(341,342, 343, 345, 346, 347, 34X) 3 7 6 3 0 4 0 8 4 08. 133

Liabilities related to derivative transactions 
(373A, 377A)9. 134

Other liabilities
(372A, 379A, 474A, 475A, 479A, 47XA) 1 4 6 6 8 18 9 1410. 135

Short-term provisions 
line 137 +line 138 6 4 7 1 6 1 3 8 1 3 5 5B.V. 136

9 8 6 3 5 3 8 1 3 5 5B.V.1. Legal provisions (323A, 451 A) 137

5 4 8 5 2 62. Other provisions (323A, 32X, 459A, 45XA) 138

Current bank loans
(221 A, 231, 232, 23X, 461 A, 46XA)

B.VI. 139

Short-term financial assistance 
(241,249, 24X, 473A, /-/255A)

B.VII. 140

Accruals/deferrals 
total (lines 142 to 145) 2 0 5 4 6 8 0 1 8 3 1 8 6 5c. 141

Accrued expenses - long-term 
(383A)C.1. 142

Accrued expenses - short-term 
(383A)2. 143

Deferred income - long-term 
(384A) 1 6 2 3 1 3 6 5 5 6 83. 144

Deferred income - short-term 
(384A) 1 8 9 2 3 6 7 1 7 6 6 2 9 74. 145
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p—» UZP0Dv14_1Q - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - - -
I me 2020310754 ico 35698446 n

Actual data
Desig
nation

LineText No. Current accounting period Preceding accounting period
b 1 2a c

Net turnover (part of account class 6 
according to the Act) 3 4 6 8 6 7 5 3 6 8 6 3 5 901

Operating income 
total (lines 03 to 09) 3 4 7 0 9 7 2 3 7 5 2 9 8 5

** 02

Revenue from the sale of merchandise 
(604,607)I. 03

Revenue from the sale of own products 
(601) 04

Revenue from the sale of services 
(602, 606) 3 4 6 8 6 7 5 3 6 8 6 3 5 905

Changes in internal inventory 
(+/-) (account group 61)

IV. 06

6 0 0 0 0V. Own work capitalized (account group 62) 07

Revenue from the sale of non-current 
intangible assets, property, plant and 
equipment, and raw materials (641,642) 2 9 7 0VI. 08

Other operating income 
(644, 645, 646, 648, 655, 657) 2 2 9 7 3 6 5 6VII. 09

Operating expenses total line 11 + line 
12 + line 13 + line 14 + line 15 + line 20 + 
line 21 + line 24 + line 25 + line 26 4 9 4 2 5 6 2 3 8 8 5 1 4 6

** 10

Cost of merchandise sold 
(504, 507)A. 11

Consumed raw materials, energy 
consumption, and consumption of other non- 
inventory supplies (501, 502, 503)________ 1 2 6 8 8 3 7 5 9B. 12

Value adjustments to inventory (+/-) (505)C. 13

6 0 2 7 0 0 3 6 2 5 0 0 8D. Services (account group 51) 14

4 7 7 7 4 9 2 2 5 3 7 0E. Personnel expenses total (lines 16 to 19) 15

3 5 8 4 4 2 16 19 4 2E.1, Wages and salaries (521,522) 16

Remuneration of board members of 
company or cooperative (523)

2. 17

Social security expenses 
(524, 525, 526) 1 1 2 5 5 0 5 7 6 2 73. 18

6 7 5 7 5 8 0 14. Social expenses (527, 528) 19

2 6 7 6 4 9Taxes and fees (account group 53)F. 20

Amortization and value adjustments to non- 
current intangible assets and depreciation and 
value adjustments to property, plant and 
equipment (line 22 + line 23)_____________

G. 3 8 3 7 5 3 1 2 9 3 1 021

Amortization of non-current intangible 
assets and depreciation of property, plant 
and equipment (551)_______________ 3 8 3 7 5 3 1 2 9 3 1 0G.1. 22

Value adjustments to non-current 
intangible assets and property, plant and 
equipment (+/-) (553)_______________

2. 23

Carrying value of non-current assets sold 
and raw materials sold (541, 542) 9 6 9H. 24

Value adjustments to receivables (+/-) 
(547)I. 25

Other operating expenses
(543, 544, 545, 546, 548, 549, 555, 557) 116 2 7 8 1j. 26

Profit/loss from operations (+/-) 
(line 02-line 10)

***
- 1 4 7 1 5 9 0 -13 2 16 127
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r— UZP0Dv14_11 ---------------------------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------------
I dic 2020310754 ico 35698446

Uc POD 2-01 n
Actual data

Desig
nation

LineText
No. Current accounting period Preceding accounting period

b 1a 2c
Added value (line 03 + line 04 + line 05 
+ line 06 + line 07 ) - (line 11 + line 12 + 
line 13 + line 14) _______ 2 8 5 3 2 8 7 1 1 7 5 9 2

* 28

Income from financial activities - total 
line 30 + line 31 + line 35 + line 39 + line 
42 + line 43 + line 44 ______ ______ 2 9 7 0 1 2** 29

Revenue from the sale of securities and 
shares (661)VIII. 30

Income from non-current financial assets 
total (lines 32 to 34)

IX. 31

Income from securities and ownership 
interests in affiliated accounting entities 
(665A)________________ _______

IX.1. 32

income from securities and ownership 
interests within participating interest, except for 
income of affiliated accounting entities (665A)

2. 33

Other income from securities and 
ownership interests (665A)

3. 34

Income from current financial assets 
total (lines 36 to 38)

X. 35

Income from current financial assets in 
affiliated accounting entities (666A)

X.l. 36

Income from current financial assets within 
participating interest, except for income of 
affiliated accounting entities (666A)______

2. 37

Other income from current financial assets 
(666A)3. 38

1 5 7 6 9 7XI. Interest income (line 40 + line 41) 39

Interest income from affiliated accounting 
entities (662A)

XI.1. 40

1 5 7 6 9 72. Other interest income (662A) 41

XII. Exchange rate gains (663) 42

Gains on revaluation of securities and income 
from derivative transactions (664, 667)

XIII. 43

1 3 9 3 1 5XIV. Other income from financial activities (668) 44

Expenses related to financial activities - 
total line 46 + line 47 + line 48 + line 49 
+ line 52 + line 53 + line 54_________ 4 3 4 2 6 6 1 4 4 6 6** 45

K. Securities and shares sold (561) 46

Expenses related to current financial 
assets (566)

L. 47

Value adjustments to financial assets 
(+/-) (565)

M. 48

19 15 8N. Interest expense (line 50 + line 51) 49

Interest expenses related to affiliated 
accounting entities (562A)

N.1. 50

19 15 82. Other interest expenses (562A) 51

1O. Exchange rate losses (563) 52

Loss on revaluation of securities and 
expenses related to derivative transactions 
(564,567) __________

P. 53

Other expenses related to financial 
activities (568, 569) 4 15 10 8 1 4 4 6 5Q. 54
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r— UZPODv14_12
I Vykaz ziskov a strat 

Uc POD 2-01 ndic 2020310754 ico 35698446
Actual data

Desig
nation

LineText No. Current accounting period Preceding accounting period
b 1 2a c

Profit/loss from financial activities 
(+/-) (line 29 - line 45) - 4 3 4 2 6 6 2 8 2 5 4 6*** 55

Profit/loss for the accounting period 
before tax (+/-) (line 27 + line 55) - 1 9 0 5 8 5 6 1 5 0 3 8 5**** 56

3 2 4 1 0 1 0 7 3 6 8Income tax (line 58 + line 59)R. 57

16 2 15 6R.1. Income tax - current (591, 595) 58

3 2 4 1 0 - 5 4 7 8 8Income tax - deferred (+/-) (592)2. 59

Transfer of net profit/net loss shares to 
partners (+/- 596)S. 60

Profit/loss for the accounting period 
after tax (+/-)
(line 56 - line 57 - line 60)_________

- 1 9 3 8 2 6 6 4 3 0 1 7**** 61

JL MF SR c. 18009/2014/ENG Page 12
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Member Crowe International
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Crowe Crowe Advartis Assurance s.r.o.
Member Crowe International

REPORT OF FACTUAL FINDINGS
Shareholders, Board of Directors and Supervisory Board

SK-NIC, a.s.
Namestie SNP 14, 811 06 Bratislava 

ICO: 35 698 446

We have performed procedures agreed with you and enumerated below, which we have performed in 
connection with the verification of the Cash Flow statement of SK-NIC a.s., at 31 .December 2018. Our 
engagement was undertaken in accordance with the International Standard on Related Services (ISRS) 
applicable to agreed-upon procedures engagements (ISRS 4400). Described below procedures were 
performed solely for the purpose of meeting the legal requirements of the parent company for the listing 
of bonds on the Oslo Stock Exchange. Specifically, we've done the following :

1. we obtained and verified correctness of compiling of the Financial statements of the company 
SK-NIC a.s, comprising the balance sheet at 31 December 2018, Profit and loss statement for 

the year ended on that date, and Notes

2. we have obtained the general ledger balances on the basis of which these statements 
have been compiled

we obtain and verify the accuracy of the Cash Flow statement as at 31 December 2018 and 
its consistency with the Financial statements

3.

We report our findings below:

(a) With respect to item 1 we found that the financial statements making 
up the annual accounts have been drawn up correctly ;

(b) With respect to item 2 we found that the balances in the general

ledger are consistent to financial statements ;

(c) With respect to item 3, we have found that the Cash Flow statement has

been drawn up correctly and consistent to financial statements ;

Because the above procedures do not constitute either an audit or a review made in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing (ISA) or International Standards on Review Engagements (ISRE) 
we do not express any assurance.

Crowe Advartis Assurance s.r.o.. KaradidCova 16, 821 08 Bratislava. Phone: 1421 2 50 20 33 00. KmaihconUieMcrowe.sk 
www.crowe.sk, lC():46400567.l)IC:2023359800.lC DIM l:SK2023359800/akladiR kupilal 5.000 Fur



Crowe Crowe Advartis Assurance s.r.o. 
Member Crowe International

Our report is solely for the purpose set forth in the first paragraph of this report and for your 
information and is not to be used for any other purpose or to be distributed to any other parties. This 
report relates only to Cash Flow statement and items specified above and does not extend to any 
Financial statements of SK-NIC a.s. Company, taken as a whole.

11. September 2019 
Bratislava, Slovak Republic

i
%&

//(■Il UDVAW
° 370 •

V7 l

Audit firm
Crowe Advartis Assurance s.r.o.

Key statutory cmditor 
Kmec Jupaj

Q>\ Cfslo licencievvC
Licencia UDVA c. 370 Licencia UDVA c.
823

Crowe Advartis Assurance s.r.o.. KaradziCova 16. 821 08 Bratislava, Phone: +421 2 50 20 33 00. Pmailxonlacrt/lerowe.sk 
www.crowe.sk, lCO:4640()567.DlC:2023359800,lC l)PII:SK2023359800 zakladny kapital 5.000 l air



UZP0Dv14_1r nFINANCIAL STATEMENTSUc POD
of entrepreneurs maintaining accounts under the system of double entry bookkeeping

at 3 1 . 1 2 . 2 0 1 8 (in whole euros)

Tax identification number (DlC) Month YearFinancial statements Accounting entity

from 0 1 2 0 182020310754
X ordinary X small For the period

Identification number (ICO) to 1 2 2 0 18
extraordinary large35698446

from 0 1 2 0 17Preceding
period

SK NACE interim
(vyznaci sa x)6 1.90.0 to 1 2 2 0 1 7

Attached parts of the financial statements
X Balance Sheet (Uc POD 1-01) X Income Statement (0c POD 2-01) X Notes to the Financial Statements (0c POD 3-01) 

(in whole euros) (in whole euros) (in whole euros or eurocents)

Legal name (designation) of the accounting entity

S K - N I C , a . s .

Registered office of the accounting entity

Street

NAMESTIE SNR
Number

1 4
Zip code Municipality

81106 BRATISLAVA
Designation of the Commercial Register and company registration number

OS Bratislava I o d d i e I S a , v I . c .

1 1 5 6 / B
Telephone Fax

0235035031 0235035039
Email

Prepared on: Approved on: Signature of the accounting entity's statutory body or 
a member of the accounting entity's statutory body or 
the signature of a25.02.2019 . 2 0 traderwhojs the accounting entity:

This form in any foreign language cannot be submitted to the Tax office and it is only for the purpose of helping.

L JMF SR c. 18009/2014/ENG Generovan6 PDF OMEGA www.kros.sk Page 1



UZPODv14_2Fr nDie 2020310754 ico 35698446Suvaha 
Uc POD 1 - 01

Current accounting period Preceding 
accounting period

Deslg-
nation

LinoASSETS No. Gross - part 1 Net 2b 1ca
Correction - part 2 Net 3

30505468 2 6 5 5 1 9 7 9TOTAL ASSETS 
line 02 +line 33 + 
line 74

01

3 9 5 3 4 8 9 4 8 4 7 6 5 2

26836788 22883299Non-current assets 
line 03 + line 11 + 
line 21

A. 02

3 9 5 3 4 8 9 19 9 16 5

26705223 2 2 8 2 6 9 7 1A.I. Non-current 
intangible assets 
total (lines 04 to

03

3878252 1 4 7 0 7 410)

1 7 3 8 1 5 1 1 4 6 0 7A.I.I. Capitalized 
development costs 
(012)-/072, 091 A/

04

5 9 2 0 8 1 4 5 8 6 3

3 3 6 5 02. Software
(013)-/073, 091 A/

05

3 3 6 5 0 12 11
Valuable rights 
(014)-/074, 091 A/

3. 06

26497758 2 2 7 1 2 3 6 44. Goodwill
(015)-/075, 091 A/

07

3 7 8 5 3 9 4
5. Other non-current 

intangible assets 
(019, 01X) - /079, 
07X, 091 A/

08

6. Acquisition of non- 
current intangible 
assets 
(041)-/093/

09

Advance payments 
made for non- 
current intangible 
assets
(051) - /095A/

7. 10

1 1 0 8 5 4 3 5 6 1 7A.II. Property, plant and
equipment
total (lines 12 to 20)

11

7 5 2 3 7 5 13 8 7
A.II.1. Land 12

(031) - /092A/

2. Structures 
(021) - /081,092A/

13

Individual movable 
assets and sets of 
movable assets 
(022) - /082, 092A/

1 1 0 8 5 4 3 5 6 1 73. 14

7 5 2 3 7 5 13 8 7

J— MF SR c. 18009/2014/ENG Page 2



UZPODv14_3r nme 2020310754 ico 35698446Siivaha 
Uc POD 1 - 01

Current accounting period Preceding 
accounting period

Deslg-
nation

LineASSETS No. Gross - part 1 Net 21b ca
Net 3Correction - part 2

Perennial crops 
(025) - /085, 092A/

154,

5. Livestock
(026) - /086, 092A/

16

Olher property, plant 
and equipment 
(029, 02X, 032) - 
/089, 08X, 092A/

176.

7. Acquisition of 
property, plant and 
equipment 
(042)-/094/

18

198. Advance payments 
made for property, 
plant and equipment 
(052) - /095A/

9. Value adjustment to 
acquired assets 
(+/- 097) +/- 098

20

2 0 7 1 1 2 0 7 1 1A.lli. Non-current 
financial assets 
total (lines 22 to

21

7 0 432)

Shares and 
ownership interests 
in affiliated 
accounting entities 
(061 A, 062A, 063A) - 
/096A/

A.III.1. 22

Shares and owner
ship interests with 
participating interest, 
except for affiliated 
accounting entities 
(062A) - /096A/

2. 23

3. Other available-for- 
sale securities and 
ownership interests 
(063A) - /096A/

24

4. Loans to affiliated 
accounting entities 
(066A) - /096A/

25

Loans within 
participating interest, 
except for affiliated 
accounting entities 
(066A) - /096A/

5. 26

6. Other loans 
(067A) - /096A/

27

Debt securities and 
other non-current 
financial assets 
(065A, 069A.06XA) - 
/096A/

7. 28

MF SR c. 18009/2014/ENG Page 3



UZPODv14_4r ndic 2020310754 ico 35698446Suvaha 
Uc POD 1 - 01

Currant accounting period Preceding 
accounting period

Doslg-
nation

LinoASSETS No,
Gross - pari 1 Net 2b 1ca

Correction - part 2 Net 3
Loans and other non- 
current financial 
assets with remaining 
maturity of up to one 
year (066A, 067A, 
069A, 06XA) - /096A/

8. 29

2 0 7 1 1 2 0 7 1 1Bank accounts with9. 30
notice period 
exceeding one year

7 0 4(22XA)

10. Acquisition of non- 
current financial 
assets
(043) - /096Ay

31

Advance payments 
made for non- 
current financial 
assets
(053) - /095A/

11. 32

3 5 0 8 6 2 7 3 5 0 8 6 2 7B. Current assets 
line 34 + line 41 + 
line 53 + line 66 * 
line 71

33

4 6 4 7 9 3 6
B.l. Inventory 

total (lines 35 to
34

40)

B.l.1. Raw material 
(112,119,11X) 
- /191, 19X/

35

Work in progress 
and semi-finished 
products 
(121,122,12X)- 
/192, 193, 19X/

2. 36

3. Finished goods 
(123)-/194/

37

Animals 
(124)-/195/

4. 38

5. Merchandise 
(132,133, 13X, 139) 
-/196, 19X/

39

6. Advance payments 
made for 
inventory 
(314A) - /391Af

40

2 3 7 1 7 2 3 7 1 7B.ll. Non-current 
receivables 
total (line 42 + lines 
46 to 52)

41

5 6 12 7
B.II.1. Trade receivables 

total (lines 43 to
42

45)

MFSRc. 18009/2014/ENG Page 4 —i



UZPODv14_5r ndic 2020310754 ico 35698446Suvaha 
0c POD 1 - 01

Current accounting period Preceding 
accounting period

Doslg-
nation

LineASSETS No. Gross - part 1 Net 2b 1ca
Correction - part 2 Net 3

Trade receivables 
from affiliated 
accounting entities 
(311A, 312A, 313A, 
314A. 315A, 31XA) - 
/391A/

l.a. 43

Trade receivables within 
participating interest, 
except for receivables 
from affiliated accounting 
entities
(311 A, 312A, 313A, 314A, 
315A, 31XA)-/391A/

l.b. 44

Other trade
receivables
(311 A, 312A, 313A,
314A, 315A, 31XA) -
/391A/

l.c. 45

2. Net value of contract 
(316A)

46

3. Other receivables 
from affiliated 
accounting entities 
(351 A) - /391A/

47

Other receivables 
within participating 
interest, except for 
receivables from 
affiliated accounting 
entities (351A) - /391A/

4. 48

Receivables from 
participants, members 
and association 
(354A, 355A, 358A, 
35XA) - /391A/

5. 49

6. Receivables related 
to derivative 
transactions 
(373A, 376A)

50

7. Other receivables 
(335A, 336A, 33XA, 
371A, 374A, 375A, 
378A) -/391A/

51

2 3 7 1 7 2 3 7 1 78. Deferred tax asset 
(481 A)

52

5 6 12 7
7 7 6 3 6 3b.iii. Current 

receivables 
total (line 54 + lines 
58 to 65)

7 7 6 3 6 353

3 8 1 1 4 3 8

4 0 2 5 4 0B.III.1. Trade receivables 
total (lines 55 to 4 0 2 5 4 054

57)

2 1 2 5 3 2
Trade receivables 
from affiliated 
accounting entities 
(311A, 312A.313A, 
314A, 315A, 31XA) - 
/391A/

l.a. 55

Trade receivables within 
participating interest, 
except for receivables 
from affiliated accounting
entities
(311A. 312A, 313A, 314A, 
315A, 31XA)-/391A/

l.b. 56

MF SR c. 18009/2014/ENG Page 5



UZPODv14_6 nr dic 2020310754 ico 35698446Suvaha 
Uc POD 1 - 01

Current accounting period Preceding 
accounting period

LineDeslg-
nation ASSETS No. Gross - part 1 Net 21b ca

Net 3Correction - part 2
Other trade 
receivables 
(311A, 312A, 313A. 
314A, 315A, 31XA) - 
/391A/

4 0 2 5 4 04 0 2 5 4 057l.c.

2 1 2 5 3 2

Net value of contract 
(316A)

582,

3. Other receivables 
from affiliated 
accounting entities 
(351A) - /391A/

59

3413435
Other receivables 
within participating 
interest, except for 
receivables from 
affiliated accounting 
entities (351A) -/391Af

4. 60

Receivables from 
participants, members 
and association 
(354A, 355A, 358A, 
35XA, 398A)-/391A/

5. 61

Social security 
(336A)-/391A/

6. 62

1 7 3 7 2 3 1 7 3 7 2 3637 Tax assets and 
subsidies
(341,342, 343,345, 
346, 347) -/391A/ 1 8 5 2 9 0

8. Receivables related 
to derivative 
transactions 
(373A, 376A)

64

2 0 0 1 0 0 2 0 0 1 0 0Other receivables 
(335A, 33XA, 371 A, 
374A,375A,378A) 
-/391A7

659.

1 8 1

- 2 5 0 0 0 - 2 5 0 0 0B.IV. Current financial 
assets
total (lines 67 to

66

70)

Current financial 
assets in affiliated 
accounting entities 
(251A, 253A, 256A, 
257A, 25XA)-/291A, 
29XA/

B.IV.1. 67

Current financial assets, 
not including current 
financial assets in 
affiliated accounting 
entities (251A.253A, 
256A, 257A, 25XA) - 
/291A, 29XA/________

2. 68

-25000 - 2 5 0 0 03. Own shares and 
own ownership 
interests 
(252)

69

4, Acquisition of 
current financial 
assets
(259, 314A) - /291A/

70
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UZPODv14_7 nr Die 2020310754 ico 35698446Suvaha 
Uc POD 1 - 01

Current accounting period Preceding 
accounting period

LinoDesig
nation ASSETS No. Net 2Gross - part 1b 1ca

Net 3Correction - part 2

2 7 3 3 5 4 7 2 7 3 3 5 4 7Financial accounts 
line 72 + line 73

71B.V.

7 8 0 3 7 1

5 1 25 1 2B.V.I. Cash
(211,213, 21X)

72

7 6 3

2 7 3 3 0 3 52 7 3 3 0 3 5Bank accounts 
(221A, 22X,+/-261)

732.

7 7 9 6 0 8
1 6 0 0 5 3 1 6 0 0 5 3Accruals/deferrals 

total (lines 75 to
74C.

78)
5 5 1

C.1. Prepaid expenses -
long-term
(381 A, 382A)

75

1 6 0 0 5 3 1 6 0 0 5 3Prepaid expenses -
short-term
(381 A, 382A)

762.

3 1 0

3. Accrued income -
long-term
(385A)

77

Accrued income -
short-term
(385A)

784.

2 4 1
LinoDesig

nation EQUITY AND LIABILITIES Current accounting period Preceding accounting periodNo.
4 5cba

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 
line 80 + line 101 + line 141 2 6 5 5 1 9 7 9 4 8 4 7 6 5 279

Equity line 81 + line 85 + line 86 + line 87 
+ line 90 + line 93 + line 97 + line 100 8 3 5 6 0 7 8 1 6 9 3 3 5 3A. 80

2 5 0 0 0 1 3 7 5 2 8 0A.I. Share capital total (lines 82 to 84) 81

2 5 0 0 0 1 3 7 5 2 8 0A.I.I. Share capital (411 alebo +/- 491) 82

2. Change in share capital +/- 419 83

Unpaid share capital 
(/-/353)3. 84

A.II. Share premium (412) 85

1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0A.I II. Other capital funds (413) 86

2 7 5 0 5 6 2 7 5 0 5 6A.IV. Legal reserve funds line 88 + line 89 87

Legal reserve fund and non-distributable 
fund (417A, 418, 421A, 422) 2 7 5 0 5 6 2 7 5 0 5 6A.IV.1. 88

Reserve fund for own shares and own 
ownership interests (417A, 421A)2. 89
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UZPODv14_8r nDie 2020310754 ico 35698446Suvaha 
Uc POD 1 - 01

Desig
nation

LinoEQUITY AND LIABILITIES Current accounting period Preceding accounting periodNo.
b c 4 5a

Other funds created from profit 
line 91 + line 92A.V. 90

A.V.1. Statutory funds (423, 42X) 91

Other funds (427, 42X)2. 92

Differences from revaluation 
total (lines 94 to 96)

A.VI. 93

Differences from revaluation of assets 
and liabilities (+/-414)A.VI.1 94

Investment revaluation reserves 
(+/- 415)

2. 95

Differences from revaluation in the event of 
a merger, amalgamation into a separate 
accounting entity or demerger (+/- 416)

3. 96

Net profit/loss of previous years 
line 98 + line 99 -5712A.VII. 97

Retained earnings from previous years 
(428) 4 3 0 1 7A.VII.1 98

Accumulated losses from previous years 
(/-/429) - 4 8 7 2 92. 99

Net profit/ioss for the accounting period 
after tax /+-/ line 01 - (I. 81 + I. 85 +1. 86 + 
I. 87 + I. 90 + I. 93 -H. 97 -H. 101 + 1.141)

- 1 9 3 8 2 6 6 4 3 0 1 7A.VIII. 100

Liabilities line 102 + line 118 + line 121 
+ line 122 + line 136 + line 139 + line 140 16 14 12 2 1 1322434B. 101

Non-current liabilities
total (line 103 + lines 107 to 117) 1 1 4 5 8 8 0 0 2 16 3B.l. 102

Non-current trade liabilities 
total (lines 104 to 106)

B.l.1. 103

Trade liabilities to affiliated accounting 
entities (321A, 475A, 476A)l.a. 104

Trade liabilities within participating interest, 
except for liabilities to affiliated accounting 
entities (321 A, 475A,476A)_______________

l.b. 105

Other trade liabilities 
(321 A, 475A, 476A)l.c. 106

2. Net value of contract (316A) 107

Other liabilities to affiliated accounting 
entities (471A, 47XA)

3. 108

Other liabilities within participating interest, 
except for liabilities to affiliated accounting 
entities (471A, 47XA)_____________ 1 0 8 9 3 3 8 74. 109

5 6 4 4 7 4Other non-current liabilities (479A, 47XA)5. 110

Long-term advance payments received 
(475A)6. Ill

Long-term bills of exchange to be paid 
(478A)

7. 112

8. Bonds issued (473A/-/255A) 113

9 3 99. Liabilities related to social fund (472) 2 16 3114

Other non-current liabilities 
(336A, 372A, 474A, 47XA)10. 115

Non-current liabilities related to derivative 
transactions (373A, 377A)

11. 116

12. Deferred tax liability (481 A) 117
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UZPODv14_9r ndig 2020310754 tco 35698446Suvaha 
Uc POD 1 - 01

LineDesig
nation EQUITY AND LIABILITIES Current accounting period Preceding accounting periodNo.

C 4 5ba

2190154B.ll. Long-term provisions line 119 + line 120 118

Legal provisions (451 A)B.II.1. 119

2 19 0 15 4Other provisions (459A, 45XA)2. 120

B.lll. Long-term bank loans (461 A, 46XA) 121

Current liabilities
total (line 123 + lines 127 to 135) 1 8 4 5 1 0 6 9 3 8 9 1 6B.IV. 122

Trade liabilities 
total (lines 124 to 126) 1 7 4 7 8 2 5 8 5 2 5 7 8B.IV.1. 123

Trade liabilities to affiliated accounting entities 
(321A, 322A, 324A, 325A, 326A, 32XA, 475A, 
476A, 478A, 47XA)______________________

7 5 0 0 0 0124l.a.

Trade liabilities within participating interest, 
except for liabilities to affiliated accounting 
entities (321A, 322A, 324A, 325A, 326A, 32XA, 
475A, 476A, 478A, 47XA) _______________

l.b. 125

Other trade liabilities
(321 A, 322A, 324A, 325A, 326A, 32XA,
475A,476A,478A, 47XA)___________

1 7 4 7 8 2 5 1 0 2 5 7 8l.c. 126

2. Net value of contract (316A) 127

Other liabilities to affiliated accounting 
entities (361A, 36XA, 471A, 47XA)3. 128

Other liabilities within participating interest, 
except for liabilities to affiliated accounting 
entities (361A, 36XA, 471A, 47XA)_______

4. 129

Liabilities to partners and association (364, 
365, 366, 367, 368, 398A, 478A. 479A)5. 130

Liabilities to employees 
(331,333, 33X, 479A) 2 8 7 5 0 16 5 196. 131

1 6 2 3 3 1 0 0 6 57. Liabilities related to social security (336A) 132

Tax liabilities and subsidies 
(341,342, 343, 345, 346, 347, 34X) 3 7 6 3 0 4 0 8 4 08. 133

Liabilities related to derivative transactions 
(373A, 377A)9. 134

Other liabilities
(372A, 379A, 474A, 475A, 479A, 47XA) 1 4 6 6 8 18 9 1410. 135

Short-term provisions 
line 137 +line 138 6 4 7 1 6 1 3 8 1 3 5 5B.V. 136

9 8 6 3 5 3 8 1 3 5 5B.V.I. Legal provisions (323A, 451 A) 137

5 4 8 5 2 62. Other provisions (323A, 32X, 459A, 45XA) 138

Current bank loans
(221 A, 231, 232, 23X, 461 A, 46XA)

B.VI. 139

Short-term financial assistance 
(241, 249, 24X, 473A, I-I255A)

B.VII. 140

Accruals/deferrals 
total (lines 142 to 145) 2 0 5 4 6 8 0 1 8 3 1 8 6 5c. 141

Accrued expenses - long-term 
(383A)C.1. 142

Accrued expenses - short-term 
(383A)2. 143

Deferred income - long-term 
(384A) 1 6 2 3 1 33. 6 5 5 6 8144

Deferred income - short-term 
(384A) 1 8 9 2 3 6 7 1 7 6 6 2 9 74. 145

L JMFSRc. 18009/2014/ENG Page 9



ii UZPODvUJO I-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
I [Vykaz ziskov a strat I D|c 20203 10754 ICO 35698446

ue POD 2-01________________________________________________________________
1

Actual data
LineDosig-

nation Text No. Current accounting period Preceding accounting period
1 2b ca

Net turnover (part of account class 6 
according to the Act) 3 6 8 6 3 5 93 4 6 8 6 7 501

Operating income 
total (lines 03 to 09) 3470972 375298502

Revenue from the sale of merchandise 
(604, 607)I. 03

Revenue from the sale of own products 
(601)

04

Revenue from the sale of services 
(602, 606) 3 4 6 8 6 7 5 3 6 8 6 3 5 9in. 05

Changes in internal inventory 
(+/-) (account group 61)

IV. 06

6 0 0 0 0V. Own work capitalized (account group 62) 07

Revenue from the sale of non-current 
intangible assets, property, plant and 
equipment, and raw materials (641, 642)

2 9 7 0VI. 08

Other operating income 
(644, 645, 646, 648, 655, 657) 2 2 9 7 3 6 5 6VII. 09

Operating expenses total line 11 + line 
12 + line 13 + line 14 + line 15 + line 20 + 
line 21 + line 24 + line 25 + line 26

4 9 4 2 5 6 2 3 8 8 5 1 4 6** 10

Cost of merchandise sold 
(504, 507)A. 11

Consumed raw materials, energy 
consumption, and consumption of other non- 
inventory supplies (501, 502, 503)_________

1 2 6 8 8 3 7 5 9B. 12

C. Value adjustments to inventory (+/-) (505) 13

6 0 2 7 0 0 3 6 2 5 0 0 8D. Services (account group 51) 14

4 7 7 7 4 9 2 2 5 3 7 0E. Personnel expenses total (lines 16 to 19) 15

3 5 8 4 4 2 16 19 4 2E.l. Wages and salaries (521,522) 16

Remuneration of board members of 
company or cooperative (523)2. 17

Social security expenses 
(524, 525, 526) 1 1 2 5 5 0 5 7 6 2 73. 18

6 7 5 7 5 8 0 14. Social expenses (527, 528) 19

2 6 7 6 4 9Taxes and fees (account group 53)F. 20

Amortization and value adjustments to non- 
current intangible assets and dep 
value adjustments to property, plant and 
equipment (line 22 + line 23)

reciation andG. 3 8 3 7 5 3 1 2 9 3 1 021

Amortization of non-current intangible 
assets and depreciation of property, plant 
and equipmenl (551)__________________ 3 8 3 7 5 3 1 2 9 3 1 0G.l. 22

Value adjustments to non-current 
intangible assets and property, plant and 
equipment (+/-) (553)________________

2. 23

Carrying value of non-current assets sold 
and raw materials sold (541, 542)

H. 9 6 924

Value adjustments to receivables (+/-)I. 25(547)

Other operating expenses
(543, 544, 545, 546, 548, 549, 555, 557) 116 2 7j. 8 126

Profit/loss from operations (+/-) 
(line 02-line 10) - 1 4 7 1 5 9 0 -13 2 16 127
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p—— UZP0Dv14_11-----------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
I IVykaz ziskov a stråtl DIC 20203 10754 ICO 35698446

I Uc POP 2 - 01_______________________________________________________
“I

Actual data
Desig-
nation

LineText No. Current accounting period Preceding accounting period

1 2b ca
Added value (line 03 + line 04 + line 05 
+ line 06 + line 07 ) - (line 11 + line 12 + 
line 13 * line 14) ______________

2 8 5 3 2 8 7 1 1 7 5 9 228

Income from financial activities - total 
line 30 + line 31 ♦ line 35 + line 39 + line 
42 + line 43 + line 44 ________________

2 9 7 0 1 2** 29

Revenue from the sale of securities and 
shares (661)

VIII. 30

Income from non-current financial assets 
total (lines 32 to 34)IX. 31

Income from securities and ownership 
interests in affiliated accounting entities 
(665A)____________________________

IX. 1. 32

Income from securities and ownership 
interests within participating interest, except for 
income of affiliated accounting entities (665A)

2. 33

Other income from securities and 
ownership interests (665A)3. 34

Income from current financial assets 
total (lines 36 to 38)

X. 35

Income from current financial assets in 
affiliated accounting entities (666A)X.l. 36

Income from current financial assets within 
participating interest, except for income of 
affiliated accounting entities (666A)

2. 37

Other income from current financial assets 
(666A)3. 38

1 5 7 6 9 7Interest income (line 40 + line 41)XI, 39

Interest income from affiliated accounting 
entities (662A)XI.1. 40

1 5 7 6 9 7Other interest income (662A)2. 41

XII. Exchange rate gains (663) 42

Gains on revaluation of securities and income 
from derivative transactions (664, 667)XIII. 43

1 3 9 3 1 5XIV. Other income from financial activities (668) 44

Expenses related to financial activities - 
total line 46 + line 47 + line 48 + line 49 
+ line 52 + line 53 + line 54

4 3 4 2 6 6 1 4 4 6 645

K. Securities and shares sold (561) 46

Expenses related to current financial 
assets (566)

L. 47

Value adjustments to financial assets 
(+/-) (565)

M. 48

19 15 8N. Interest expense (line 50 + line 51) 49

Interest expenses related to affiliated 
accounting entities (562A)

N.l. 50

19 15 82. Other interest expenses (562A) 51

1O. Exchange rate losses (563) 52

Loss on revaluation of securities and 
expenses related to derivative transactions 
(564, 567)

P. 53

Other expenses related to financial 
activities (568,569) 4 15 10 8Q. 1 4 4 6 554
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p—— UZPODv14_12 [-------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------
(Vykaz ziskov a strat I QIC 2020310754 ICO 35698446

Uc POD 2-01 II______________ ___________________________________________________
“I

Actual data
Desig-
nation

LineText No. Current accounting period Preceding accounting period
1 2ba c

Profit/loss from financial activities 
(+/-) (line 29 - line 45) - 4 3 4 2 6 6 2 8 2 5 4 655

Profit/loss for the accounting period 
before tax (+/-) (line 27 + line 55) - 1 9 0 5 8 5 6 15038556

3 2 4 1 0 1 0 7 3 6 8Income tax (line 58 + line 59)R. 57

162156R.l. Income tax - current (591, 595) 58

3 2 4 1 0 -547882. Income tax - deferred (+/-) (592) 59

Transfer of nel profit/net loss shares to 
partners (+/- 596)S. 60

Profit/loss for the accounting period 
after tax (+/-)
(line 56 - line 57 - line 60)_________

- 1 9 3 8 2 6 6 4 3 0 1 761
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Notes to the financial statements 
Prepared as of December 31, 2018 

A. GENERAL 
 

1. Name and seat 
 

SK-NIC, a.s. 
Borská 6 (till:30.9.2018) 
Námestie SNP 14 (from:1.10.2018) 
841 04 Bratislava  

 
The company was established by foundation deed on 27. August 1996 and incorporated in the Commercial Register on 17. 
September 1996 (Commercial Register of the District Court Bratislava I. in Bratislava, Section Sa, Insert No.:1156/B). 
 

2. Core business activities of the Company according to Commercial Register:  
 

- internet domain registration, management and operation,  
- purchase and sale of goods under a free trade license, 
- agency activities, 
- leasing and financing, 
- renting of machinery and equipment, 
- consultancy in the field of data processing and software provision, 
- automated data processing, 
- provision of software - sale of finished programs under contract with the author 

 
3. Average headcount  

 
The Company had in the year 2018 the average of 10 employees (2017: 9). 
 
 

4. Legal reason for preparing the financial statements 
 The financial statements of the Company at 31 December 2018 have been prepared as ordinary financial statements in 

accordance with § 17 Sec. 6 of Act No. 431/2002 Coll. on Accounting as amended („Accounting Act“) for the accounting 
period from 1 January 2018 to  31. December 2018. 

 
5. Date of approval of the financial statements for the previous accounting period  

 The General Meeting did not approve the Company’s financial statements for the previous accounting period. 
 

6. The consolidated group  
 
The Company is included in the consolidated financial statements of CENTRALNIC GROUP PLC., Moorgate 35 – 39, 
London EC2R 6AR, UK, These consolidated financial statements are available directly in the registered office of the above 
stated company. A new shareholder of The Company SK-NIC, a.s. is CentralNic Group Plc. from 01. December 2018. 
 

7. Merger 
 
By Sole Shareholder´s resolution on 15 November 2018 resolved to merge companies SK-NIC, a.s. a SK-NIC Slovakia, a.s.  
By merger agreement dated to November 15, 2018 (effective date from January 01, 2018) legal successor of SK-NIC 
Slovakia, a.s. is determined SK-NIC, a.s. 
 

B. THE COMPANY’S BODIES  
 
Board of Directors : Ben Crawford – CEO  
   Peter Bíro – member  

Donald Ahelan Baladasan - member 
Supervisory Board: Stuart Fuller – member  

Gavin Brown – member 
Raedene McGary – member  
 

In 2018, no loans, guarantees or other forms of collateral, or funds or other transactions for the private purposes of the 
members that were accounted for were granted to members of the statutory body or members of the supervisory bodies (2017: 
none). 
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C. SHAREHOLDERS STRUCTURE OF THE COMPANY 
 
Shareholders Structure of the Company as of Dec 31, 2018: 
 

Voting rights
EUR % %

CentralNic, Ltd. 25 000 100 100
Total 25 000 100 100

Share in the share capital 

 
 

D. ACCOUNTING METHODS AND GENERAL ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES 
a) Basic principles for preparation of the financial statements 

 
The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with the Slovak Accounting Act and related 
accounting procedures, on a going concern basis.  
 
The Company keeps its books on the accrual basis of accounting which means that all revenues and costs are recognized 
when generated or incurred (and not when cash is received or paid), and they are recorded in the books and reported in the 
financial statements of the periods to which they relate. 
 

All monetary amounts in the financial statements are stated in whole Euros, unless stated otherwise. 
 
The Company consistently applied the accounting methods and the general accounting principles. 
 
 

b) Non-current intangible and tangible assets 
 
Acquired non-current assets are stated at cost, which includes the acquisition price and the related acquisition costs (such as 
customs duty, transport, assembly, and insurance). 
The depreciation plan for non-current intangible assets has been prepared on the basis of their expected economic useful lives 
relating to the recovery of future economic benefits from these assets. Depreciation begins as of the first day of the month 
following the month in which the asset was first put into use. Non-current intangible assets with an acquisition cost (or their 
own cost) not exceeding EUR 2,400 are expensed immediately when put into use. 
The value of the non-current tangible assets in use is reduced by a valuation allowance in the amount corresponding to 
depreciation. Non-current tangible assets are depreciated by depreciation schedule, which was created on the estimated period 
of use corresponding to future economic benefits from assets. 
The depreciation plan of non-current tangible assets has been prepared on the basis of their expected economic useful lives 
relating to the recovery of future economic benefits from these assets. Depreciation begins as of the first day of the month 
following that in which the asset was first put into use. Non-current tangible assets with an acquisition cost (or their own cost) 
not exceeding EUR 1,700 are not recorded on the balance sheet and are expensed immediately when put into use (or state 
another limit when the asset is fully written off). 
 
Expected economic useful life, the method of depreciation and depreciation rate are in following table: 
 

 

Expected economic 
useful life 

Method of 
depreciation 

Annual 
depreciati
on rate in 

% 
Goodwill 7 Evenly 14,286 
Software 4-5 Evenly 20- 25 
    
Separate movable property    
Machinery, equipment and devices 4 Evenly 25 
Low value assets various immediate        100 

 
In the case of a temporary decrease in value-in-use of a non-current asset that is significantly lower than its carrying amount 
(after deducting the accumulated depreciation), a valuation allowance Is set up to reflect the asset’s lower value-in-use. 
 

c) Inventories 
 
Acquired inventories are stated at cost, which includes the acquisition price the related acquisition costs (duty, shipping, 
insurance, commissions, etc..) less discounts. Granted price discount of sold or used inventories is recognized as cost reduction 
of sold or used inventories. The Company used method A for the accounting treatment of inventories. For stock withdrawal, 
the method of standard prices is used. 
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The inventory developed by the Company’s owns activity is valued at their own cost. Own costs include direct costs (direct 
material, direct wages and other direct costs) and a part of indirect costs directly related to inventories developed by the 
Company (factory overhead expenses). Factory overhead expenses are included in the production cost depending on the 
extend to which these inventories are finished. 
If the acquisition cost or production cost of inventories is higher than their net realizable value at the balance sheet date, a 
valuation allowance for inventories equal is set in the amount of the difference between the carrying value and net realizable 
value. The net realizable value represents the estimated selling price in ordinary sale decreased by the estimated costs for 
completion and estimated costs necessary to make the sale. 
 

d) Receivables 
 
When initially recognized, receivables are stated at their nominal value. A valuation allowance is set up for bad and doubtful 
debts, for which a default risk exists. 
If the remaining period to maturity of a receivable is longer than one year, a valuation allowance representing the difference 
between its nominal and present value is set up. The present value of a receivable is calculated as the sum of future discounted 
cash receipts. 
 

e) Financial accounts 
 
Financial account consists of cash, bank account balances and current financial assets, while the risk of change in the value 
of these assets is negligibly low. 
 
 

f) Prepayed expences and income of the future period 
 
Prepaid expenses and accrued income are recognized at the amount reflecting the accrual principle (matching income and 
expense within the same accounting period). 
 

g) Valuation allowances 

Valuation allowances are recorded based on the accounting principle of prudence, if one can justifiably assume that the value 
of an asset has been impaired when compared to its value in the books. A valuation allowance is recognized in the amount of 
a justified assumption for an impairment of an asset when compared to its value in the books. 

 
h) Provisions 

 
Provisions are liabilities representing the existing obligation of the Company, resulting from the past events, and it is probable, 
it will decrease in future economic benefits. Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing or amount and are stated at the 
expected amount of the existing liability at the balance-sheet date. 
The set-up of a provision is posted to the respective expense account or asset account to which the liability relates. The use 
of a provision is debited to the respective provision account, with a corresponding credit to the respective liability account. 
The release of an unnecessary provision, or a part of it, is accounted for using an accounting entry inverse to the recognition 
of the set-up of the provision. 
Provision for bonuses, rebates, discounts and acquisition cost refunding in case of a claim including the provision are created 
as a reduction in originally achieved revenue with a corresponding entry for the benefit of the reserve account.  
The Company created provisions for unused vacation and provisions concerning other operating expenses. 
 

i) Liabilities 
 
When initially recognized, liabilities are stated at their nominal value. If reconciliation procedures reveal that the actual 
amount of liabilities differs from the amount shown in the books, these liabilities will be shown in the books and the financial 
statements at this actual amount. 
  

j) Employee benefits 
 
Wages, salaries, contributions to Slovak pension and insurance plans, paid annual leave and sick leave, bonuses are expensed 
in the period in which the employees of the Company are entitled to qualify.  
 

k) Current income tax  
 
The corporate income tax is expensed in the period when the tax liability arises. In the accompanying income statement, tax 
expense is calculated on the basis of the profit/(loss) before taxes that has been adjusted for tax-deductible and tax non-
deductible items due to permanent and temporary adjustments to the tax base and any tax losses carried forward. The tax 
liability is stated net of corporate income tax advances that the Company paid during the year. If corporate income tax 
advances paid during the year exceed the tax liability for the period, the Company records an income tax receivable. 
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l) Deferred income tax 
 
Deferred income tax arises from: 

a) temporary differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities shown in the balance sheet and their tax base; 
b) the possibility to carry forward a tax loss to future periods, which means the possibility to deduct the tax loss from the tax 

base in the future; and 
c) the possibility to transfer unused tax deductions and other tax claims to future periods. 

 
Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the 
temporary differences can be utilized. 
To determine deferred income tax, tax rates expected to apply at the date on which the deferred tax is settled are used. 
 

m) State subsidies  
  
Eligibility to receive state subsidy, support or contribution is recognized when it is virtually certain that, based on meeting 
the conditions for the state subsidy, support or contribution, it will be granted. 
The state subsidies are recognized as the company’s liability at the date of receipt. Subsidies for operating activities are 
accounted for as other revenues from operating activities, provided the subsidy was granted to cover the operating costs, to 
match with the recognition of costs incurred for the intended purpose.  
Subsidies for non-current assets are credited for the benefit revenues of deferred income and are subsequently recognized as 
other income from operating activities in time and material connection of depreciation charge on the acquired non-current 
assets. 
  

n) Deferred revenues and accrued expenses 
 
Deferred revenues and accrued expenses are stated at their nominal value, while presented at the amount reflecting the accrual 
principle (matching income and expenses within the same accounting period). 
 

o) Lease (the Company is the tenant) 
 
Operating lease. Lease costs of assets under operating lease contracts are expensed as incurred over the period of the lease. 
 

p) Foreign currency 
 
Assets and liabilities in foreign currency (with the exception of prepayments received and granted) are converted to Euros 
using the reference exchange rate set and published by the European Central Bank or the National Bank of Slovakia on the 
day preceding the day of the accounting event, or on the balance-sheet date. The resulting foreign exchange differences are 
recorded to the income statement. 
  

q) Revenue recognition 
 
Revenues from the sale of goods are recognized upon transferring risks and rewards of ownership of the goods, usually when 
the goods are delivered. If the Company agrees to transport goods to a specific location, revenue is recognized when the goods 
are passed to the customer at the destination point. 
 
Revenues from the sale of services are recognized in the accounting period in which the services are rendered, taking into 
account the extent to which the given transaction is completed. This extent is assessed based on the actual services provided 
as a proportion of the total services agreed. 
 
Sales revenues are shown net of VAT, discounts and deductions (such as rebates, bonuses and credit notes). Interest income 
is recognized straight line over the accounting periods using the accrual basis. Dividend income is recognized when the right 
of the Company to receive the payment is established. 
 
The Company’s revenues include mainly revenues from the sale of domains. 

 
r) Comparatives 

 
If, as a result of changes in accounting methods and accounting policies, the figures for the previous accounting 
period are not comparable between the individual components of the financial statements, an explanation of the 
incomparable values is provided in the notes.  
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ASSETS  
 

Own shares 
 
The Company's share capital of EUR 25,000 consists of: 

• 10 ordinary shares with a nominal value of EUR 2,500 each, which are registered and book-entry securities (as at 31 December 
2018: 1,000 ordinary shares with a nominal value of EUR 34 and 4040 ordinary shares with a nominal value of EUR 322) 
 

• All shares were duly paid up. 
 

E. EXPANSES 
 
1. The cost of services provided by the auditor and the costs of a particular size or appearance 
 
Summary of cost of services provided by the auditor, and costs of particular size or incidence: 

 
 
Item 2018 2017

Cost of the services
From an Auditor or audit firm of which: 9 564 12 200

Audit of the financial statements 8 300 8 400
Other assurance services 0 0
Related audit services 0 0
Tax consultancy 1 264 3 800
Other non-audit services 0 0

Costs of exceptional occurrence or extent 0 0
Damage from natural disasters to property 0 0  

 
 

F. POST-BALANCE SHEET DAY EVENTS 
 
After December 31, 2018 no significant events have occurred that would require recognition or disclosure in the 2018 
financial statements.  
 



Cash-flow statement SK-NIC, a.s.
Current accounting period and previous accounting period 

Item 2018 2017

Net result before tax -1 905 855 150 385
Adjustments for non-cash transactions:
Depreciation of non-current assets 3 837 531 29 310
Inventories write-off
Receivables write-off
Change in provision for non-current assets
Change in provision for receivables
Change in provision for inventories
Change in provisions 2 455 960 593 556
Net Interest expense 19 158 -157 697
Loss / (gain) from the sale of non-current assets -2 001
Yields from long-term financial assets
Other items

Profit from operating activities before changes in working capital 4 406 794 613 553

Changes in working capital:
Decrease (increase) of trade and other receivables and prepayments -543 091 -137 493
Decrease (increase) of inventories 13
(Decrease) increase of payables and accruals 1 686 083 643 984
Other 2 901

Operating cash flows 5 549 786 1 122 958

Item 2018 2017

Cash flows from operating activities
Operating cash flows 5 549 786 1 122 958
Interest paid -19 158
Interest received 157 697
Corporate income tax paid 11 567 -37 229
Dividends paid -48 728 -2 397 804
Receipts from extraordinary items
Other items not included in operating activities

Net cash from operating activities 5 493 467 -1 154 378

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of non-current assets -26 501 660 -97 043
Receipts from the sale of non-current assets 2 970
Acquisition of financial investments 24 834
Long term loans granted 3 413 435 2 298 562
Dividends received

Net cash from investing activities -23 063 391 2 204 489

Cash flows from financing activities
Receipts from the increase of share capital and other capital reserves 8 649 720 -564 662
Receipts / repayments of bank loans
Receipts / repayments of borrowings from Group companies 10 893 387
Repayments of long-term liabilities

Net cash from financing activities 19 543 107 -564 662

Foreign exchange differences of cash and cash equivalents

Increase (decrease) of cash and cash equivalents 1 973 183 485 449

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the accounting period 781 076 295 627

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the accounting period 2 754 259 781 076
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BALANCE SHEET for the year ending 31 December 2018 2 

CentralNic Germany GmbH, St. Ingbert 

ASSETS 

31.12.2018 13.04.2018 

EUR EUR 

 
A. Fixed assets 

 
I. Financial assets 

 
Shares in associated 

companies 49,769,079.73 0.00 

 
B. Current assets 

 
I. Receivables and other 

assets 
 

Requested but not paid-in capital 

0.00 25,000.00 
 

II. Cash in hand, cash at banks 

and cheques 

 
 

C. Remaining amount not 

 

 
469,718.78 0.00 

469,718.78 25,000.00 

covered by capital resources 372,411.59 0.00 
 

 

50,611,210.10 25,000.00 
 



BALANCE SHEET for the year ending 31 December 2018 3 

CentralNic Germany GmbH, St. Ingbert 

LIABILITIES 

31.12.2018 13.04.2018 

EUR EUR EUR 

 
A. Equity shareholders' funds 

 
I. Subscribed capital 25,000.00 25,000.00 

II. Net loss for the year 397,411.59- 0.00 

Remaining amount not covered by capital 

resources 

372,411.59 0.00 

 
Equity shareholders' funds 

 
0.00 

 
25,000.00 

B. Provisions 
  

Other provisions 6,193,587.77 0.00 

 
C. Payables 

 
Payables to 

affiliated companies 44,417,622.33 0.00 
 
 
 

 

50,611,210.10 25,000.00 
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Income statement for the period from 13.04. to 31.12.2018 

CentralNic Germany GmbH, St. Ingbert 

 
 

13.04.2018 to 

31.12.2018 

EUR EUR 

 
 

1. Other operating 

income  424,254.26 

 
 

2. Other operating 

expenses  
103,343.81 

3. Interest and similar 

expenses 

 
718,322.04 

4. Earnings after tax 397,411.59- 

 
5. Net loss for the year 

 
397,411.59- 
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Notes to the financial statements for the short fiscal year 2018 
 

CentralNic Germany GmbH, 66386 St. Ingbert 
 

 
 

 

Notes to the annual financial statements 

General information on the annual financial statements 

The annual financial statements for CentralNic Germany GmbH were prepared in accordance with the 

accounting principles of the German Commercial Code. 

 

In addition to these principles, the provisions set down in the German Limited Liability Companies Act were 

also to be applied. The total cost method was selected for the income statement. 

 

According to the thresholds for determining the size of a company set down in § 267 HGB [German Commercial 
Code], the company is a small corporation. 

 
Data maintained by Registration Court to identify the company 

 
Company name registered at court: CentralNic Germany GmbH 

Company seat registered at court: St. Ingbert 

Registration entry: Commercial Register 

 
Registration Court Bonn 

 
Register No.: HRB 23747 
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Notes to the financial statements for the short fiscal year 2018 
 

CentralNic Germany GmbH, 66386 St. Ingbert 
 

 

Information on accounting and valuation methods 

Accounting and valuation principles 
 

The financial assets were recognised at acquisition cost. 

 
Receivables and cash and cash equivalents are recognised at their nominal value. Identifiable individual risks 

have been taken into account by individual value adjustments. 

 
Equity is included in the balance sheet at par value. 

 
Reserves are recorded at the settlement amount dictated by prudent business judgment and, if applicable, in 

consideration of expected future price and cost changes. 

 
Payables are recorded at the settlement amount. 

 
Assumption of the continuation of business activities 

The company had negative net assets on the balance sheet as at the balance sheet date. The remaining 

amount not covered by capital resources amounts to EUR 372 k. For 2019, management expects a net 

income for the year of around € 1 million. Net income in this amount is also expected in the years to come. 

The existing substantial payables and other provisions at the balance sheet date are not due before 31 

December 2020 or are refinanced by guaranteed loans. Therefore, the annual financial statements were 

prepared under the assumption of a going concern. 

 
 

Principles for translation of foreign currency items into Euros 
 

The annual financial statements contain items in foreign currency, which have been translated into Euros. 

The foreign currency items are translated using the officially published average exchange rates of the 

respective months during the year. As at the balance sheet date, the receivables, cash and cash equivalents 

and payables are valued using the applicable average spot exchange rate. 
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Notes to the financial statements for the short fiscal year 2018 
 

CentralNic Germany GmbH, 66386 St. Ingbert 
 

 

Information and explanatory notes on individual items of the balance sheet and 
income statement 

 
 

The development of the assets for each item on the balance sheet is shown in the asset schedule. 

 
The payables to affiliated companies have a remaining term to maturity of up to one year. 

 
The payables to affiliated companies of EUR 43,700 k as at the balance sheet date result from loan 

commitments and EUR 718 k result from an interest obligation concerning the granted loans. 

 
The interest expenses relate to EUR 718 k of expenses to affiliated companies. 

 
 

Currency translation 
 

Of the other operating income, EUR 424 k and other operating expenses EUR 89 k are translated from foreign 

currencies. 

 

 
Proposal for the appropriation of profit 

 

Management, in agreement with the shareholders, suggests the following appropriation of profit: 

 

The net loss for the year amounts to EUR -397,411.59. This will be carried forward to new account. 

 
 

Other required disclosures 
 
 

During the past fiscal year, the company was managed by Mr. Benjamin Crawford, Mr. Michael Riedl and Mr. 

Thomas Rickert (13 April 2018 to 8 May 2019). Since 8 May 2019, Mr Alexander Siffrin is also appointed 

Managing Director. 
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Notes to the financial statements for the short fiscal year 2018 
 

CentralNic Germany GmbH, 66386 St. Ingbert 
 

 

Information on contingent liabilities and other financial obligations 
 

There are no other significant financial obligations at the balance sheet date. 

 
 

Within the scope of loan financing of the group parent company CentralNic PLC, London, England, (affiliated 

company), the company pledged assets to a credit institution with the agreement of 1 October 2018. The 

assets pledged relate primarily to all present and future patents, trademark rights, utility models, designs, 

licenses, domains and exploitation rights. 

 
Information in accordance with § 42 Subsection 3 GmbHG [German Limited Liability 
Companies Act] 

 

The shareholders are subject to the following rights and obligations:  

Items  Amount 

Receivables  0.00 Euros 

Payables 0.00 Euros 
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CentralNic Germany GmbH, 66386 St. Ingbert 

 

 

Group affiliation 

 

CentralNic Germany GmbH is included in the consolidated financial statements of CentralNic Group 

PLC, London, United Kingdom (Companies House 0857 6358). CentralNic Group PLC is the only group 

company that prepares consolidated financial statements. The consolidated financial statements are 

prepared in accordance with IFRS. 

 

CentralNic Germany GmbH is exempted from the obligation to prepare consolidated financial statements 

in accordance with Section 291 of the German Commercial Code (HGB). 

 
 
 

 
St. Ingbert, 14 August 2019 

 
 

[Signature] 

Benjamin Crawford 
[Signature] 

Michael Riedl 

Managing Director 

 
 
 

[Signature] 

Alexander Siffrin 

Managing Director 



10 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Asset schedule 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

M4PDFUtilitiesV1.00 



 
 
 
 

Asset schedule as at 31.12.2018 

CentralNic Germany GmbH, St. Ingbert 

 

 
Acquisition costs  Depreciation  Book values  Book values 

 
 Opening 

balance 
Additions Disposals Closing 

balance 
Opening 
balance 

Additions Disposals Closing 
balance 

Updated: Updated: 

13.04.2018   31.12.2018 13.04.2018   31.12.2018 31.12.2018 13.04.2018 

EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR 

I. Financial assets           

Shares in associated 

companies 

 
0.00 

 
49,769,079.73 

 
0.00 

 
49,769,079.73 

 
0.00 

 
0.00 

 
0.00 

 
0.00 

 
49,769,079.73 

 
0.00 

 
0.00 49,769,079.73 0.00 49,769,079.73 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 49,769,079.73 0.00 

           

1
1
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AUDIT CERTIFICATE ISSUED BY INDEPENDENT AUDITOR OF ANNUAL FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS 

 
To CentralNic Germany GmbH, St. Ingbert 

 
Audit opinion 

 
We have audited the annual financial statements of CentralNic Germany GmbH St. Ingbert, 

comprising the balance sheet as at 31 December 2018, the income statement for the short fiscal 

year from 13 April to 31 December 2018, and the notes to the financial statements, together with a 

presentation of the accounting policies. 

In our opinion, based on the findings of our audit, 

 
• the attached annual financial statements have been prepared in all material respects in 

accordance with German commercial law and give a true and fair view in compliance with the 

German principles of proper accounting of the assets and financial position of the company 

for the year ending 31 December 2018, as well as the profit situation for the fiscal year from 

13 April to 31 December 2018. 

 
Pursuant to § 322 Subsection 3 Sentence 1 HGB [German Commercial Code], we declare that our 

audit has not led to any reservations to the legal compliance of the annual financial statements. 

Basis for the audit opinion 

 
We conducted our audit of the annual financial statements in accordance with § 317 HGB and 

German generally accepted standards for the audit of financial statements promulgated by the 

Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer [Institute of Public Auditors in Germany] (IDW). Our responsibilities 

under those requirements and principles are described in greater detail in the section 

‘Responsibilities of the auditor for the audit of the annual financial statements’ of our audit 

certificate. We are independent of the company in accordance with the requirements of German 

commercial and professional law and have fulfilled our other German professional responsibilities 

in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient 

and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions on the annual financial statements. 

Responsibility of the legal representatives for the annual financial statements 

 

The legal representatives are responsible for the preparation of the annual financial statements, 

which comply in all material respects with the requirements of German commercial law, and for the 

annual financial statements to give a true and fair view of the assets, financial position and profit 

situation of the company in compliance with German generally accepted accounting principles. In 

addition, the legal representatives are responsible 
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for such internal control as, in accordance with German generally accepted accounting principles, 

they have deemed necessary to enable the preparation of the annual financial statements, which 

are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. 

In preparing the annual financial statements, the legal representatives are responsible for 

assessing the ability of the company to continue as a going concern. They also have the 

responsibility for disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to the continuation of the business 

activities. Furthermore, they are responsible for the financial reporting based on the accounting 

principles of the going concern provided no actual or legal circumstances conflict therewith. 

Responsibility of the auditor for the audit of the annual financial statements 

 

Our aim is to obtain reasonable assurance on whether the annual financial statements as a whole 

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an audit 

certificate containing our audit opinion of the annual financial statements. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but it is not a guarantee that an audit conducted 

in accordance with § 317 HGB and in compliance with the German generally accepted standards for 

the audit of financial statements promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer [Institute of 

Public Auditors in Germany] (IDW) will always detect a material misstatement. Misstatements may 

arise from irregularities or error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they 

could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 

these annual financial statements. 

We exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We 

also 

• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the annual financial statements, 

whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures in response to those risks, 

and obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for our audit opinions. 

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than from 

error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or 

the override of internal controls. 
 

• obtain an understanding of the internal control system relevant to the audit of the 

annual financial statements in order to design appropriate audit procedures in the 

given circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an audit opinion on the 

effectiveness of this 
 

 

 

0.0915455.001 



3

company system.

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used by the legal representatives and 
the reasonableness of estimates made by the legal representatives and related disclosures.

• conclude on the appropriateness of the accounting policies applied by the legal
representatives to the going concern and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether 
a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions, which may cast significant 
doubt on the company’s ability to continue its business activities. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in the audit certificate to 
the related disclosures in the annual financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our respective audit opinion. Our conclusions are based on the 
audit evidence obtained up to the date of the audit certificate. However, future events or 
conditions may prevent the company from being able to continue its business activities.

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the annual financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the annual financial statements 
present the underlying transactions and events in such a manner that the annual 
financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets, financial position and profit 
situation of the company in compliance with German generally accepted accounting 
principles.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, amongst other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any 
deficiencies in the internal control system identified in the course of our audit.

[Stamp: PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH 
Audit firm
FRANKFURT AM MAIN 
Saarbriicken Branch]

Saarbriicken, 14 August 2019

PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH 
Audit firm

[Signature]
Michael Rohkamper 
Auditor

[Signature]
ppa. Roman Woll
Auditor

Certified to be a true translation- 
Saarbriicken. 29 August 2019/ 
David Wild, sworn translator / //i
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Ji.
PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH 
Wirtschaftsprilfungsgesellschaft

Europaallee 31 
66113 Saarbriicken 
www.pwc.de

Tel.: +49 681 9814-1 60 
Fax: 206

pwc

Auditor’s Report

To CentralNic Germany GmbH, St. Ingbert

We have audited the cash flow statement for the financial year from April 13 through December 31, 
2018 derived by the company from the annual financial statements for the financial year 2018 as 
well as the underlying bookkeeping system. The cash flow statement supplements the annual finan
cial statements of CentralNic Germany GmbH, St. Ingbert, for the financial year from April 13 
through December 31, 2018 that have been prepared on the basis of the provisions of German com
mercial law.

The preparation of the cash flow statement for financial year from April 13 through December 31, 
2018 in accordance with the provisions of German commercial law is the responsibility of the com
pany’s management.

Our responsibility is to express an opinion, based on our audit, as to whether the cash flow state
ment for the financial year from April 13 through December 31, 2018 has been properly derived 
from the annual financial statements for financial year from April 13 through December 31, 2018 
as well as the underlying bookkeeping system in accordance with the provisions of German com
mercial law. The subject matter of this engagement does neither include the audit of the underlying 
annual financial statements nor the underlying bookkeeping system.

We have planned and performed our audit in accordance with the IDW Auditing Practice State
ment: Audit of Additional Elements of Financial Statements (IDW AuPS 9.960.2) in such a way that 
material errors in the derivation of the cash flow statement from the annual financial statements as 
well as the underlying bookkeeping system are detected with reasonable assurance.

Vorsitzender des Aufsichtsrats: WP StB Dr. Norbert Vogelpoth
Geschaftsfiihrer: WP StB Dr. Ulrich Stork, WP StB Dr. Peter Bartels, Dr. Joachim Englert, WP StB Petra Justenhoven, WP Clemens Koch, StB Marius Moller,
WP StB Uwe Rittmann, StB RA Klaus Schmidt, StB CPA Mark Smith
Sitz der Gesellschaft: Frankfurt am Main, Amtsgericht Frankfurt am Main HRB 107858
PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH Wirtschaftsprufungsgesellschaft ist Mitglied von PricewaterhouseCoopers International, einer Company limited by guarantee registriert in England 
und Wales



Seite 2 von 2pwc

In our opinion, based on the findings of our audit, the cash flow statement for the financial year 
from April 13 through December 31, 2018 has been properly derived from the annual financial 
statements for the financial year from April 13 through December 31, 2018 as well as the underly
ing bookkeeping system in accordance with the provisions of German commercial law.

Saarbriicken, 12 September 2019

PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH 
Wirtschaftsprufungsgesellschaft

^^pa. Roman Woll 
(r Wirtschaftspriifer

Michael Rohkamper 
Wirtschaftspriifer 
(German Public Auditor) (German Public Auditor)



Appendix

CentralNic Germany GmbH, 66386 St. Ingbert

Cash Flow Statement for the financial year from April 13 through December 31, 2018

2018
Euro

Profit for the period (Net loss for the financial year) 
+ Increase in provisions

Increase in other assets not related to investing or 
financing activities 

+ Interest expense 
+/- Other non-cash expenses/income

-397.411,59
6.104.710,08

-19.070.179,54
718.322,04

-335.376,57

= Cash flows from operating activities -12.979.935,58

Payments to acquire long-term financial assets -30.415.436,09

= Cash flows from investing activities -30.415.436,09

+ Proceeds from capital contributions by shareholders
+ Proceeds from borrowings

Interest paid

25.000,00
43.700.000,00

-699,71

= Cash flows from financing activities 43.724.300,29

Net change in cash funds 328.928,62

+/- Effect on cash funds of exchange rate movements 
+ Cash funds at beginning of period

140.790,16
0,00

= Cash funds at end of period 469.718,78
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MANAGEMENT REPORT for the year ending 31.12.2018 
Key-Systems GmbH Services for Internet use, 66386 St Ingbert  

 

 
Management report 2018 
  
1. KeyDrive Group 

 

Since August 2018 Key-Systems GmbH has been a subsidiary of CentralNic Group PLC, quoted 
on the London Stock Exchange and based in London, United Kingdom, an indirect holding of 
CentralNic Germany GmbH, Bonn and KeyDrive SA, Luxembourg. The Group provides various 
Internet services via its subsidiaries at home and abroad.  

Its core business areas comprise in particular domain registrations and registry services. 
Belonging to the CentralNic Group in addition to the Key-Systems Group (St Ingbert), are the 
Instra Group (Melbourne Australia and Napier New Zealand) and the Slovak national registry Sk-
NIC (Bratislava, Slovakia). The majority of the approx. 220 employees work directly at Key-
Systems GmbH. The Group manages over 14 million domains and ranks worldwide amongst the 
top 10 of its sector. Chairman of the Board at CentralNic Group PLC is Ben Crawford. Alexander 
Siffrin, founder and Chief Executive Officer of Key-Systems GmbH, is concurrently Chief 
Operating Officer at the CentralNic Group. 

Key-Systems GmbH acts as specialist within the CentralNic Group for domain registration via the 
Internet and for associated services. The company currently offers a portfolio of over 1,000 
domain endings and has a subsidiary in the USA for marketing and support purposes. 
Furthermore, KSregistry GmbH, a 100% subsidiary of Key-Systems GmbH, provides technical 
services for registry operations. The range offered by the Key-Systems Group is rounded off with 
the services rendered by Key-Systems DataCenter GmbH, which provides computing capacity 
for a variety of purposes (e.g. hosting, colocation, vCloud). Strategic partnerships have also been 
established, such as with the online trademark protection expert Thomsen Trampedach. 

 

2. Key-Systems Group 
 

Key-Systems, founded in 1998, is a midsize company in the sector of Internet service providers 
and specialists for the registration of domain names and other Internet services, such as hosting 
and domain management. The company received its accreditation as official registrar for 
international domain names from the leading platform for the Internet ICANN (Internet 
Corporation for Assigned Names and Numbers) immediately after the release of international 
Internet addresses in October 2000. Since then, Key-Systems has been steadily growing, in the 
fiscal year 2018 achieving a total sales revenue of 37.0 million Euros compared to 36.3 million 
Euros in the previous year (+2.1 %). 

One of the Key-Systems core business areas today is the marketing of Internet domain names 
via the Internet portals described below: 
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MANAGEMENT REPORT for the year ending 31.12.2018 
Key-Systems GmbH Services for Internet use, 66386 St Ingbert  

 

 

RRPproxy 

 

RRPproxy provides registrars and Internet service providers (ISPS) at wholesale level with fully 
automated registration of domains via diverse interfaces and web interface. It also offers 
supplementary services, such as registry account management, registry services, a subreseller 
system, an SMS gateway, vServer, SSL certificate and webspace. The company currently 
generates a major part of its sales from this business sector. Potential for growth continues to be 
provided above all by the liberalization of the market through the authorization of new top-level 
domains (TLDs) for regions, companies and organizations. The opportunities emerging as a 
result entail the risk of a constant increase in registrars and, consequently, competitors, which 
may ultimately be incident to a drop in profit margins even if the extensive automation of its 
business transactions gives Key-Systems a significant advantage over its competitors. A further 
risk is the loss of major clients due to their own accreditation by ICANN and national contracting 
authorities. This is countered by the constant acquisition of new clients and the steady growth of 
existing client relationships.  

 

Domaindiscount24 

As well as providing domain registration and management, dd24 offers end clients an extensive 
range of additional services, such as web and mailspace, vServers or SSL certificates. The fully 
automated domain portal is available in six languages (German, English, Spanish, Dutch, Polish 
and Turkish). The plan is to steadily increase the share in sales in this sector in the future.    

 

BrandShelter 

BrandShelter offers companies and organizations services related to the management and 
security of domain portfolios and trademark protection on the Internet. Trademark protection 
includes comprehensive monitoring over any use of trademark names by unauthorized 
individuals on the Internet and the development of strategies for suitable countermeasures.   
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MANAGEMENT REPORT for the year ending 31.12.2018 
Key-Systems GmbH Services for Internet use, 66386 St Ingbert  

 

 
 

In addition to these traditional business areas, Key-Systems expands its range of services 
through its subsidiaries, participating interests and other forms of cooperation. Following 
are the most noteworthy: 

KSRegistry GmbH 

The services offered by the subsidiary KSRegistry GmbH, established in 2012, are also directed 
at the BrandShelter client target group, providing other registry operations, in particular technical 
services associated with domain registration and management. Since it was founded, the 
company has undergone a positive development, promising growth potential for the Group as 
new top-level domains have been continuously incorporated within the scope of the ICANN ‘New 
gTLD program’ since the end of 2013. KSRegistry GmbH took over the business operations of 
OpenRegistry SA, an affiliate of Key-Systems GmbH, with effect from 31 December 2017. Since 
January 2018, KS Registry GmbH has been gradually outsourcing the performance of services 
to the current affiliate CentralNic Ltd. London, United Kingdom.  

 

PartnerGate GmbH  

PartnerGate GmbH is deemed to be one of the most economically significant subsidiaries. It 
operates on the same business model as RRPProxy, focusing, however, on German hosting 
companies.  

 

Key-Systems Data Center GmbH 

SkyWay Data Center GmbH, established in 2010 as a subsidiary and located in St Ingbert, adds 
a TIER III standard data center to the range of products provided by the Group and offers its 
services both intercompany and to third parties. The data center has meanwhile almost reached 
full capacity. The company changed its name to Key-Systems DataCenter GmbH with effect from 
01.01.2019.  

 

Toweb Brazil LTDA  

From 2014 Key-Systems held 51% of Toweb Brasil LTDA until 2016 when it increased its 
participating interest to 99%. Toweb allows Key-Systems to acquire Latin American domain 
names without a local intermediary, thus securing a competitive advantage in this important 
emerging market. The value of the participating interest in Toweb Brazil LTDA was adjusted with 
effect from 31 July 2018. 
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MANAGEMENT REPORT for the year ending 31.12.2018 
Key-Systems GmbH Services for Internet use, 66386 St Ingbert  

 

 

PTS GmbH 

In 2018 Key-Systems acquired 100 % of the shares in PTS GmbH, located in Friedrichsthal. PTS 
GmbH provides privacy and trustee services. 

Participating interest in Thomsen Trampedach (TT) 

By participating in Thomsen Trampedach GmbH, Rotkreuz, Switzerland (26.5 %), Key-Systems 
aims to reach the planned growth, especially in the sectors of BrandShelter and KSRegistry, 
through existing marketing structures more effectively and more rapidly and to be able to offer 
companies professional advisory services.  

GlobeHosting 

In 2018 Key-Systems acquired by way of an asset deal the business operations of GlobeHosting 
Inc., a registrar with an economic focus on the Romanian market. The business operations were 
incorporated into the business sector of RRPProxy. 

Further acquisitions 

Key-Systems will continue to investigate additional acquisitions and strategic partnerships in 
order to expand its portfolio of business activities and exploit market opportunities. 

 

3. Sale of participating interests 

Key-Systems regularly reviews whether participating interests are reaching their financial and 
strategic objectives and whether there are any opportunities for profitable sales. There were no 
participating interests sold in the fiscal year 2018. 

 

4. Business performance of Key-Systems GmbH 
 

Profit situation 

The company ended the fiscal year 2018 with a net income for the year of EUR 2.8416 million 
Euros (previous year: 3.2917 million Euros). Adjusted to reflect income from investments, interest 
and taxes, the EBIT of the company amounted to 3.7879 million Euros in 2018 compared to 
3.3381 million Euros in the previous year.  

Sales revenue amounted to 37.0294 million Euros in the reporting period compared to 36.2737 
million Euros in the previous year, resulting in an increase of 2.1 %. The sector of RRPproxy 
accounted for a substantial share of the sales revenue. 

Counteracting the sales revenue in the reporting period were costs for domain acquisition and 
other third-party services amounting to 25.7443 million Euros. This corresponded to a gross profit 
in the current fiscal year of 11.2851 million Euros (30.5 %) compared to 10.0932 million Euros 
(27.8 %) in the previous year.  

The return on sales related to the EBIT amounted to 10.2 % compared to 9.2% in the previous 
year, the return increasing again compared to the previous year.  

 

 

 



 

     
 Kiefer & Jochum PartGmbB Otto-Toussaint-Str. 7 
 Wirtschaftsprüfer 66386 St. Ingbert 
 Steuerberater 

 5  

MANAGEMENT REPORT for the year ending 31.12.2018 
Key-Systems GmbH Services for Internet use, 66386 St Ingbert  

 

 
 
Assets 

 

The balance-sheet total of the company on the accounting date amounted to 35.9538 million 
Euros (previous year 27.6822 million Euros). The total on the asset side of the balance sheet is 
shaped by a share of 13.3434 million Euros, which equals 37.1 % (previous year: 12.1881 million 
Euros = 44.0 %) in deferred expenses and accrued income, which are almost exclusively 
attributable to outgoing payments for domain acquisitions with a term of maturity beyond the 
accounting date.  

Correspondingly, on the liabilities side of the balance sheet, deferred income and accrued 
expenses attributable to ingoing payments for domain acquisitions with a term of maturity beyond 
the accounting date amounted to 17.9321 million Euros, which equals 49.9 % of the balance-
sheet total (previous year: 17.0291 million Euros = 61.5 %).  

The assets of the company adjusted to reflect the deferred expenses and accrued income 
amounted on the accounting date to 22.6104 million Euros (previous year: 15.4941 million 
Euros), 14.3976 million Euros (63.7 %) of which is attributable to non-current assets (previous 
year: 9.8975 million Euros = 63.9 %) and 8.2128 million Euros (36.3 %) to current assets 
(previous year: 5.5966 million Euros = 36.1 %). 

The rise in non-current assets was predominantly due to the purchased goodwill (+2.3906 million 
Euros) and financial assets (+2.9452 million Euros) in the form of additions to participating 
interests. These resulted in the main from the acquisition of GlobeHosting Inc. and PTS GmbH. 
The increase in current assets was largely due to trade receivables and cash and cash 
equivalents (cf. the following cash flow statement). 

The items on the liabilities side adjusted to reflect deferred income and accrued expenses totalled 
18.0217 million Euros (previous year: 10.6532 million Euros), 2.8686 million Euros (previous year: 
3.3187 million Euros) of which attributable to the equity capital of the company and 15.1531 million 
Euros (previous year: 7.3345 million Euros) to borrowed capital.  
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Financial position 
 
Following is the cash flow statement: 

 
  2018 

’000 Euros 
2017 

’000 Euros   
I. Cash flow from   
   current 
   business operations 

   

 Result for the period 
Depreciation on intangible and 
tangible assets 

2,842 
 

726 

3,292 
 

247 

 Cash flow in the stricter sense 3,568 3,539 

 Change in trade receivables and 
other assets (incl. deferred expenses 
and accrued income) 

 
 

-1,897 

 
 

-698 

 Income from investments -655 -862 

 Profit from disposal of assets -21 0 

 Change in reserves, trade payables 
and other liabilities (incl. deferred 
income and accrued expenses)  

 
 

1,858 

  
 

3,125 

  2,853 5,056 

    
II. Cash flow from        
investment activities 

   

 Outgoing payments for investments 
in intangible assets, fixed assets and 
financial assets 

 
 

-5,501 

 
 

-3,260 
 Ingoing payments from asset 

disposal and investment grants 
 

56 
 

0 
 Income from investments 669 922 
 Payments from loans to affiliated 

companies 
 

239 
 

0 
  -4,537 -2,338 

    
III. Cash flow from 
financing activities 

   

 Withdrawals from capital reserves 0 0 
 Long-term amounts owed to affiliated 

companies 
 

6,864 
 

0 
 Payments to shareholders from 

appropriation of profit 
 

-3,292 
 

-2,134 
  3,572 -2,134 
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IV. Cash and cash 
equivalents 

   

 Changes with an effect on payment 
of cash and cash equivalents 

1,889 584 

 Cash and cash equivalents at start of 
period 

 
1,704 

 
1,120 

 Cash and cash equivalents at end of 
period 

 
3,593 

 
1,704 
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5. Foreseeable development, opportunities and risks 

 

In the current fiscal year an increase in sales revenue is expected, regularized by deferred 
income and accrued expenses and the US Dollar exchange rate, in line with previous years. The 
gross profit margin is forecast as constant, so that the gross profit would correlate with the sales 
revenue. This positive development is especially attributable to the traditional business activities, 
while the momentum created by the liberalization of the market in the sector of top-level domains 
through ICANN is slowing down again. Based on this situation, Key-Systems expects to achieve 
further growth and to reach a positive earnings performance before any special events in the 
years ahead. The net income for 2019 is expected to remain at the level of the reporting year. 
The aim overall is to develop Key-Systems GmbH into the central point of purchase of the 
CentralNic Group for domain names, which will strengthen and guarantee the future of the 
company. However, the precise extent and point in time of implementation is dependent on 
decisions to be taken by the parent company, which is out of the control of Key-Systems. 

From the standpoint of the management, there are currently no identifiable risks threatening the 
continued existence of the company. A number of risks are more closely examined below, 
whereby the overall risk situation of the company has not changed in essence compared to the 
previous year.  
  
Key-Systems has addressed the risks of potentially falling prices and margins in the pure domain 
trade by steadily expanding its business areas as described above. In addition, Key-Systems is 
endeavouring to expand its portfolio of available top-level domains more rapidly than the 
competition in order to create a unique selling point. In the current fiscal year, monitoring the 
development of client-specific margins constituted one of the focal points of risk monitoring by 
the company. 
 

Due to a high ratio of US Dollar based sales revenue from the RRPProxy business and the 
majority of operating expenses in Euros, the profitability of Key-Systems GmbH is correlated with 
the US Dollar. A strong US Dollar results ceteris paribus in higher earnings. The Euro-based 
sales revenue from the business areas of domaindiscount24 and BrandShelter dampen this 
correlation. When this report was being prepared, the rate of the US Dollar was above the 
average value in 2018. 

Default and liquidity risks in third-party business transactions are of lesser significance. As a 
matter of principle, credit checks are undertaken in advance. Furthermore, most transactions are 
concluded by payment in advance or by credit card, so that the payments (with the exception of 
fraudulent cases) are guaranteed. Default risks of a greater scale could, in principle, arise in the 
area of loans to affiliated companies. The volume of the loans amounted to 1.933 million Euros 
on the accounting date compared to 2.232 million Euros on the accounting date in the previous 
year. 

Key-Systems addresses the general risk of server failures by implementing special redundancy 
systems, some of which are located on its premises and others externally. Thanks to the new 
building completed in 2010 – an investment made by the indirect majority shareholder 
inter.services GmbH – including its own TIER-III data center in St Ingbert, Key-Systems is in a 
position to satisfy the most stringent requirements regarding security and availability, in this 
manner further minimizing the risk of an interruption in operations. The procurement of an  
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external solution is being taken into consideration to defend against so-called ‘distributed denial 
of service attacks“ (ddos). 

Existing participating interests and potential new commitments, together with a continuing 
company policy of expansion, create a favourable environment and allow us to look with optimism 
into the future. The results in the next two fiscal years are expected to be a little above the level 
of 2018, provided the strong US Dollar (USD) continues to play a role in international competition. 

 

Legal disputes with competitors, business partners, clients or other external third parties and 
changes to the legal and/or regulatory parameters on a national, European or global level also 
harbour risks. In particular, these include risks from the areas of product liability, competition and 
antitrust legislation, industrial property rights and tax legislation. In relation to the organization 
and management of business processes and decision-making, the company does not only 
depend on the comprehensive advice provided by its own legal department, but also consults 
established experts and renowned specialists in certain cases. Claims for damages and liability 
risks resulting from ordinary business activities are either appropriately covered by insurance or 
taken into account in the balance-sheet provisions.  

 

In an IT and technology-oriented company, the responsibility for achieving ambitious company 
objectives and sustainable economic success, amongst other aims, falls on employees with 
above-average qualifications as a whole and many specialists of the most diverse disciplines. 
Important specialist knowledge and competence can be lost due to a high fluctuation of executive 
staff and employees in key roles. Problems filling vacancies at all or only after a lengthy period 
of time by finding the appropriate executive, specialist or junior staff, who possess the 
commercial, technical or sector-specific skills required, can also have adverse effects on the 
company. 

These risks are addressed by adopting a variety of measures to guarantee market and 
performance based remuneration, modern human resource management, qualified personnel 
development and target-group based personnel recruitment, as well as forward-looking 
succession planning. Provisions for substitution alleviate the departure or loss of key staff.  
 

One of the key tasks of the company is to ensure that financing requirements are covered for 
both business operations and investments. In so doing, priority is given to optimizing finance and 
also limiting financial risks. 
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6. Forecast-performance comparison 

In the 2017 management report sales revenue of 37.165 million Euros, a gross profit margin of 
28 % and gross profit of 10.531 million Euros was forecast for 2018. These targets were in the 
main achieved in the reporting year.   

 
 
 

St Ingbert, 06 June 2019 
 
[Signature] 
............................................... 
Alexander Siffrin 

Chief Executive Officer 
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ASSETS   LIABILITIES 

 

 Euros 
Fiscal Year 

Euros 
 Previous 

Year Euros  Euros 
Fiscal Year 

Euros 
 Previous Year 

  Euros 
A Non-current assets     A. Equity capital     
 I. Intangible assets      I. Subscribed capital  27,000.00  27,000.00 
 1.Purchased concessions, 

industrial property rights and 
similar rights and assets such 
as licenses to such rights and 
assets 

 

 

 

     
153,882.00 

     
   II. Net income for the year  2,841,633.87  3,291,691.29 

226,671.00 

  

 

  

 
 2. Goodwill 2,458,937.61   185,500.00 B. Reserves     
  

 
2,685,608.61  339,382.00      1. Tax provisions 

     2.  Other reserves 
521,224.83 
875,653.28 

  469,381.00 
796,204.33 

 II. Tangible assets              1,396,878.11 
      C. Payables     
 1. Other plant, fixtures and equipment  283,014.00  273,242.00  1.  Amounts owed to banks 38.53   0.00 
  

  
         2. Advances on orders 

      3. Trade accounts payable 
1,632,565.71 
2,014,428.43 

  1,584,770.99 
1,191,230.93 

 III. Financial assets 
 

         4. Amounts owed to  
          affiliated companies 7,093,940.87 

   
153,058.56 

 1. Shares in affiliated companies 

9,324,013.55 

  6,940,628.4
5 

      5. Amounts owed to 
          companies in which a 
          participating interest is held 0.00 

   
 
50.99 

 2. Loans to affiliated companies 
1,992,515.09 

  2,231,813.7
4 

 6.  Other payables 
3,015,217.45 

  
3,099,859.61 

 3.    Participating interests 110,950.00   110,950.00    13,756,190.99  6,028,971.08 
                  4.    Cooperative shares 1,500.00   1,500.00       
 
  

11,428,978.64  9,284,892.19 D.  Deferred income and 
accrued expenses  17,932,097.25 

 
17,029,062.97 
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ASSETS   LIABILITIES 

 

Euros 
Fiscal Year 

Euros 
 Previous Year 

Euros Euros 
Fiscal Year 

Euros 
 Previous Year 

Euros 
 
B. Current assets 

     
E. Deferred tax liabilities 

 
                0.00 

  
39,926.55 

         
 I. Receivables and other assets        
         
 1. Trade accounts receivable                  2,098,368.87   1,439,949.56     
 2. Amounts due from affiliated  

companies                                            837,930.64 
  

  1,197,437.55 
    

 3.    Amounts due from companies 
   in which a participating interest 
   is held                                                    368,481.85 

   
 

256,177.87 

    

 4. Other assets                                        1,315,562.82   999,913.45     

    3,893,478.43     
         
 II. Cash, central bank balances,  

       other bank balances and cheques 3,592,419.37 
 

1,703,168.28 
    

        
C. Deferred expenses and accrued income 13,343,435.42  12,188,074.32     
        
 35,953,800.22  27,682,237.22  35,953,800.22  27,682,237.22
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   Fiscal year Previous year 

  Euros Euros Euros 

1. Sales revenue  37,029,425.44 36,273,742.92 

     

2. Overall performance  37,029,425.44 36,273.742.92 

     

3. Other operating income    

      486,303.58      419,149.98 

     

4. Material expenditure    

 a) Cost of raw materials, supplies and purchased goods                 0.01-                 0.00 

 b) Cost of purchased services 25,744.293.76 25,744,293.75 26,180,480.75 

     

5. Personnel expenditure    

 a) Payroll   4,516,852.77  4,345,884.19 

 b) Social security and expenses for pensions and 

    assistance 

 

     942,010.17 

 

  5,458,862.94 

 

   910,266.80 

     

6. Depreciation on 

Intangible and tangible fixed assets 

 

 

 

     379,643.17 

 

   246,988.14 

     

7. Other operating expenses    2,145,047.68  1,671,212.56 

     

8. Income from participating interests       688,651.83    921,674.28 

     

9. Profits transferred on the basis of profit pooling, 

 profit transfer or partial profit transfer agreements 

  

                0.00 

 

       5,505.50 

     

10. Other interest and similar income        118,747.21    122,875.72 
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11. Depreciation on financial assets and securities in  

current assets 

  

      346,499.00 

 

              0.00 

     

12. Interest and similar expenses        201,936.78      87,258.08 

     

13. Expenses arising from loss absorption            46,370.30              0.00 

     

14. Income tax      1,078.882.32  1,007,461.66 

     

15. Earnings after tax      2,901,592.12  3,293,395.22 

     

16. Other taxes           59,958.25         1,703.93 

     

17. Net income for the year      2,841,633.87  3,291,691.29 
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Notes to the annual financial statements 
 

General information on the annual financial statements 
 
The annual financial statements of Key-Systems GmbH were prepared in accordance with the 

accounting principles of the German Commercial Code. 

 
In addition to these principles, the provisions set down in the German Limited Liability 

Companies Act were also to be applied. 

 
According to the thresholds for determining the size of a company set down in § 267 HGB 

[German Commercial Code], the company is a medium-sized corporation. 

 
Data maintained by Registration Court to identify the company 
 
Company name registered at court: Key-Systems GmbH     

 
Company seat registered at court: St Ingbert 

 
Registration entry: Commercial Register 

 
Registration Court: Saarbrücken 

 
Register No.: 18835 

 

Information on accounting methods  

 

Accounting principles 

 

Purchased intangible assets were recorded at acquisition cost and, if subject to wear, less 

scheduled depreciation. 

 

Tangible fixed assets were recorded at acquisition or production cost and, if subject to wear, 

less scheduled depreciation. 

 

Scheduled depreciation was undertaken on a linear basis according to the expected useful life 

of the assets. 

 

Moveables under non-current assets up to a value of EUR 410.00 were written off in full in the 

year of their accrual. 

 



 

     
 Kiefer & Jochum PartGmbB Otto-Toussaint-Str. 7 
 Wirtschaftsprüfer 66386 St. Ingbert 
 Steuerberater 

 7  

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the period 01.01.2018 to 31.12.2018 

Key-Systems GmbH, 66386 St Ingbert 

 

 
 

 

 

Investment grants and supplements received were shown on the asset side of the balance 

sheet and, in each case, resulted in a deduction of the acquisition and productions costs of the 

assets concerned.    

 

Financial assets were assessed and recorded as follows: 

 

- Participating interests at acquisition cost 

 

- Shares in affiliated companies at acquisition cost 

 

- Loans at face value 

 

If necessary, the lower value recorded on the accounting date was applied.   

 

Receivables and cash and cash equivalents were accounted for at face value. Individual value 

adjustments were made to take Identifiable individual risks into account. 

 

Equity capital was recognised at face value.  

 

Tax provisions included taxes not yet assessed for the fiscal year concerned. 

 

Reserves are recorded at the settlement amount dictated by prudent business judgement in 

consideration of expected future price and cost changes. 

 

Payables were recorded at the settlement amount.  

 

Deferred taxes were created in accordance with § 274 Subsection 1 HGB [German Commercial 

Code] for differences between the valuations under commercial law, debts and accrued 

expenses and deferred income, and their tax valuations, which are expected to decrease in 

subsequent fiscal years. 

 

Deferred taxes are offset on the balance sheet (§ 274 Subsection 1 Sentence 3 HGB). Provided 

there is tax relief overall (net asset position), the option to capitalize in accordance with § 274 

Subsection 1 Sentence 2 HGB is not exercised. A resulting tax burden is shown on the balance 

sheet as a deferred tax liability. The change in deferred taxes in the income statement is shown 

under the item ‘income tax’. 

 

Changes in accounting policies in respect of the previous year  

 

It was possible in the main to adopt the accounting policies previously applied. 
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As from 2018, credit balances for online payment services are shown as cash or cash 

equivalents.  They were previously included in other assets. 
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Principles for translating foreign currency items into Euros 

 

The annual financial statements contain items in foreign currency, which are translated into 

Euros.  

 

In the course of the year, the foreign currency items are valued using the officially published 

average rate of the respective months. The value of receivables, cash and cash equivalents 

and payables is assessed on the accounting date at the applicable average spot exchange 

rate. 

 

Information on the balance sheet 
 
Asset schedule for the individual items of on the asset side 
 
The development of the assets for each item on the balance sheet is shown in the asset schedule.  

 
Goodwill was purchased in the course of the fiscal year. Taking the specifics typical of the sector into 

account, scheduled depreciation was applied over an individual operational useful life of 10 years. 

 
Receivables from affiliated companies/companies in which a participating interest is held 
 
0.838 million Euros of the receivables from affiliated companies were generated by trade, and 0.368 million 

Euros of the receivables from companies in which a participating interest were generated by trade. 

 
Other assets 
 
The balance-sheet item ‘other assets’ includes supplier receivables for which advances to the amount of 

0.733 million Euros were paid for future service provisions. 

 
Information on receivables with a remaining term of maturity of over one year 
 
Receivables with a remaining term of maturity of over one year amount to 156,111.79 Euros (previous 

year: 80,320.98 Euros).  

 
Deferred expenses and accrued income 
 
The asset structure of the company is characterized by a relatively high rate of accruals and deferrals. It 

should be pointed out in this case that deferred income and accrued expenses amounting to 17.932 million 

Euros (previous year: 17.029 million Euros) were to be carried for revenues already collected from domain 

sales to clients with terms of maturity from 12 months (between 1 and 10 years).   
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Correspondingly, an item for deferred expenses and accrued income was to be created on the assets side 

for expenses incurred before the accounting date for domain purchases totalling 13.266 million Euros 

(previous year: 12.111 million Euros). On balance, this results for future fiscal years in an earnings 

contribution of 4.666 million Euros (previous year: 4.918 million Euros), which had already been accrued 

in the fiscal year concluded. 

 
Furthermore, payments already effected for deferment were to create an item of deferred expenses and 

accrued income amounting to 0.077 million Euros (previous year: 0.077 million Euros). 

 
Information and explanatory notes on reserves 
 
The item ‘other reserves’ essentially covers reserves as a result of personnel costs. 

 

Amount of liabilities with a remaining term of maturity > 5 years and security interests  
 
Liabilities with a remaining term of maturity of over one year are in the form of deposits received amounting 

to 200,000.00 Euros (previous year: 0.00 Euros). The remaining liabilities show a remaining term of 

maturity of less than one year. This also applies to the previous year. 

 
Amounts owed to affiliated companies 
 
0.202 million Euros (previous year: 0.099 million Euros) of the amounts owed to affiliated companies were 

generated by trade. The remaining 6.892 million Euros (previous year: 0.054 million Euros) represent other 

liabilities. 

 
Amounts owed to companies in which a participating interest is held 
 
The amounts owed to companies in which a participating interest is held amounting to 0.00 Euros (previous 

year: 50.99 Euros) were generated by trade.  

 
Information on amounts owed to shareholders  
 
Amounts owed to shareholders totalled 6,891,470.40 Euros (previous year: 53,641 Euros). 

 
Other liabilities 
 
Other liabilities totalled 3.015 million Euros (previous year: 3.100 million Euros), 0.186 million 

Euros (previous year: 0.239 million Euros) attributable to taxes and 0.007 million (previous year: 

0.003 million Euros) attributable to social security. The remaining liabilities were generated in 

the main by classifying the purchase of GlobeHosting as a liability. 
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Deferred taxes 
 
There is a net asset position of deferred taxes in the balance. The option to capitalize is not exercised.  

 
Status deferred taxes 31.12.2017 39,926.55 Euros 

Addition 0.00 Euros 

Reversal 39,926.55 Euros 

Status deferred taxes 31.12.2018 0.00 Euros 

 

Information on income statement  
 
Personnel costs 

 
39,912.95 Euros (previous year: 41,574.09 Euros) of the personnel costs were attributable to expenses 

incurred from pensions. 

 
Depreciation 

 
Depreciation amounting to 346,499.00 was undertaken in the meaning of § 253 Subsection 3 Sentence 5 

HGB.  

 
Currency translation 
 
198,033.12 Euros of other operating income and 339,224.57 Euros of other operating expenses relate to 

currency translation. 

 
Income from participating interests 
 
Income from participating interests includes distribution of subsidiary profits for the fiscal year 2017 

amounting to 0.669 million Euros.  

 
Depreciation of financial assets 
 
Due to the expected continuing loss in value, the participating interest in Toweb Brasil LTDA was written 

off in full in the accounting year by 0.346 million Euros.  

 
Interest payable 

 

71,583.33 Euros (previous year: 29,247.29 Euros) of the interest payable were attributable to affiliated 
companies. 
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Further information 
 
Information on other financial obligations 
 
In addition to the liabilities shown on the balance sheet, other financial obligations vis-à-vis affiliated 

companies exist to the amount of 1.027 million Euros. They are divided as follows: 

 
  Of which Of which Of which 

Total up to 1 year 2-5 years > 5 years 
’000 Euros ’000 Euros ’000 Euros ’Euros 

Lease agreement 
Office premises, parking spaces, etc. 

1,027 202 825 0 

 
Guarantees and other commitments arising from off-balance-sheet liabilities in accordance with § 
251 HGB 
 
There were no guarantees or other commitments on the accounting date. 
 

Average number of persons employed in the course of the fiscal year 
 
The following groups of employees worked in the company in the course of the fiscal year:  

 

Group of employees  Number 

Employees  87.00 

Executive staff     2.00 

Total workforce employed on average 89.00 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the period 01.01.2018 to 31.12.2018 

Key-Systems GmbH, 66386 St Ingbert 

 

 
 
Names and remuneration of Managing Directors 
 
The business of the company in the course of the fiscal year concluded was managed by Mr Alexander 

Siffrin (Degree in Informatics). 

 
In respect of the required disclosures on the remuneration of the managing directors (§ 285 No. 9 HGB) 

we refer to § 286 Subsection 4 HGB, whereby such information may be omitted if it can be determined on 

the basis of the remuneration of one managing director.  

 
Information on shareholdings in other companies of minimum 20% of the shares 
 
In accordance with § 285 No. 11 HGB the following companies are reported: 

 

Company name Share  
in % 

Effective date Net income for the year Equity capital 

  provisionally   

Key-Systems USA, Inc. 100.00 31.12.2018: 385,081.08 USD -113,892.23 USD 

     

SkyWay DataCenter GmbH 100.00 31.12.2018: 0.00 Euros 20,531.47 Euros 

     

Thomsen      

Trampedach GmbH 26.50 31.12.2017 350,618.00 CHF 645,138.00 CHF 

     

dotSaarland GmbH 100.00 31.12.2018: -16,046.36 Euros -195,000.35 Euros 

     

PartnerGate GmbH 100.00 31.12.2018:  478,923.59 Euros 836,494.81 Euros 

     

KSregistry GmbH 100.00 31.12.2018:  -97,864.48 Euros 771,953.42 Euros 

     

PTS GmbH 100.00 31.12.2018: 222,584.24 Euros 181,068.56 Euros 

  

 
Fees and services of the auditor of the annual financial statements 

 

PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH, audit firm Frankfurt, Saarbrücken branch, was engaged to audit the 
annual financial statements for the fiscal year 2018. The audit fee in the current fiscal year totalled 30,000 
Euros. This covers the audit of the annual financial statements and the consolidated annual report 
package. The auditor did not provide any other services. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the period 01.01.2018 to 31.12.2018 

Key-Systems GmbH, 66386 St Ingbert 

 

 

 
Group affiliation 
 
KeyDrive S.A., Luxembourg, holds 100 % of the shares in Key-Systems GmbH and is incorporated in the 

consolidated accounts of CentralNic Group PLC, London, United Kingdom (Companies House 08576358). 

CentralNic Group PLC is the only group company to prepare consolidated accounts.  

 
In accordance with § 291 HGB, Key-Systems GmbH is exempted from the obligation to prepare 

consolidated annual financial statements and a group management report. The consolidated accounts are 

prepared in accordance with IFRS.  

 
Proposal and resolution on the appropriation of the net income for the year  
 
Following the adoption of the annual financial statements, the net income for the year is to be paid out to 

the shareholder. 

 
Events following the accounting date 
 
There have been no events of significance in respect of the net assets, financial position and profit situation 

of the company. 

 
Signature of the Chief Executive Officer 
       [Signature] 
 
 
St Ingbert, 06 June 2019    Alexander Siffrin 
       Chief Executive Officer 
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Asset schedule for the year ending 31 December 2018 
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ASSET SCHEDULE for the year ending 31 December 2018 

Key-Systems GmbH, 66386 St Ingbert 

 

 
 Acquisition costs/production costs Depreciation Appreciation Book value 
   

 Status    Status Status    Status Fiscal year Status Status 
 01.01.2018 Additions Disposals Transfers 31.12.2018 01.01.2018 Additions Disposals Transfers 31.12.2018  31.12.2018 31.12.2017 
   

 EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR 

 
  Non-current assets 
 
 I. Intangible assets 
 
 1. Purchased concessions, 
  industrial property rights and 
  similar rights and assets such as  
  licenses and such rights and 
  assets 258,026.45 116,652.17 0.00 0.00 374,678.62 104,144.45 43,863.17 0.00 0.00 148,007.62 0.00 226,671.00 153,882.00 
 2. Goodwill 210,000.00      2,390,610.61 0.00 0.00                     2,600,610.61 24,500.00 117,173.00 0.00 0.00 141,673.00 0.00                  2,458,937.61    185,500.00 
   

 
  Total  
  intangible assets 468,026.45      2,507,262.78 0.00 0.00                     2,975,289.23 128,644.45 161,036.17 0.00 0.00 289,680.62 0.00                 2,685,608.61    339,382.00 
 
 II. Tangible assets 
 
  Other plant, fixtures and 
  Equipment                                                                  1,927,567.66      263,691.00      184,254.21 0.00                     2,007,004.45       1,654,325.66 218,607.00      148,942.21 0.00                      1,723,990.45 0.00                    283,014.00    273,242.00 
   

 
  Total tangible assets                                                  1,927,567.66      263,691.00      184,254.21 0.00                     2,007,004.45        1,654,325.66 218,607.00      148,942.21 0.00                       1,723,990.45 0.00                    283,014.00    273,242.00 
 
 III. Financial assets 
 
 1. Shares in affiliated 
  Companies                                                                 6,940,628.45      2,729,884.10 0.00 0.00                     9,670,512.55 0.00 346,499.00 0.00 0.00 346,499.00 0.00                 9,324,013.55    6,940,628.45 
 2. Loans to affiliated 
  companies                                                                 2,616,733.19      215,305.74      454,604.39 0.00                     2,377,434.54       384,919.45 0.00 0.00 0.00 384,919.45 0.00                 1,992,515.09   2,231,813.74 
 3. Participating interests                                                   110,950.00 0.00 0.00 0.00                        110,950.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 110,950.00    110,950.00 
 4. Cooperative shares 1,500.00 0.00 0.00 0.00                           1,500.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1,500.00 1,500.00 
   

 
  Total financial assets                                                 9,669,811.64      2,945,189.84    454,604.39 0.00                    12,160,397.09       384,919.45      346,499.00 0.00                 0,00                        731,418.45 0.00                11,428,978.64   9,284,892.19 
 
   
   

 
  Total assets                                                            12,065,405.75       5,716,143.62    638,858.60 0.00                     17,142,690.77     2,167,889.56    726,142.17         148,942.21 0.00                    2,745,089.52 0.00                14,397,601.25   9,897,516.19 
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AUDIT CERTIFICATE ISSUED BY THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR OF THE ANNUAL 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

To Key-Systems GmbH, St Ingbert 

 

Audit opinion 

 

We have audited the annual financial statements of Key-Systems GmbH, St Ingbert, comprising 

the balance sheet for the year ending 31 December 2018, the income statement for the fiscal 

year from 01 January to 31 December 2018, and the notes to the financial statements, together 

with a presentation of the accounting policies. We also audited the management report of Key-

Systems GmbH for the fiscal year from 01 January to 31 December 2018. 

 In our opinion, based on the findings of our audit 

• the attached annual financial statements have been prepared in all material respects in 

accordance with German commercial law and give a true and fair view in compliance with 

the German principles of proper accounting of the assets and financial position of the 

company for the year ending 31 December 2018, as well as the profit situation for the fiscal 

year from 01 January to 31 December 2018 and 

 

• the attached management report gives overall a true and fair view of the situation of the 

company. This management report is in all material respects in conformity with the annual 

financial statements and in compliance with German legal provisions, and it presents the 

opportunities and risks for future development appropriately.  

Pursuant to § 322 Subsection 3 Sentence 1 HGB [German Commercial Code], we declare that our 

audit has not led to any reservations to the legal compliance of the annual financial statements. 

Basis for the audit opinion 

We conducted our audit of the annual financial statements in accordance with § 317 HGB and 

German generally accepted standards for the audit of financial statements promulgated by the 

Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer [Institute of Public Auditors in Germany] (IDW). Our 

responsibilities under those requirements and principles are described in greater detail in the 

section ‘Responsibilities of the auditor for the audit of the annual financial statements and 

management report’ of our audit certificate. We are independent of the company in accordance 

with the requirements of German commercial and professional law and have fulfilled our other 

German professional responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that 

the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 

opinions on the annual financial statements and management report. 

 

 

0.0872265.001 
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Responsibility of the legal representatives for the annual financial statements and management 

report 

The legal representatives are responsible for the preparation of the annual financial 

statements, which comply in all material respects with the requirements of German commercial 

law, and for the annual financial statements to give a true and fair view of the assets, financial 

position and profit situation of the company in compliance with German generally accepted 

accounting principles. In addition, the legal representatives are responsible for such internal 

control as, in accordance with German generally accepted accounting principles, they have 

deemed necessary to enable the preparation of the annual financial statements, which are free 

from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. 

In preparing the annual financial statements, the legal representatives are responsible for 

assessing the ability of the company to continue as a going concern. They also have the 

responsibility for disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to the continuation of the business 

activities. Furthermore, they are responsible for the financial reporting based on the accounting 

principles of the going concern provided no actual or legal circumstances conflict therewith.  

Furthermore, the legal representatives are responsible for preparing the management report, 

which gives overall a true and fair view of the situation of the company and which is in all 

material respects in conformity with the annual financial statements and in compliance with 

German legal provisions, presenting the opportunities and risks for future development 

appropriately. The legal representatives are also responsible for the provisions and measures 

(systems) deemed necessary to ensure that the preparation of a management report is in 

compliance with the applicable German legal provisions and to be able to provide sufficient 

proof in relation to the statements made in the management report.   

Responsibility of the auditor for the audit of the annual financial statements and management 

report 

Our aim is to obtain reasonable assurance on whether the annual financial statements as a 

whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and whether the 

management report gives overall a true and fair view of the situation of the company, is in all 

material respects in conformity with the annual financial statements and in keeping with the 

findings of the audit, and in compliance with German legal provisions, and presents the 

opportunities and risks for future development appropriately, as well as to issue an audit 

certificate containing our audit opinion of the annual financial statements and management 

report. 

 

 

 

0.0872265.001 
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Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but it is not a guarantee that an audit 

conducted in accordance with § 317 HGB and in compliance with the German generally 

accepted standards for the audit of financial statements promulgated by the Institut der 

Wirtschaftsprüfer [Institute of Public Auditors in Germany] (IDW) will always detect a material 

misstatement. Misstatements may arise from irregularities or error and are considered 

material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 

economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these annual financial statements. 

We exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. 

We also 

• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the annual financial statements 

and management report, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit 

procedures in response to those risks, and obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence 

to provide a basis for our audit opinions. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 

resulting from fraud is higher than from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 

intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls. 

 

• obtain an understanding of the internal control system relevant to the audit of the annual 

financial statements and of the provisions and measures relevant to the audit of the 

management report in order to design appropriate audit procedures in the given 

circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an audit opinion on the effectiveness 

of this company system. 

 

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used by the legal representatives and 

the reasonableness of estimates made by the legal representatives and related statements. 

 

• conclude on the appropriateness of the accounting policies applied by the legal 

representatives to the going concern and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a 

material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions which may cast significant doubt 

on the company’s ability to continue its business activities. If we conclude that a material 

uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in the audit certificate to the related 

statements in the annual financial statements and management report or, if such statements 

are inadequate, to modify our respective audit opinion. Our conclusions are based on the 

audit evidence obtained up to the date of the audit certificate. However, future events or 

conditions may prevent the company from being able to continue its business activities. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

0.0872265.001 



4

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the annual financial statements, 
including the statements, and whether the annual financial statements present the 
underlying transactions and events in such a manner that the annual financial statements 
give a true and fair view of the assets, financial position and profit situation of the company 
in compliance with German generally accepted accounting principles.

• evaluate the conformity of the management report with the annual financial statements, its 
compliance with the law, and the view presented of the situation of the company.

• conduct audit procedures on the statements made by the legal representatives on the future 
of the company. On the basis of sufficient and appropriate audit evidence, we follow in 
particular the statements made by the legal representatives on the future of the company 
as regards the most significant underlying assumptions and evaluate whether the deduction 
from these assumptions of the statements on the future of the company is appropriate. We 
do not give a separate audit opinion on the statements on the future of the company or the 
underlying assumptions. There is a considerable unavoidable risk that future events may 
differ considerably from the statements made on the future of the company.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, amongst other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any deficiencies 
in the internal control system identified in the course of our audit.

Saarbriicken, 06 June 2019 
PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH 
Audit firm

[Stamp: PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH 
Audit firm
FRANKFURT AM MAIN 
Saarbriicken Branch]

[Signature] 
pp Roman Woll 
Auditor

[Signature] 
Frank Evers 
Auditor

Certified to be a true translation 
Saarbriicken. 23 August 2019 
David Wild, sworn translator
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BALANCE SHEET for the year ending 31 December 2018 

 

PartnerGate GmbH, 80807 Munich 
 

ASSETS   LIABILITIES 

 

Euros 
Fiscal Year 

Euros 
 Previous Year 

Euros Euros 
Fiscal Year 

Euros 
 Previous 

Year Euros 
A Non-current assets    A. Equity capital    
 I. Intangible assets     I. Subscribed capital 25,500.00  25,500.00 
  Purchased concessions, industrial property rights and 

similar rights and assets such as licences to such 
rights and assets 182,582.61 

 

229,610.61 

    
  II. Capital reserve 332,071.22  332,071.22 
     

 2. Goodwill 158,458.00  179,599.00  III. Net income for the year 478,923.59  630,324.22 

  341,040.61  409,209.61     
 II. Tangible assets    B. Reserves    
         
 Other plant, fixtures and equipment 70,614.00  102,569.00  1. Other reserves 93,640.00  104,791.31 

      93,640.00  104,791.31 
 III. Financial assets    C. Payables    
 1. Participating interests 25,000.00  25,000.00     
 2. Cooperative shares 1,500.00  1,500.00  1. Trade accounts payable 42.585,65  56,904.89 

  26,500.00  26,500.00  2. Amounts owed to affiliated companies 729,438.50  217,009.62 
B. Current assets     3. Other payables 228,238.12  211,054.83 
      1,000,262.27  484,969.34 
 I. Receivables and other assets        
         
 1. Trade accounts receivable 690,529.33  701,303.78     
 2. Amounts due from affiliated companies 0.00  42,940.10     
 3. Other assets 92,620.19  42,819.11     
  783,149.52  787,062.99     
         
 II. Cash, central bank balances, other bank balances and 

cheques 551,463.87 
 

86,557.18 
    

        
C. Deferred expenses and accrued income 157,629.08  165,757.31     
        
 1,930,397.08  1,577,656.09  1,930,397.08  1,577,656.09
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INCOME STATEMENT 01.01.2018 to 31.12.2018 

PartnerGate GmbH, 80807 Munich 

 

 

Euros 
 Fiscal Year 

Euros 
 Previous Year 

Euros 
     

1. Sales Revenue  8,083,237.17  7,988,706.08 

     

2. Overall performance  8,083,237.17  7,988,706.08 

     

3. Other operating income     

  48,060.98  23,593.16 

     

4. Material expenditure     

 a) Cost of raw materials, supplies and purchased goods  5,818,530.30  5,415,787.13 

 b)b) Cost of purchased services  72,721.30  165,268.99 

  5,891,251.60  5.581,056.12 

5. Personnel expenditure     

 a) Payroll  772,677.37  795,624.23 

 b)b) Social security and expenses for pensions and assistance  166,231.98  165,978.08 

  938,909.35  961,602.31 

6. Depreciation     

 intangible and tangible fixed assets  128,250.90  127,568.56 

7. Other operating expenditure     

  438,146.13  403,016.29 

     

8. Other interest and similar income  305.65  2,914.75 

     

9. Interest payable and similar expenses  18,166.67  0.00 

     

10. Income tax  237,354.56  310.829.49 

     

11. Earnings after tax  479,524.59  631,141.22 

     

12. Other taxes  601.00  817.00 

     

13. Net income for the year  478,923.59  630,324.22 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ending 31.12.2018 

PartnerGate GmbH, 80807 Munich 

 

 

 
Notes to the annual financial statements 
 

General information on the annual financial statements 
 
The annual financial statements of PartnerGate GmbH were prepared in accordance with the accounting 

principles of the German Commercial Code. 

 
In addition to these principles, the provisions set down in the German Limited Liability Companies Act were 

also to be applied. 

 
The total cost method was selected for the income statement. 

 
According to the thresholds for determining the size of a company set down in § 267 HGB [German 

Commercial Code], the company is a small corporation. 

 
Data maintained by Registration Court to identify the company 
 
Company name registered at court: PartnerGate GmbH     

 
Company seat registered at court: Munich 

 
Registration entry: Commercial Register 

 
Registration Court: Munich 

 
Register No.: 158541 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ending 31.12.2018 

PartnerGate GmbH, 80807 Munich 

 

 

Information on accounting methods  

 

Accounting principles 

 

Purchased intangible assets are recorded at acquisition cost and, if subject to wear, less 

scheduled depreciation. 

 

Purchased goodwill is written off over its scheduled useful life of 10 years.  

 

Tangible fixed assets are recorded at acquisition or production cost and, if subject to wear, 

less scheduled depreciation. 

 

Scheduled depreciation is undertaken on a linear and digressive basis according to the 

expected useful life of the assets. 

 

Financial assets are recorded at acquisition cost. If necessary, the lower value recorded 

on the accounting date is applied.   

 

Receivables and cash and cash equivalents are accounted for at face value. Individual 

value adjustments are made to take Identifiable individual risks into account. 

 

Deferred expenses and accrued income include expenses prior to the accounting date 

insofar as they represent expenses for a specific period following the accounting date. 

 

Equity capital is recognised at face value.  

 

Reserves are recorded at the settlement amount dictated by prudent business judgment 

and, if applicable, in consideration of expected future price and cost changes.  

 

Other reserves are set aside for any further contingent liabilities. In so doing, all identifiable 

risks are taken into account.   

 

Payables are recorded at the settlement amount.  
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Principles for translating foreign currency items into Euros 

 

The annual financial statements contain items in foreign currency, which are translated 

into Euros. The value of receivables and payables in foreign currency is assessed on the 

accounting date at the average spot exchange rate. If the rate on the date of the business 

transaction is below this in the case of receivables or above this in the case of payables, 

the rate on the date of the business transaction is applied. 

 

Changes in accounting policies in respect of the previous year  

 

It was possible in the main to adopt the accounting policies previously applied. 

 

There was no change in the accounting policies in respect of the previous year. 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ending 31.12.2018 

PartnerGate GmbH, 80807 Munich 

 

 

Information and explanatory notes on individual items of the balance sheet and 

income statement  

 

The development of the assets for each item on the balance sheet is shown in the asset 

schedule. 

 

All receivables have a term to maturity of less than one year.  

 

EUR 105,474.33 of payables have a remaining term to maturity of over one year. 

 

EUR 214,438.50 of amounts owed to affiliated companies are a result of trade payables. 

 

Other required disclosures 

 

The average number of persons employed by the company in the course of the fiscal year 

is 12 (previous year: 12).    

 

There are no contingent liabilities on the accounting date. There are no other noteworthy 

financial obligations.   

 

The business of the company in the course of the fiscal year concluded was managed by 

the following persons: 

 

Mr Johannes Steck  

 

Information in accordance with § 42 Subsection 3 GmbHG [German Limited Liability 

Companies Act] 

 

The shareholders are subject to the following rights and obligations: 

 

Items Amount 

 

Receivables 0.00 Euros 

Payables 0.00 Euros 
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS for the year ending 31.12.2018 

PartnerGate GmbH, registration and management - domain names, 80807 Munich 

 

 

Group affiliation 

 

Key-Systems GmbH, St. Ingbert, holds 100 % of the shares in PartnerGate GmbH. It is 

incorporated in the consolidated accounts of CentralNic Group PLC, London, United 

Kingdom (Companies House 08576358). CentralNic Group PLC is the only group 

company to prepare consolidated accounts. 

 

Events following the accounting date 

 

There have been no events of significance in respect of the net assets, financial position 

and profit situation of the company. 

 

 

 

 
Munich, 06 June 2019 

 

 

 

[Signature] 

......................................................... 

Johannes Steck 

Managing Director 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Asset Schedule 



 

 

 

ASSET SCHEDULE for the year ending 31 December 2018 

 

PartnerGate GmbH, 80807 Munich 

 
  Book value 

01.01.2018 
 Additions  Disposals  Transfers  Depreciation  Appreciation  Book value 

31.12.2018 

  Euros  Euros  Euros  Euros  Euros  Euros  Euros 

               

A Non-current assets               

I. Intangible assets               

 
1. Purchased concessions, industrial property rights 

and similar rights and assets such as licences to 
such rights and assets 

 

229,610.61  0.00  0.00  0.00  47,028.00  0.00  182,582.61 

 2. Goodwill  179,599.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  21,141.00  0.00  158,458.00 

                

 Total intangible assets  409,209.61  0.00  0.00  0.00  68,169.00   0.00  341,040.61 

               

II. Tangible assets               

                

 Other plant, fixtures and equipment  102,569.00  28,126.90  0.00  0.00  60,081.90  0.00  70.614.00 

                

 Total tangible assets  102,569.00  28,126.90  0.00  0.00  60,081.90  0.00  70.614.00 

                

III. Financial assets               

               

 1. Participating interests  25,000.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  25,000.00 

 2. Cooperative shares  1,500.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  1,500.00 

                

  Total financial assets  26,500.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  0.00  26,500.00 

                

  Total assets  538,278.61  28,126.90  0.00  0.00  128,250.90  0.00  438,154.61 
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AUDIT CERTIFICATE ISSUED BY THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR OF THE ANNUAL 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

To PartnerGate GmbH, Munich 

 

Audit opinion 

 

We have audited the annual financial statements of PartnerGate GmbH, Munich, comprising 

the balance sheet for the year ending 31 December 2018, the income statement for the fiscal 

year from 01 January to 31 December 2018, and the notes to the financial statements, 

together with a presentation of the accounting policies. 

In our opinion, based on the findings of our audit, the attached annual financial statements 

have been prepared in all material respects in accordance with German commercial law and 

give a true and fair view in compliance with the German principles of proper accounting of the 

assets and financial position of the company for the year ending 31 December 2018, as well as 

the profit situation for the fiscal year from 01 January to 31 December 2018.  

Pursuant to § 322 Subsection 3 Sentence 1 HGB [German Commercial Code], we declare that 

our audit has not led to any reservations to the legal compliance of the annual financial 

statements. 

Basis for the audit opinion 

We conducted our audit of the annual financial statements in accordance with § 317 HGB and 

German generally accepted standards for the audit of financial statements promulgated by the 

Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer [Institute of Public Auditors in Germany] (IDW). Our 

responsibilities under those requirements and principles are described in greater detail in the 

section ‘Responsibilities of the auditor for the audit of the annual financial statements’ of our 

audit certificate. We are independent of the company in accordance with the requirements of 

German commercial and professional law and have fulfilled our other German professional 

responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence 

obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions on the annual 

financial statements. 

Responsibility of the legal representatives for the annual financial statements 

The legal representatives are responsible for the preparation of the annual financial 

statements, which comply in all material respects with the requirements of German 

commercial law, and for the annual financial statements to give a true and fair view of the 

assets, financial position and profit situation of the company in compliance with German 

generally accepted accounting principles. In addition, the legal representatives are 

responsible for such internal control as, in accordance with German generally accepted 

accounting principles, they have deemed necessary to enable the preparation of the annual 

financial statements, which are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or 

error. 
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In preparing the annual financial statements, the legal representatives are responsible for 

assessing the ability of the company to continue as a going concern. They also have the 

responsibility for disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to the continuation of the business 

activities. Furthermore, they are responsible for the financial reporting based on the 

accounting principles of the going concern provided no actual or legal circumstances conflict 

therewith.  

Responsibility of the auditor for the audit of the annual financial statements 

Our aim is to obtain reasonable assurance on whether the annual financial statements as a 

whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 

audit certificate containing our audit opinion of the annual financial statements. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but it is not a guarantee that an audit 

conducted in accordance with § 317 HGB and in compliance with the German generally 

accepted standards for the audit of financial statements promulgated by the Institut der 

Wirtschaftsprüfer [Institute of Public Auditors in Germany] (IDW) will always detect a 

material misstatement. Misstatements may arise from irregularities or error and are 

considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 

influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these annual financial 

statements. 

We exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the 

audit. We also 

• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the annual financial statements, 

whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures in response to those 

risks, and obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for our audit 

opinions. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 

than from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 

misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls. 

 

• obtain an understanding of the internal control system relevant to the audit of the annual 

financial statements in order to design appropriate audit procedures in the given 

circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an audit opinion on the effectiveness 

of this company system. 

 

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used by the legal representatives and 

the reasonableness of estimates made by the legal representatives and related disclosures. 

 

• conclude on the appropriateness of the accounting policies applied by the legal 

representatives to the going concern and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a 

material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions which may cast significant 

doubt on the company’s ability to continue its business activities. If we conclude that a 

material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in the audit certificate to 

the related disclosures in the annual financial statements or, if such disclosures are 

inadequate, to modify our respective audit opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 

evidence obtained up to the date of the audit certificate. However, future events or 

conditions may prevent the company from being able to continue its business activities. 
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• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the annual financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the annual financial statements present the 

underlying transactions and events in such a manner that the annual financial statements 

give a true and fair view of the assets, financial position and profit situation of the 

company in compliance with German generally accepted accounting principles.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, amongst other matters, the 

planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any deficiencies 

in the internal control system identified in the course of our audit.

Saarbriicken, 06 June 2019 
PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH 
Audit firm

[Stamp: PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH 
Audit firm
FRANKFURT AM MAIN 
Saarbriicken Branch]

[Signature] 
pp Roman Woll 
Auditor

[Signature] 
Frank Evers 
Auditor

Certified to be a true translation 
Saarbriicken. 23 August 2019 
David Wild, sworn translator
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PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH 
Wirtschaftsprufungsgesellschaft

Europaallee 31 
66113 Saarbriicken 
www.pwc.de

Tel.: +49 681 9814-1 60 
Fax: 206

pwc

Auditor’s Report

To PartnerGate GmbH, Miinchen

We have audited the cash flow statement for the financial year from i January through Decem
ber 31, 2018 derived by the company from the annual financial statements for the financial year 
2018 as well as the underlying bookkeeping system. The cash flow statement supplements the 
annual financial statements of PartnerGate GmbH, Miinchen, for the financial year 2018 that 
have been prepared on the basis of the provisions of German commercial law.

The preparation of the cash flow statement for financial year 2018 in accordance with the provi
sions of German commercial law is the responsibility of the company’s management.

Our responsibility is to express an opinion, based on our audit, as to whether the cash flow state
ment for the financial year 2018 has been properly derived from the annual financial statements 
for financial year 2018 as well as the underlying bookkeeping system in accordance with the pro
visions of German commercial law. The subject matter of this engagement does neither include 
the audit of the underlying annual financial statements nor the underlying bookkeeping system.

We have planned and performed our audit in accordance with the IDW Auditing Practice State
ment: Audit of Additional Elements of Financial Statements (IDW AuPS 9.960.2) in such a way 
that material errors in the derivation of the cash flow statement from the annual financial state
ments as well as the underlying bookkeeping system are detected with reasonable assurance.

In our opinion, based on the findings of our audit, the cash flow statement for the financial year 
2018 has been properly derived from the annual financial statements for the financial year 2018 
as well as the underlying bookkeeping system in accordance with the provisions of German com
mercial law.

Saarbriicken, 12 September 2019

PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH 
Wirtschaftsprufungsgesellschaft

tr ppa. Roman Woll 
' Wirtschaftspriifer

Michael Rohkåmper 
Wirtschaftspriifer 
(German Public Auditor) (German Public Auditor)

Vorsitzender des Aufsichtsrats: WP StB Dr. Norbert Vogelpoth
Geschåftsfuhrer: WP StB Dr. Ulrich Stork, WP StB Dr. Peter Bartels, Dr. Joachim Englert, WP StB Petra Justenhoven, WP Clemens Koch, StB Marius Mdller,
WP StB Uwe Rittmann, StB RA Klaus Schmidt, StB CPA Mark Smith
Sitz der Gesellschaft: Frankfurt am Main, Amtsgericht Frankfurt am Main HRB 107858
PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbFI Wirtschaftsprufungsgesellschaft ist Mitglied von PricewaterhouseCoopers International, einer Company limited by guarantee registriert in England 
und Wales



Appendix

PartnerGate GmbH, 80807 Munchen

Cash Flow Statement for the financial year from 1 January through December 31, 2018

2018 2017
EuroEuro

Profit for the period (Net income for the financial year) 
+ Depreciation, amortisation of fixed assets 

+/- Increase / decrease (-) in provisions 
+ Decrease in trade receivables and other assets not 

related to investing or financing activities 
+ Increase in trade payables and other liabilities not 

related to investing or financing activities 
+/- Other non-cash expenses/income 

Interest income 
+ Interest expense
+ Income tax expense

Income taxes paid

478.923,59
128.250,90
-11.151,31

630.324,22
127.568,56
84.731,31

47.753,56 98.477,80

290.013,34
21.600,62

-305,65
18.166,67

237.354,56
-294.667,04

5.505,93
13.278,75
-2.914,75

0,00
310.829,49
-323.483,15

= Cash flows from operating activities 915.939,24 944.318,16

Payments to acquire intangible fixed assets 
Payments to acquire tangible fixed assets 

+ Interest received

-6.084,96
-32.899,60

2.914,75

0,00
-28.126,90

305,65

= Cash flows from investing activities -27.821,25 -36.069,81

Cash payments to shareholders 
+ Proceeds from borrowings 

Interest paid

-920.044,63
500.000,00

-3.166,67

-1.205.749,60
0,00
0,00

= Cash flows from financing activities -423.211,30 -1.205.749,60

Net change in cash funds 
+ Cash funds at beginning of period

464.906,69
86.557,18

-297.501,25
384.058,43

= Cash funds at end of period 551.463,87 86.557,18
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BALANCE SHEET as for the year ending 31 December 2018 

RegistryGate GmbH, 80807 Munich 

 

ASSETS                                                                                                                                                                                                         LIABILITIES   
 

 

 Fiscal Year  Previous Year 
EUR EUR EUR 

Fiscal Year  Previous Year 
EUR EUR EUR 

 

A. Fixed assets 
 

I. Tangible assets 
 

1. Other assets, factory and 
office equipment  1.00  1.00 

 
B. Current assets 

 
I. Receivables and other 

assets 
 

1. Amounts due from affiliated 
companies 219,585.75 1,700.53 

2.  Other assets 219,887.98  439,473.73  279,122.13 
 

II. Cash on hand, cash at 
credit institutions and cheques 34,391.88 31,212.56 

473,865.61 312,035.22 
 

C. Deferred expenses and accrued income  409.32 587.00 

A. Equity capital 
 

I. Subscribed capital  25,000.00  25,000.00 
 

II.   Loss carried forward  24,490.76-  24,871.20- 
 

III.   Net income for the year 1,408.47 380.44 
1,917.71 509.24 

 
B. Reserves 

 
1.  Other reserves  28,660.00  26,500.00 

 
C. Payables 

 
1. Trade accounts 

payable  343,257.78  174,181.62 
2. Payables to 

affiliated companies 88,510.06 94,495.25 
3.  Other payables 11,930.38  443,698.22  16,937.11 

285,613.98 

 
 

    

 

474,275.93 312,623.22 474,275.93 312,623.22 
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INCOME STATEMENT for the period from 01.01. to 31.12.2018 
 

RegistryGate GmbH, 80807 Munich 
 

 
 

  Fiscal year Previous year 
EUR EUR EUR 

 
1. Sales revenue 

  
5,873,745.69 

 
5,433,228.07 

2. Overall performance 
 

5,873,745.69 5,433,228.07 

3. Other operating income 
   

  777.74 479.52 

4. Material expenditure 
   

a) Cost of    

products procured 1,230,181.42 991,173.43 
b) Cost of purchased services 4,541,564.28 4,366,054.63 

 5,771,745.70 5,357,228.06 
 

5. Labour costs 
a) Wages and salaries  55,067.04  51,476.64 
b) Social security contributions and expenses for pensions 

and support    12,829.95  12.085.04 
  67,896.99 63,561.68 

 
6. Other operating expenses  

 33,472.27 12,537.96 

7. Income tax  0.00  0.55- 

8. Earnings after tax 1,408.47 380.44 

 
9. Net income for the year 

 
1,408.47 

 
380.44 
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RegistryGate GmbH, 80807 Munich 
 

 

Notes to the annual financial statements 
 

General information on the annual financial statements 

The annual financial statements of RegistryGate GmbH have been prepared in accordance with the provisions 

of Sections 242 et seqq. of the German Commercial Code (HGB), taking into account the supplementary 

provisions for small corporations. 

 

In addition to these principles, the provisions set down in the German Limited Liability Companies Act were 

also to be applied. 

The total cost method was selected for the income statement. 

According to the thresholds for determining the size of a company set down in § 267 HGB [German 

Commercial Code], the company is a small corporation. 

 
Data maintained by Registration Court to identify the company 

 

Company name registered at court: RegistryGate GmbH 

 
Company seat registered at court: Munich 

 
Registration entry: Commercial Register 

 
Registration Court Munich 

 
Register No.: 181621 

 
Information on accounting and valuation methods 

Accounting and valuation principles 
 

Tangible fixed assets are recorded at acquisition or production cost and, if subject to wear, less scheduled 

depreciation. The useful life of fixtures and equipment depreciated as at the balance sheet date up to the 

memo value was three years ago. 

 
Scheduled depreciation is undertaken on a linear basis according to the expected useful life of the assets. 

 
Receivables and other assets are recognised at nominal value, less appropriate deductions for recognisable 

impairment under the principle of lower of cost or market value. Receivables in foreign currencies are 

translated using the exchange rate at the time of acquisition under the principle of lower of cost or market 

value. 

 
Cash on hand, cash at banks and cheques are recognised at their nominal value. 

 
 

Deferred expenses and accrued income include expenses prior to the accounting date insofar as they 
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RegistryGate GmbH, 80807 Munich 
 

 
represent expenses for a specific period following the accounting date. Equity capital is recognised at face 

value. 

 

Reserves are recorded at the settlement amount dictated by prudent business judgment and, if applicable, in 

consideration of expected future price and cost changes. 

 

Payables are recorded at the settlement amount. 

 
Principles for translation of foreign currency items into Euros 

 

The annual financial statements contain items in foreign currency, which have been translated into Euros. 

 
The foreign currency items are translated using the officially published average exchange rates of the 

respective months during the year. As at the balance sheet date, the receivables, cash and cash equivalents 

and liabilities are valued using the applicable average spot exchange rate. 

 
Accounting policies and valuation methods that are different from the previous year 

 

The accounting and valuation methods previously used were still applied for the annual financial statements. 

 
There was no fundamental change in accounting and valuation methods compared with the previous year. 
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RegistryGate GmbH, 80807 Munich 

Information and explanatory notes on individual items of the balance sheet and 
income statement 

 
Asset schedule for the individual items of fixed assets 

 

The development of the assets for each item on the balance sheet is shown in the asset schedule. 

 
Information on receivables with a term to maturity of greater than one year 

 

The amount of receivables with a remaining term to maturity greater than one year amounts to EUR 873.36 

(previous year: EUR 0.00). 

 
Information on notes on remaining term to maturity 

 

As in the previous year, there are no payables with a residual term to maturity of greater than one year. 

 
Information on receivables from and payables to shareholders 

 

The amount of the receivables from shareholders amounts to EUR 214,438.50 (previous year: EUR 0.00). 

As in the previous year, the receivables from affiliated companies as at the balance sheet date result 

deliveries and services. 

 
The amount of the payables to shareholders (included in the "Payables to affiliated companies") amounts to 

EUR 0.00 (previous year: EUR 42,940.10). As in the previous year, the payables to affiliated companies as 

at the balance sheet date result deliveries and services. 

 
Currency translation 

 

Of the other operating income, EUR 5.07 (previous year: EUR 0.00) and other operating expenses EUR 13.68 

(previous year: EUR 0.00) are translated from foreign currencies. 

 
 

Other information 

Average number of employees during the fiscal year 
 

The average number of employees during the fiscal year remained at the previous year's level of 1. 
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RegistryGate GmbH, 80807 Munich 
 

 

Proposal for the appropriation of profit 

 

Management, in agreement with the shareholders, suggests the following appropriation of profit: 

 

The net income for the year amounts to EUR 1,408.47. This will be carried forward to new account. 

 
During the last fiscal year, the company was managed by Mr Fritz Diekmann and Mr Johannes Steck. 

 
Information on contingent liabilities and other financial obligations 

 

There were no other significant financial obligations at the balance sheet date. At the balance sheet date, 

there were payables from loans granted with a bank guarantee in the amount of EUR 294,000.00 and USD 

100,000.00. 

 
Within the scope of loan financing of the group parent company CentralNic PLC, London, England, (affiliated 

company), the company pledged assets to a credit institution with the agreement of 1 October 2018. The 

assets pledged relate primarily to all present and future patents, trademark rights, utility models, designs, 

licenses, domains and exploitation rights. 

 

 
Group affiliation 

 

Key Systems GmbH, St. Ingbert, holds 100% of the shares of shareholder of RegistryGate GmbH, 

PartnerGate GmbH (smallest scope of consolidation). 

As at 31 December 2018, RegistryGate GmbH was included in the consolidated financial statements of 

CentralNic Group PLC, London, United Kingdom (Companies House 0857 6358). CentralNic Group PLC is 

the only group company that prepares consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2018. 

 
 

Munich, 14 August 2019 

 
 

 
......................................................... ......................................................... 

 
Fritz Diekmann Johannes Steck 

Managing Director  Managing Director 
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Asset schedule as at 31.12.2018 

RegistryGate GmbH, Munich 

 

        

  
 

Acquisition costs 

   
 

Write-downs 

  
 

Book values 

 
 

Book values 

Opening balance Additions  Disposals Closing 
balance 

Opening 
balance 

Additions  Disposals Closing 
balance 

As at: As at: 

01.01.2018  31.12.2018 01.01.2018  31.12.2018 31.12.2018 31.12.2017 

EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR 

I. Tangible assets        

Other plant, fixtures and 

equipment 

 
1,553.74 

 
0.00 

 
0.00 

 
1,553.74 

 
1,552.74 

 
0.00 

 
0.00 

 
1,552.74 

 
1.00 

 
1.00 

 
1,553.74 0.00 0.00 1,553.74 1,552.74 0.00 0.00 1,552.74 1.00 1.00 
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AUDIT CERTIFICATE ISSUED BY INDEPENDENT AUDITOR OF ANNUAL FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS 

 
To RegistryGate GmbH, Munich 

 
Audit opinion 

 
We have audited the annual financial statements of RegistryGate GmbH, Munich, comprising the 

balance sheet as at 31 December 2018, the income statement for the fiscal year from 01 January 

to 31 December 2018, and the notes to the financial statements, together with a presentation of 

the accounting and valuation methods. 

In our opinion, based on the findings of our audit, 

 
• the attached annual financial statements have been prepared in all material respects in 

accordance with German commercial law and give a true and fair view in compliance with the 

German principles of proper accounting of the assets and financial position of the company 

for the year ending 31 December 2018, as well as the profit situation for the fiscal year from 

01 January to 31 December 2018. 

 
Pursuant to § 322 Subsection 3 Sentence 1 HGB [German Commercial Code], we declare that our 

audit has not led to any reservations to the legal compliance of the annual financial statements. 

Basis for the audit opinion 

 
We conducted our audit of the annual financial statements in accordance with § 317 HGB and 

German generally accepted standards for the audit of financial statements promulgated by the 

Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer [Institute of Public Auditors in Germany] (IDW). Our responsibilities 

under those requirements and principles are described in greater detail in the section 

‘Responsibilities of the auditor for the audit of the annual financial statements’ of our audit 

certificate. We are independent of the company in accordance with the requirements of German 

commercial and professional law and have fulfilled our other German professional responsibilities 

in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient 

and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions on the annual financial statements. 

Responsibility of the legal representatives for the annual financial statements 

 

The legal representatives are responsible for the preparation of the annual financial statements, 

which comply in all material respects with the requirements of German commercial law, and for the 

annual financial statements to give a true and fair view of the assets, financial position and profit 

situation of the company in compliance with German generally accepted accounting principles. In 

addition, the legal representatives are responsible  
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for such internal control as, in accordance with German generally accepted accounting principles, 

they have deemed necessary to enable the preparation of the annual financial statements, which 

are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. 

In preparing the annual financial statements, the legal representatives are responsible for 

assessing the ability of the company to continue as a going concern. They also have the 

responsibility for disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to the continuation of the business 

activities. Furthermore, they are responsible for the financial reporting based on the accounting 

principles of the going concern provided no actual or legal circumstances conflict therewith. 

Responsibility of the auditor for the audit of the annual financial statements 

 

Our aim is to obtain reasonable assurance on whether the annual financial statements as a whole 

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an audit 

certificate containing our audit opinion of the annual financial statements. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but it is not a guarantee that an audit conducted 

in accordance with § 317 HGB and in compliance with the German generally accepted standards for 

the audit of financial statements promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer [Institute of 

Public Auditors in Germany] (IDW) will always detect a material misstatement. Misstatements may 

arise from irregularities or error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they 

could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 

these annual financial statements. 

We exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We 

also 

• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the annual financial statements, 

whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures in response to those risks, 

and obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for our audit opinions. 

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than from 

error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or 

the override of internal controls. 
 

• obtain an understanding of the internal control system relevant to the audit of the 

annual financial statements in order to design appropriate audit procedures in the 

given circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an audit opinion on the 

effectiveness of this 
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company system.

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used by the legal representatives and the 
reasonableness of estimates made by the legal representatives and related disclosures.

• conclude on the appropriateness of the accounting policies applied by the legal
representatives to the going concern and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a 
material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions, which may cast significant 
doubt on the company’s ability to continue its business activities. If we conclude that a 
material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in the audit certificate to the 
related disclosures in the annual financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
modify our respective audit opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 
obtained up to the date of the audit certificate. However, future events or conditions may 
prevent the company from being able to continue its business activities.

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the annual financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the annual financial statements present the underlying 
transactions and events in such a manner that the annual financial statements give a true and 
fair view of the assets, financial position and profit situation of the company in compliance 
with German generally accepted accounting principles.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, amongst other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, 
including any deficiencies in the internal control system identified in the course of our 
audit.

[Stamp: PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH 
Audit firm
FRANKFURT AM MAIN 
Saarbriicken Branch]

Saarbriicken, 14 August 2019

PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH 
Audit firm

[Signature]
Michael Rohkamper 
Auditor

[Signature] 
ppa. Roman Woll 
Auditor

Certified to be a true translation 
Saarbrucken. 29 August 2019 
David Wild, sworn translator Saar/a
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PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH 
Wirtschaftspriifungsgesellschaft

Europaallee 31 
66113 Saarbriicken 
www.pwc.de

Tel: +49 681 9814-1 60 
Fax: 206

pwc

Auditor’s Report

To RegistryGate GmbH, Miinchen

We have audited the cash flow statement for the financial year from i January through Decem
ber 31, 2018 derived by the company from the annual financial statements for the financial year 
2018 as well as the underlying bookkeeping system. The cash flow statement supplements the 
annual financial statements of RegistryGate GmbH, Miinchen, for the financial year 2018 that 
have been prepared on the basis of the provisions of German commercial law.

The preparation of the cash flow statement for financial year 2018 in accordance with the provi
sions of German commercial law is the responsibility of the company’s management.

Our responsibility is to express an opinion, based on our audit, as to whether the cash flow state
ment for the financial year 2018 has been properly derived from the annual financial statements 
for financial year 2018 as well as the underlying bookkeeping system in accordance with the pro
visions of German commercial law. The subject matter of this engagement does neither include 
the audit of the underlying annual financial statements nor the underlying bookkeeping system.

We have planned and performed our audit in accordance with the IDW Auditing Practice State
ment: Audit of Additional Elements of Financial Statements (IDW AuPS 9.960.2) in such a way 
that material errors in the derivation of the cash flow statement from the annual financial state
ments as well as the underlying bookkeeping system are detected with reasonable assurance.

In our opinion, based on the findings of our audit, the cash flow statement for the financial year 
2018 has been properly derived from the annual financial statements for the financial year 2018 
as well as the underlying bookkeeping system in accordance with the provisions of German com
mercial law.

Saarbriicken, 12 September 2019

PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH 
Wirtschaftsprufungsgesellschaft

Michael Rohkamper 
Wirtschaftspriifer 
(German Public Auditor)

sfoppa. Roman Woll 
" Wirtschaftspriifer

(German Public Auditor)

Vorsitzender des Aufsichtsrats WP StB Dr. Norbert Vogelpoth
Geschåftsfuhrer: WP StB Dr. Ulrich Stork, WP StB Dr. Peter Bartels, Dr. Joachim Englert, WP StB Petra Justenhoven, WP Clemens Koch, StB Marius Mdller,
WP StB Uwe Rittmann, StB RA Klaus Schmidt, StB CPA Mark Smith
Sitz der Gesellschaft: Frankfurt am Main, Amtsgericht Frankfurt am Main HRB 107858
PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH Wirtschaftsprufungsgesellschaft ist Mitglied von PricewaterhouseCoopers International, einer Company limited by guarantee registriert in England 
und Wales
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RegistryGate GmbH, 80807 Munchen

Cash Flow Statement for the financial year from 1 January through December 31,2018

2018 2017
EUR EUR

Profit for the period (Net income for the financial year) 
+ Increase in provisions

Increase other assets not related to investing or 
financing activities

+ Increase in trade receivables and other liabilities not 
related to investing or financing activities 
Income tax income 

+ Income taxes paid

1.408,47 
2.160,00

380,44
20.590,00

-158.473,39 -93.634,89

158.084,24 65.041,50
-0,550,00

0,00 7,00

= Cash flows from operating activities 3.179,32 -7.616,50

Cash flows from investing activities 0,00 0,00

Cash flows from financing activities 0,00 0,00

Net change in cash funds 
+ Cash funds at beginning of period

3.179,32
31.212,56

-7.616,50
38.829,06

= Cash funds at end of period 34.391,88 31.212,56
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Balance sheet as for the year ending 31 December 2018 

KSregistry GmbH, 66386 St. Ingbert 

 
 

ASSETS LIABILITIES 
 

 

 Fiscal Year  Previous Year 
Euros Euros Euros 

 Fiscal Year  Previous Year 
Euros Euros Euros 

 

A. Fixed assets 
 

I. Intangible assets 
 

1. Purchased concessions, industrial property rights and similar 
rights and assets such as licences to such 
rights and assets 1,923,400.00 2,300,498.00 

2. Goodwill  811,416.00  902,416.00 
2,734,816.00 3,202,914.00 

A. Equity capital 
 

I. Subscribed capital  25,000.00  25,000.00 
 

II.   Capital reserve 844,817.90 691,041.93 
 

III.   Net income for the year 127,966.48- 153,775.97 
741,851.42 869,817.90 

 

B. Reserves 

II. Tangible Assets 
 

Other plant, fixtures and equipment  12.00  7,800.00 
2,734.828.00 3,210,714.00 

 

B. Current assets 

 
1. Tax provisions 0.00 169.12 
2. Other reserves   30,200.00  4,200.00   

30,200.00  4.369.12 
 

C. Liabilities 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

and cheques 298,028.13 95,982.88 
859,230.50 331,679.43 

 

C. Deferred expenses and accrued income  6,840.00  10,967.16 
 

3,624,265.16 3,553,360.59 3,624,265.16 3,553,360.59 

    

 
 
 

2
 

1. Trade accounts payable 41,486.91 3,668.06 

I. Inventories 2. Amounts owed to affiliated companies 
3. Amounts owed to affiliated companies with whom there is a 

2,487,791.44 2,613,004.64 

Work in progress 23,366.66 0.00 shareholding relationship 34.16 0.00 
   4. Other liabilities    115,084.57      62,500.87 

II. Receivables and other assets    2,644,397.08 2,679,173.57 

1. Trade accounts receivable 367,808.05 133,289.75 D. Deferred expenses and accrued income 207,816.66 0.00 
2. Amounts due from affiliated companies 7,854.91 47,893.70  
3. Amounts due from companies with whom there is a shareholding 

relationship 
 

0.00 
 

111.28 
4. Other assets    185,539.41      54,401.82 

 561,202.37 235,696.55 

III. Cash on hand, cash at credit institutions 
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Income statement for the period from 01.01. to 31.12.2018 
 

KSregistry GmbH, 66386 St. Ingbert 
 

 
 

 
Euros 

Fiscal Year 
Euros 

Previous 
Year 
Euros 

 

1. Sales revenue 
 

1,007,422.29 
 

466,720.59 

2. Increase in the stock of work in progress   23,366.66   0.00 

3. Overall performance 1,030,788.95 466,720.59 

4. Other operating income  
7,815.74 

 
12,529.15 

5. Material expenditure 
  

Cost of purchased services 317,515.59 145,477.71 

 317,515.59 145,477.71 

6. Depreciation of intangible and tangible fixed assets  

 
675,886.00 

 

 
76,601.00 

7. Other operating expenses  
60,694.05 

 
47,974.33 

8. Other interest and similar income 0.00 6,000.00 

9. Interest and similar expenses 124,791.69 358.89 

10. Income tax   12,316.16-    61,061.84 

11. Earnings after tax 127,966.48- 153,775.97 

 
12. Net income for the year 

 
127,966.48- 

 
153,775.97 
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Notes 

General information on the annual financial statements 

The annual financial statements for KSregistry GmbH were prepared in accordance with the accounting 

principles of the German Commercial Code. 

 
In addition to these principles, the provisions set down in the German Limited Liability Companies Act were 
also to be applied. 
 
The total cost method was selected for the income statement. 

 
According to the thresholds for determining the size of a company set down in § 267 HGB [German 
Commercial Code], the company is a small corporation. 

 
The deferred taxes are reported in the balance sheet (Section 274 (1) sentence 3 HGB). To the extent that 

there is an overall tax relief (net asset position), the option to capitalize in accordance with Section 274 (1) 

sentence 2 HGB is not exercised. A resulting tax burden is recognised as deferred tax in the tax provisions. 

The income statement recognises the change of latent taxes separately under the item “Income tax“. 

 
Data maintained by Registration Court to identify the company 

 

Company name registered at court: KSregistry GmbH 

 
Company seat registered at court: St. Ingbert 

 
Registration entry: Commercial Register 

 
Registration Court Saarbrücken 

 
Register No.: 100040 
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Information on accounting and valuation methods 

Accounting and valuation principles 
 

Purchased intangible assets are recorded at acquisition cost and, if subject to wear, less scheduled 

depreciation.  The useful life of intangible assets is between 3 and 10 years. 

 
Purchased goodwill is written off over its scheduled useful life of 10 years.  See the determination of the useful 

life below. 

 

Tangible fixed assets are recorded at acquisition or production cost and, if subject to wear, less scheduled 

depreciation. 

 
Scheduled depreciation is undertaken on a linear and digressive basis according to the expected useful life of 

the assets. The useful life of financial assets is between 3 and 10 years. 

 
If necessary, the lower value at the balance sheet date is used. 

 
Work in progress is valued at acquisition or production cost, taking into account the principle of lower of cost 

or market value. A loss-free valuation was made, i.e., to the extent that the estimated selling prices less costs 

incurred up to the time of sale lead to a lower fair value, appropriate write-downs were made. 

 
Receivables and other assets are recognised at nominal value, less appropriate deductions for recognisable 

impairment under the principle of lower of cost or market value. Receivables in foreign currencies are translated 

using the exchange rate at the time of acquisition under the principle of lower of cost or market value. 

 
Cash on hand, cash at banks and cheques are recognised at their nominal value. 

 
 

Deferred expenses and accrued income include expenses prior to the accounting date insofar as they 

represent expenses for a specific period following the accounting date. 

 
Equity capital is recognised at face value. 

 
 

Reserves are recorded at the settlement amount dictated by prudent business judgment and, if applicable, in 

consideration of expected future price and cost changes. 

Tax provisions include taxes in relation to the fiscal year in question that have not yet been assessed. 

Payables are recorded at the settlement amount. 
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Deferred income and accrued expenses include income prior to the accounting date insofar as they 

represent income for a specific period following the accounting date. 
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KSregistry GmbH, 66386 St. Ingbert 
 

 

Deferred taxes are formed pursuant to Section 274 (1) HGB for differences between the commercial values of 

assets, liabilities and deferred expenses and accrued income, and their tax values, which are expected to be 

reduced in future financial years. They arise through the formation of an investment deduction. 

 
Principles for translation of foreign currency items into Euros 

 

The annual financial statements contain items in foreign currency, which have been translated into Euros. 

 
The foreign currency items are translated using the officially published average exchange rates of the 

respective months during the year. As at the balance sheet date, the receivables, cash and cash equivalents 

and liabilities are valued using the applicable average spot exchange rate. 

 
Accounting policies and valuation methods that are different from the previous year 

 

The accounting and valuation methods previously used were still applied for the annual financial statements. 

 
There was no fundamental change in accounting and valuation methods compared with the previous year. 

 

Information and explanatory notes on individual items of the balance sheet and 
income statement 

 
 

Asset schedule for the individual items of fixed assets 
 

The development of the assets for each item on the balance sheet is shown in the asset schedule. 

 
In 2017, goodwill was acquired for consideration.  The expected useful life of the acquired goodwill cannot be 

estimated reliably. Therefore, in accordance with Section 253 (3) sentence 3 HGB, a useful life of 10 years 

has been assumed. The fundamental reasons for this were: 

• the nature and expected duration of the acquired company do not indicate a restriction with regard 
to the expected useful life. 

• the offered service has no natural product life cycle, which indicates a limited time frame for the 
possibility of being able to offer this service on the market. 

 
 

As in the previous year, the receivables all have a maximum term to maturity of less than one year. 

As in the previous year, the receivables from affiliated companies as at the balance sheet date result from 

deliveries and services. 
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KSregistry GmbH, 66386 St. Ingbert 
 

 

The tax provisions include provisions for deferred taxes in the amount of EUR 0.00 (previous year: EUR 

169.12). 

 

 
EUR 2,100 k of the liabilities have a remaining term to maturity of more than one year (previous year: € 2,400 

k). Of the amounts owed, EUR 850 k (previous year: EUR 1,150 k) have a remaining term to maturity of over 

five years. As in the previous year, the amounts owed to affiliated companies as at the balance sheet date 

result mainly from a long-term loan. 

 
Currency translation 

 

Of the other operating income, EUR 5 k (previous year: EUR 7 k) and other operating expenses EUR 2 

(previous year: EUR 5 k) are translated from foreign currencies. 

 

 
Proposal for the appropriation of profit 

 

Management, in agreement with the shareholders, suggests the following appropriation of profit: 

 
The net loss for the year amounts to EUR -127,966.48. This will be carried forward to new account. 

 
Other required disclosures 

 
 

During the last fiscal year, the company was managed by Mr. Alexander Siffrin and Mr. Oliver Fries. 

 
Information on contingent liabilities and other financial obligations 

 

As at the balance sheet date, there were other financial obligations under a lease agreement in the amount of 

EUR 11 k per month. This is concluded for an indefinite period of time and may be terminated with a period of 

notice of three months. 

 
Within the scope of loan financing of the group parent company CentralNic PLC, London, England, (affiliated 

company), the company pledged assets to a credit institution with the agreement of 1 October 2018. The 

assets pledged relate primarily to all present and future patents, trademark rights, utility models, designs, 

licenses, domains and exploitation rights. 
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Information in accordance with § 42 Subsection 3 GmbHG [German Limited Liability 
Companies Act] 

 

The shareholders are subject to the following rights and obligations: 
 

Items  

 
Receivables 

Payables 

 
Group affiliation 

Amount 

 
0.00 Euros (previous year: EUR 5 k) 

0.00 Euros (previous year: EUR 0 k) 

 
 

Key Systems GmbH, St. Ingbert, holds 100% of the shares of KSregistry GmbH (smallest scope of 

consolidation). As at 31 December 2018, KSregistry GmbH was included in the consolidated financial 

statements of CentralNic Group PLC, London, United Kingdom (Companies House 0857 6358). 

CentralNic Group PLC is the only group company that prepares consolidated financial statements as 

at 31 December 2018. 

 
 

 
St. Ingbert, 14 August 2019 
  

[Signature] 

Alexander Siffrin  

Managing Director 

[Signature] 

Oliver Fries 

Managing Director 
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Gross asset schedule as at 31.12.2018 – Commercial Law  

KSregistry GmbH 

St. Ingbert 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

I. Intangible assets 

1. Purchased concessions, 

industrial property rights and 

similar rights and assets 

such as licences to such 

rights and assets 

 

 
2. Goodwill 

 
Intangible assets 

 

 
II. Tangible assets 

 

Other plant, fixtures and 

equipment 

 

 
Tangible assets 

1
1
 

Acquisition and 

production costs 

Additions Disposals Acquisition and 

production costs

Accumulated 

depreciation 

Depreciation in the fiscal 

year 

Disposals Accumulated 

depreciation 

Appreciation in the 

fiscal year 

Book value Book value 

01.01.2018   31.12.2018 01.01.2018   31.12.2018  31.12.2018 31.12.2017 

EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR 

 
 

2,423,811.00 

 
 

200,000.00 

  
 

2,623,811.00 

 
 

123,313.00 

 
 

577,098.00 

  
 

700,411.00 

  
 

1,923,400.00 

 
 

2,300,498.00 

 
910,000.00 

  
910,000.00 

 
7,584.00 

 
91,000.00 

 
98,584.00 

 
811,416.00 

 
902,416.00 

 
3,333,811.00 

 
200,000.00 

 
3,533,811.00 

 
130,897.00 

 
668,098.00 

 
798,995.00 

 
2,734,816.00 

 
3,202,914.00 

 

 
92,724.18 

  

 
92,724.18 

 

 
84,924.18 

 

 
7,788.00 

 

 
92,712.18 

 

 
12.00 

 

 
7,800.00 

 
92,724.18 

  
92,724.18 

 
84,924.18 

 
7,788.00 

 
92,712.18 

 
12.00 

 
7,800.00 

 

3,426,535.18 
 

200,000.00 
 

3,626,535.18 
 

215,821.18 
 

675,886.00 
 

891,707.18 
 

2,734,828.00 
 

3,210,714.00 
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AUDIT CERTIFICATE ISSUED BY THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR OF THE ANNUAL 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
To KSregistry GmbH, St. Ingbert 

 
Audit opinion 

 
We have audited the annual financial statements of KSregistry GmbH St. Ingbert, comprising the 

balance sheet for the year ending 31 December 2018, the income statement for the fiscal year from 

01 January to 31 December 2018, and the notes to the financial statements, together with a 

presentation of the accounting policies. 

In our opinion, based on the findings of our audit, 

 
• the attached annual financial statements have been prepared in all material respects in 

accordance with German commercial law and give a true and fair view in compliance with the 

German principles of proper accounting of the assets and financial position of the company 

for the year ending 31 December 2018, as well as the profit situation for the fiscal year from 

01 January to 31 December 2018. 

 
Pursuant to § 322 Subsection 3 Sentence 1 HGB [German Commercial Code], we declare that our 

audit has not led to any reservations to the legal compliance of the annual financial statements. 

Basis for the audit opinion 

 
We conducted our audit of the annual financial statements in accordance with § 317 HGB and 

German generally accepted standards for the audit of financial statements promulgated by the 

Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer [Institute of Public Auditors in Germany] (IDW). Our responsibilities 

under those requirements and principles are described in greater detail in the section 

‘Responsibilities of the auditor for the audit of the annual financial statements’ of our audit 

certificate. We are independent of the company in accordance with the requirements of German 

commercial and professional law and have fulfilled our other German professional responsibilities 

in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient 

and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions on the annual financial statements. 

Responsibility of the legal representatives for the annual financial statements 

 

The legal representatives are responsible for the preparation of the annual financial statements, 

which comply in all material respects with the requirements of German commercial law, and for the 

annual financial statements to give a true and fair view of the assets, financial position and profit 

situation of the company in compliance with German generally accepted accounting principles.  In 

addition, the legal representatives are responsible 
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for such internal control as, in accordance with German generally accepted accounting principles, 

they have deemed necessary to enable the preparation of the annual financial statements, which 

are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. 

In preparing the annual financial statements, the legal representatives are responsible for 

assessing the ability of the company to continue as a going concern.  They also have the 

responsibility for disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to the continuation of the business 

activities.  Furthermore, they are responsible for the financial reporting based on the accounting 

principles of the going concern provided no actual or legal circumstances conflict therewith.  

Responsibility of the auditor for the audit of the annual financial statements 

 

Our aim is to obtain reasonable assurance on whether the annual financial statements as a whole 

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an audit 

certificate containing our audit opinion of the annual financial statements. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but it is not a guarantee that an audit conducted 

in accordance with § 317 HGB and in compliance with the German generally accepted standards for 

the audit of financial statements promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer [Institute of 

Public Auditors in Germany] (IDW) will always detect a material misstatement. Misstatements may 

arise from irregularities or error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they 

could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of 

these annual financial statements. 

We exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We 

also 

• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the annual financial statements, 

whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures in response to those risks, 

and obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for our audit opinions. 

The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than from 

error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or 

the override of internal controls. 
 

• obtain an understanding of the internal control system relevant to the audit of the 

annual financial statements in order to design appropriate audit procedures in the given 

circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an audit opinion on the effectiveness 

of this 
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company system.

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used by the legal representatives and 

the reasonableness of estimates made by the legal representatives and related 

disclosures.

• conclude on the appropriateness of the accounting policies applied by the legal
representatives to the going concern and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a 

material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions, which may cast significant 
doubt on the company's ability to continue its business activities. If we conclude that a 

material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in the audit certificate to the 

related disclosures in the annual financial statements or, if such disclosures are 

inadequate, to modify our respective audit opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit 
evidence obtained up to the date of the audit certificate. However, future events or 

conditions may prevent the company from being able to continue its business activities.

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the annual financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the annual financial statements 

present the underlying transactions and events in such a manner that the annual 
financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets, financial position and profit 
situation of the company in compliance with German generally accepted accounting 

principles.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, amongst other matters, the 

planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any 

deficiencies in the internal control system identified in the course of our audit.

[Stamp: PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH 

Audit firm
FRANKFURT AM MAIN 

Saarbriicken Branch]

Saarbrucken, 14 August 2019

PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH 
Audit firm

[Signature]
Michael Rohkamper 
Auditor

[Signature]
ppa. Roman Wolf 

Auditor

Certified to be a true translation 
Saarbrucken. 29 August 2019 
David Wild, sworn translator WW
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PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH 
Wirtschaftsprujungsgesellschaft

Europaallee 31 
66113 Saarbriicken 
www.pwc.de

Tel: +49 681 9814-1 60 
Fax: 206
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Auditor’s Report

To KSregistry GmbH, St. Ingbert

We have audited the cash flow statement for the financial year from i January through Decem
ber 31, 2018 derived by the company from the annual financial statements for the financial year 
2018 as well as the underlying bookkeeping system. The cash flow statement supplements the 
annual financial statements of KSregistry GmbH, St. Ingbert, for the financial year 2018 that 
have been prepared on the basis of the provisions of German commercial law.

The preparation of the cash flow statement for financial year 2018 in accordance with the provi
sions of German commercial law is the responsibility of the company’s management.

Our responsibility is to express an opinion, based on our audit, as to whether the cash flow state
ment for the financial year 2018 has been properly derived from the annual financial statements 
for financial year 2018 as well as the underlying bookkeeping system in accordance with the pro
visions of German commercial law. The subject matter of this engagement does neither include 
the audit of the underlying annual financial statements nor the underlying bookkeeping system.

We have planned and performed our audit in accordance with the IDW Auditing Practice State
ment: Audit of Additional Elements of Financial Statements (IDW AuPS 9.960.2) in such a way 
that material errors in the derivation of the cash flow statement from the annual financial state
ments as well as the underlying bookkeeping system are detected with reasonable assurance.

In our opinion, based on the findings of our audit, the cash flow statement for the financial year 
2018 has been properly derived from the annual financial statements for the financial year 2018 
as well as the underlying bookkeeping system in accordance with the provisions of German com
mercial law.

Saarbriicken, 12 September 2019

PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH 
Wirtschaftsprufungsgesellschaft

^ Michael Rohkamper /^ppa. Roman Woll 
u* WirtschaftspriiferWirtschaftspriifer 

(German Public Auditor) (German Public Auditor)

Vorsitzender des Aufsichtsrats: WP StB Dr. Norbert Vogelpoth
Geschåftsfiihrer: WP StB Dr. Ulrich Stork, WP StB Dr. Peter Bartels, Dr. Joachim Englert, WP StB Petra Justenhoven, WP Clemens Koch, StB Marius Moller,
WP StB Uwe Rittmann, StB RA Klaus Schmidt, StB CPA Mark Smith
Sitz der Gesellschaft: Frankfurt am Main, Amtsgericht Frankfurt am Main HRB 107858
PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH Wirtschaftspriifungsgesellschaft ist Mitglied von PricewaterhouseCoopers International, einer Company limited by guarantee registriert in England 
und Wales
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Cash Flow Statement for the financial year from 1 January through December 31, 2018

2018 2017
Euro Euro

Profit for the period (net loss/net income for the 
financial year)

+ Depreciation, amortisation of fixed assets 
+/- Increase / decrease (-) in provisions 
+/- Decrease / increase (-) in inventories 
+/- Decrease / increase in trade receivables and other 

assets not related to investing or financing activities 
+/- Increase / decrease in trade payables and other

liabilities not related to investing or financing activities 
+/- Other non-cash expenses/income 

Interest income 
+ Interest expense 

+/- Income tax expense/income (-)
+/- Income taxes paid

-127.966,48
675.886,00
26.000,00

-23.366,66

153.775,97
76.601,00
-5.720,00

0,00

-200.454,20 64.511,00

298.248,50
7.697,98

-31.855,10
-1.585,45
-6.000,00

358,89
61.061,84

-177.191,16

0,00
124.791,69
-12.316,16

-120.319,98

= Cash flows from operating activities 133.956,99648.200,69

Payments to acquire intangible fixed assets 
+ Proceeds from disposal of long-term financial assets 
+ Interest received

-3.250.000,00
400.000,00

6.000,00

-200.000,00
0,00
0,00

= Cash flows from investing activities -2.844.000,00-200.000,00

+ Proceeds from borrowings
Cash repayments of borrowings 
Interest paid

2.600.000,000,00
0,00-250.000,00

-358,890,00

= Cash flows from financing activities 2.599.641,11-250.000,00

Net change in cash funds
+/- Effect on cash funds of exchange rate movements 
+ Cash funds at beginning of period

-110.401,90 
1.585,45 

204.799,33

198.200,69
3.844,56

95.982,88

= Cash funds at end of period 298.028,13 95.982,88
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Audit report

To the Shareholders of 
KeyDrive S.A.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the accompanying amended annual accounts give a true and fair view of the financial 
position of KeyDrive S.A. (the “Company”) as at 31 December 2018, and of the results of its operations 
for the year then ended in accordance with Luxembourg legal and regulatory requirements relating to 
the preparation and presentation of the annual accounts.

What we have audited

The Company’s annual accounts comprise:

• the abridged balance sheet as at 31 December 2018;

• the abridged profit and loss account for the year then ended;

• the statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

• the notes to the amended annual accounts, which include a summary of significant accounting 
policies.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with the Law of 23 July 2016 on the audit profession (Law of 
23 July 2016) and with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) as adopted for Luxembourg by the 
“Commission de Surveillance du Secteur Financier” (CSSF). Our responsibilities under the Law of 
23 July 2016 and ISAs as adopted for Luxembourg by the CSSF are further described in the 
“Responsibilities of the “Reviseur d’entreprises agree” for the audit of the annual accounts” section of 
our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion.

We are independent of the Company in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for 
Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) as adopted for Luxembourg 
by the CSSF together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the annual accounts. 
We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities under those ethical requirements.

Emphasis of Matter

We draw attention to Note 3 to these amended annual accounts, which indicates that following the 
decision taken by the Management Board these annual accounts replaces the previous ones including 
our signed opinion dated 2 September 2019 and approved by the Management Board on 
20 August 2019. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

PricewaterhouseCoopers, Société coopérative, 2 rue Gerhard Mercator, B.P. 1443, L-1014 Luxembourg 
T: +352 4948481, F: +352 494848 2900, www.pwc.lu

Cabinet de revision agréé. Expert-comptable (autorisation gouvernementale ^10028256)
R.C.S. Luxembourg B 65 477- TVA LU25482518
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Responsibilities of the Management Board and those charged with governance for the annual 
accounts

The Management Board is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the annual accounts 
in accordance with Luxembourg legal and regulatory requirements relating to the preparation and 
presentation of the annual accounts, and for such internal control as the Management Board determines 
is necessary to enable the preparation of annual accounts that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the annual accounts, the Management Board is responsible for assessing the Company's 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Management Board either intends to liquidate 
the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting 
process.

Responsibilities of the “Reviseur d’entreprises agree” for the audit of the annual accounts

The objectives of our audit are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the annual accounts as 
a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an audit report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with the Law of 23 July 2016 and with ISAs as adopted for 
Luxembourg by the CSSF will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can 
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these annual 
accounts.

As part of an audit in accordance with the Law of 23 July 2016 and with ISAs as adopted for Luxembourg 
by the CSSF, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the 
audit. We also:

identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the annual accounts, whether due to fraud 
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control;

obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control;

evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the Management Board;

2
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conclude on the appropriateness of the Management Board’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related 
to- events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a 
going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in 
our audit report to the related disclosures in the annual accounts or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of our audit report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease 
to continue as a going concern;

evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the annual accounts, including the 
disclosures, and whether the annual accounts represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit.

PricewaterhouseCoopers, Societe cooperative 
Represented by

Luxembourg, 18 December 2019

Patrick Schon
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SFVPQ)X20190513T15083302_0Q1 Page 1/2
RCSLNr.: B157525 Matricule: 2010 2233 60^

eCDF entry date:

ABRIDGED BALANCE SHEET

Financial year from 01/01/2018 to 0J 31/12/2018 f/n 03 USD

KeyDrive S.A.

1-3, Boulevard de la Foire 
L-1528 Luxembourg

ASSETS

Referenceis! Current year Previous year

A. Subscribed capital unpaid

I. Subscribed capital not called

II. Subscribed capital called but 
unpaid

1101 101 102

1103 103 104

05 105 106

B. Formation expenses 1107 107 108

C. Fixed assets

I. Intangible assets

II. Tangible assets

III. Financial assets

42.794.239,17 40.150.948,4409 109 no

mi 112m
4 4.684,58 3.738,0625 125 126

5 42.789.554,59 40.147.210,3835 135 136

D. Current assets

I. Stocks

II. Debtors

6.481.621,64 1.385.963,9551 151 1S2

1153 153 154

6 6.180.395,39 1.385.418,721163 163 164

a) becoming due and payable 
within one year

b) becoming due and payable 
after more than one year

6.180.395,39 1.385.418,721203 203 204

1205 205 206

III. Investments

IV. Cash at bank and in hand

1189 189 190

301.226,25 545,231197 197 198

E. Prepayments 8.545,93 7.464,81199 200

TOTAL (ASSETS) 49.284.406,74 41.544.377,20201 202

The notes in the annex form an integral part of the annual accounts
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SFVPQJX20190513T15083302_001 Page 2/2

RCSL Nr.: Bl 57525 Matricule: 2010 2233 604

CAPITAL, RESERVES AND LIABILITIES

Reference^} Current year Previous year

7A. Capital and reserves

I. Subscribed capital

II. Share premium account

III. Revaluation reserve

IV. Reserves

V. Profit or loss brought forward

VI. Profit or loss for the financial year

VII. Interim dividends

VIII. Capital investment subsidies

48.572.427,73 31.885.776,601301 301 302

4.733.437,004.733.437,001303 303 304

37.855.267,34 23.205.828,111305 305 306

1307 307 308

964.704,70 964.704,701309 309 310

2.981.806,79 2.459.794,071319 319 320

2.037.211,90 522.012,721321 321 322

1323 323 324

1325 325 326

8B. Provisions 3.962.000,001331 331 332

9C. Creditors 699.582,49 5.696.600,601435 435 436

a) becoming due and payable 
within one year

b) becoming due and payable 
after more than one year

5.696.600,60699.582,491453 453 454

1455 455 456

D. Deferred income 12.396,521403 403 404

TOTAL (CAPITAL, RESERVES AND LIABILITIES) 49.284.406,74 41.544.377,20405 406

The notes in the annex form an integral part of the annual accounts
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SFVPQIX2Q190513T15133405,001 Page 1/2

RCSLNr.: 8157525 Matricule: 2010 2233 604

eCDF entry date:

ABRIDGED PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT

Financial year from 01/01/2018 to 0J 31/12/2018 ffn m USD

KeyDrive S.A.

1-3, Boulevard de la Foire 
L-1528 Luxembourg

ABRIDGED PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT

Reference(s) Current year Previous year

1. to 5. Gross profit or loss -1.737.219,62 -345.075,106S1 6S1 652

6. Staff costs
a) Wages and salaries
b) Social security costs

i) relating to pensions
ii) other social security costs

c) Other staff costs

-381.899,15 -231.302,58605 605 606

-331.311,63 -189.278,14607 607 608

-50.587,52 -42.024,44609 609 610

-9.673,56 -19.305,27653 653 654

-40.913,96 -22,719,176S5 655 656

613 613 614

7. Value adjustments
a) in respect of formation expenses 

and of tangible and intangible 
fixed assets

b) in respect of current assets

4 -1.389,93 -40.977,02657 657 658

-1.389,93 -1.075,29659 6S9 660

-39.901,73661 661 662

8. Other operating expenses -315.096,92 -30.126,76621 621 622

The notes in the annex form an integral part of the annual accounts
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SFVPQIX20190513T1513340S_001 Page 2/2

RCSL Nr.: Bl 57525 Matricule: 2010 2233 604

Reference(s) Current year Previous year

109. Income from participating interests

a) derived from affiliated undertakings

b) other income from participating 
interests

3.853.912,16 2.423.629,44171S 71S 716

3.853.912,16 2.423.629,441717 717 718

1719 719 720

10. Income from other investments and 
loans forming part of the fixed assets

a) derived from affiliated undertakings

b) other income not included under a)

13 1.179.143,62 1.037.199,251721 721 722

1.179.143,62 1.037.199,251723 723 724

172S 726

11. Other interest receivable and similar 
income

a) derived from affiliated undertakings

b) other interest and similar income

341.224,30 170.528,531727 727 728

61.780,57 58.838,631729 729 730

279.443,73 111.689,901731 731 732

12. Share of profit or loss of
undertakings accounted for under the 
equity method 1663 663

13. Value adjustments in respect of 
financial assets and of investments 
held as current assets 1665 665 666

1114. Interest payable and similar expenses

a) concerning affiliated undertakings

b) other interest and similar expenses

-892.414,18 -2.473.674,761627 627 628

-7.558,95 -6.411,001629 629 630

-884.855,23 -2.467.263,761631 631 632

12 0,0015. Tax on profit or loss 17.583,531635 635 636

16. Profit or loss after taxation 2.046.260,28 527.784,531667 667 668

17. Other taxes not shown under items 
1 to 16 12 -9.048,38 -5.771,811637 637 638

18. Profit or loss for the financial year 2.037.211,90 522.012,721669 669 670

The notes in the annex form an integral part of the annual accounts
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Year 
ended 

31 Dec 2018

Year 
ended 

31 Dec 2017
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

$ $
Cash flow from operating activities

Profit or (loss) for the financial year 2,037,211.9 522,012.72

Adjustments for:

Adjustment on taxation

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Fair value movement of investment

Finance income/(cost) - net

Change in accruals and deferrals - net
(Increasej/Decrease in inventories, trade receivables and other assets 
lncrease/(Decrease) in trade and other payables 
lncrease/(Decrease) in provisions

9,048.38

1,389.93

(11,811.72)

1,075.29

39,901.73

(1,157,682.46)

404,780.35

(151,929.61)
(1,440,412.37)

1,705,988.9

(4,481,865.90)

299,965.07
(3,930,322.47)

7,566,228.58
(3,962,000.00)

Cash flow from operations (2,460,344.51) (88,077.17)

Income tax paid (5,666.77) (7,562.07)

Net cash flow from operating activities (2,466,011.28) (95,639.24)

Cash flow used in investing activities
(Purchase)/Sale of property, plant and equipment 
(Acquisition)/Disposal of a subsidiary, net of cash acquired

(2,336.45) (3,874.86)
(364,449.40)

Net cash flow used in investing activities (2,336.45) (368,324.26)

Cash flow used in financing activities
(Repayments) / Proceeds from borrowings (net)

Dividends received/(paid)

Interest (paid)/received - net

Net cash flow generated from / (used in) financing activities

(161,329.5)

1,996,229.44

(373,010.21)

2,979,681.42

(20,748.65)

2,958,932.77 1,461,889.73

Net (decreasej/increase in cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year

490,585.04
(189,358.79)

997,926.23

(1,187,285.02)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year (189,358.79)301,226.25
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Notes to the amended annual accounts as at 31 December 2018

NOTE 1 - GENERAL INFORMATION

KeyDrive S.A. (hereafter “the Company”) was incorporated under the name of NAMEDRIVE S.A. on 
1 December 2010 and organised under the laws of Luxembourg as a “Societe Anonyme” for an unlimited 
period. The registered office of the Company has been moved from 11-13 Boulevard de la Foire, L-1528 
to 1-3 Boulevard de la Foire, L-1528 Luxembourg on or around 26 January 2018.

The purposes for which the Company is formed are all transactions pertaining directly or indirectly to the 
taking of participating interests in any enterprises in whatever form, as well as the administration, 
management, control and the development of these participating interests.

It may, in particular, use its funds for the setting-up, the management, the development and the disposal 
of a portfolio consisting of any securities and patents of whatever origin, participate in the creation, 
development and the control of any enterprise, acquire by way of investment, subscription, underwriting 
option or otherwise, all securities and rights, and dispose of them by way of sale, transfer, exchange or 
otherwise; the Company may grant to the companies in which it has participating interests, any support, 
loans advances or guarantees.

The Company may take any action to safeguard its rights and carry out any transactions whatsoever which 
are directly or indirectly connected with its purposes and which are deemed to promote their 
development or accomplishment, always remaining within the limits of its articles of association and 
applicable law.

The Company’s financial year starts on 1 January and ends on 31 December of each year.

On 2 August 2018 CentralNic Group Pic acquired indirectly the entire share capital of KeyDrive S.A.. 
CentralNic Group Pic is the UK holding company of a group of companies which are engaged in the 
provision of global domain name services. CentralNic Group Pic has been admitted to trading in the AIM 
segment of the London Stock Exchange. As of 31 December 2018 the registered office and principal place 
of business of CentralNic Group Pic was 35-39 Moorgate, London EC2R6AR. From June 24, 2019, CentralNic 
Group Pic ’s registered office was transferred to 4th Floor, Saddlers House, 44 Gutter Lane, London, 
EC2V 6BR.

The Company is included in the consolidated accounts of CentralNic Group Pic, which is published and 
available on the website of London Stock Exchange. The conditions of articles 1711-5 (2) and 1711-6 of 
the law on commercial companies are fulfilled and the Company is hence exempted from the obligation 
to draw up consolidated accounts and a consolidated management report.

In connection to the acquisition of KeyDrive S.A. CentralNic Germany GmbH, a German holding company, 
was incorporated on 13 April 2018 under HRB 23747 with the object of administration the assets. The 
registered office of CentralNic Germany GmbH Kaiserplatz 7-9, 53113 Bonn, Germany. On 3 August 2018 
CentralNic Germany GmbH acquired the entire share capital of KeyDrive S.A..

CentralNic Group Pic is the sole shareholder of CentralNic Germany GmbH.

9



Notes to the amended annual accounts as at 31 December 2018

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1 Basis of preparation

The annual accounts have been established in accordance with Luxembourg legal and regulatory 
requirements and generally accepted accounting principles.

The Company has made use of the simplifications of its annual accounts allowed under its status as small 
Company according to Art. 35 and Art. 36 of the Trade and Companies Registry and Accounting Records 
and Annual Financial Statements of Undertakings Act of 19 December 2002. The preparation of the annual 
accounts requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires the Management Board 
to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the accounting policies. Changes in assessment may 
have a significant impact on the annual accounts in the period in which the assumptions changed. The 
Management Board believes that the underlying assumptions are appropriate and that the annual accounts 
therefore present the financial position and results fairly.

The Company makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities 
in the next financial year. Estimates and judgments are continuously evaluated and are based on historical 
experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable 
under the circumstances.

2.2 Significant accounting policies

The main valuation rules applied by the Company are the following:

2.2.1 Intangible assets

Intangible fixed assets are valued at purchase price including the expenses incidental thereto; less 
cumulated depreciation amounts written off and value adjustments.

Where the Company considers that an intangible asset has suffered a durable depreciation in value, an 
additional write-down is recorded to reflect this loss. These value adjustments, except for goodwill, are 
not continued if the reasons for which they were made have ceased to apply.

Intangible assets are depreciated over their estimated useful lives (5 years) on a straight-line basis.

2.2.2 Tangible assets

Tangible fixed assets are valued at purchase price including the expenses incidental thereto. Tangible 
fixed assets are depreciated over their estimated useful lives (5 years) on a straight-line basis.

Where the Company considers that an intangible asset has suffered a durable depreciation in value, an 
additional write-down is recorded to reflect this loss. These value adjustments are not continued if the 
reasons for which they were made have ceased to apply.

2.2.3 Financial assets

Shares in affiliated undertakings/participating interests and securities held as fixed assets are valued at 
purchase price including the expense incidental thereto. Loans shown under financial assets are 
recognised at their nominal value.

In case of a durable depreciation in value according to the opinion of the Management Board, value 
adjustments are made in respect of financial assets, so that they are valued at the lower figure to be 
attributed to them at the balance sheet date. These value adjustments are not continued if the reasons 
for which the value adjustments were made have ceased to apply.
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Notes to the amended annual accounts as at 31 December 2018

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2 Significant accounting policies (continued)

2.2.4 Debtors

Debtors are valued at their nominal value. They are subject to value adjustments where their recovery 
is compromised. These value adjustments are not continued if the reasons for which the value 
adjustments were made have ceased to apply.

2.2.5 Foreign currency translation

The Company maintains it books and records in USD. The balance sheet and the profit and loss account 
are expressed in this currency.

Transactions expressed in currencies other than USD are translated into USD at the exchange rate 
effective at the time of the transaction.

Monetary items are converted at the exchange rates effective at the balance sheet date whereas non
monetary items are converted at the exchange rate effective at the time of the transaction. The realized 
and unrealized exchange losses as well as the realized exchange gains are recorded in the profit and loss 
account. The unrealized exchange gains on monetary items other than cash at bank and in hand are 
recorded in the profit and loss account at the moment of their realization. The unrealized exchange gains 
on cash at bank and in hand are recorded in the profit and loss account.

Where there is an economic link between an asset and liability, these are valued in total according to the 
method described above and the net unrealized losses are recorded in the profit and loss account and 
the unrealized exchange gains are recognized in the profit and loss account at the moment of their 
realization.

2.2.6 Provisions

Provisions for liabilities and charges are intended to cover losses or debts the nature of which is clearly 
defined and which, at the date of the balance sheet, are either likely to be incurred or certain to the 
incurred but uncertain as to their amount or as to the date on which they will arise.

Provisions may also be created to cover charges which originate in the financial year under review and/or 
in a previous year, the nature of which is clearly defined and at which at the date of the balance sheet 
are either likely to be incurred or certain to be incurred but uncertain as their amount or the date at 
which they will arise.

2.2.7 Prepayments

This asset item includes expenditures incurred during the financial year but relating to a subsequent 
financial year.

2.2.8 Debts (Creditors)

Debts are recorded at their reimbursement value.

Subordinated debts

Debts are recorded under subordinated debts when their status is subordinated to unsecured debtors.
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Notes to the amended annual accounts as at 31 December 2018

NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2.9 Net turnover and revenue recognition

Net turnover comprises the amounts derived from the provision of services falling within the Company’s 
ordinary activities, after deduction of sales rebates and other taxes linked to turnover.

Turnover from the provision of those services is recognized in the exercise it relates to. Dividends are 
recognized in the Profit and Loss Account when the Company’s right to receive the income has been 
established. Interest income is recognized on an accrual basis.

2.2.10 Deferred income

This liability item includes income received during the financial year but relating to a subsequent financial 
year.

NOTE 3 - AMENDMENT OF THE ACCOUNTS

An amended version of the annual accounts for the year ended 31 December 2018 has been approved by 
the Management Board on 17 December 2019. The following changes occurred compared to the previous 
version of the annual accounts as at 31 December 2018 that were approved by the Management Board on 
20 August 2019:

• The Company has voluntarily prepared a Cashflow Statement to meet the requirements of the 
Norwegian financial regulatory authorities in the context of a bond issuance on the Oslo stock 
exchange by CentralNic Group Pic, the direct mother entity of the Company.

• Subsequent events have been presented in note 16.

The Cashflow Statement is prepared based on the following principles:

The statement of cash flow shows how cash and cash equivalents have changed in the course of the year 
as a result of inflows and outflows of funds.

The Company presents its cash flows using the indirect method. The indirect method adjusts accrual basis 
net profit or loss for the effects of non-cash transactions. Differentiation is made between cash flows 
from operating activities, from investing activities and from financing activities. Cash flow from operating 
activities is the cash and cash equivalents raised as a result of the main revenue-producing activities of 
the Company that are not investing or financing activities, so operating cash flows include cash received 
from customers and cash paid to suppliers and employees. It is determined on the basis of net profit. As 
part of the indirect determination of cash flow, the changes in balance sheet items due to operating 
activities were applied where necessary. Cash flow from investing activities is the cash and cash 
equivalents raised as a result of acquisition and disposal of long-term assets and other investments that 
are not considered to be cash equivalents. Cash flow from financing activities is the cash and cash 
equivalents raised as a result of activities that alter the equity capital and borrowing structure of the 
Company.

Interest and dividends received and paid are classified as financing cash flows consistently from period 
to period.

Cash and cash equivalents with a term to maturity of not more than three months are recorded under 
cash and cash equivalents. Cash equivalents are short-term financial assets which can be converted into 
cash at any time and which are only subject to minor value fluctuation risks.
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Notes to the amended annual accounts as at 31 December 2018

NOTE 4 - TANGIBLE ASSETS

The movements for the year are as follows:
Other fixtures and fittings, tools and 

equipment (USD) Total (USD)

Gross book value - opening balance 
Additions for the year 
Disposals for the year 
Gross book value - closing balance

Accumulated value adjustment- opening balance
Allocations for the year

Impairment for the year
Accumulated value adjustment- closing balance

5,376.43

1,448.03

5,376.43

1,448.03

0.000.00

6,824.46

-1,638.37

-1,389.93
888.42

-2,139.88

6,824.46

-1,638.37

-1,389.93

888.42
-2,139.88

Net book value - opening balance 
Net book value - closing balance

3,738.06

4,684.58
3,738.06

4,684.58

NOTE 5 - FINANCIAL ASSETS

The movements for the year are as follows:

Shares in affiliated 
undertaking (USD)

Own shares 
(USD)

Others
(USD) Total (USD)Loans(USD)

Gross book value - 
opening balance

Additions for the year 
Disposals for the year

Gross book value - 
closing balance

48,799,919.85 755,940.00 15,152,081.01 18,733.21 64,726,674.07

0.00 0.00 155.72

-4,393.23

4,778,126.39

-1,767,796.55

18,162,410.8

4,778,282.11

-2,135,937.90-363,748.12 0.00

48,436,171.73 755,940.00 14,495.70 67,369,018.285

Accumulated value 
adjustment
opening balance 
Allocations for the year 
Reversals for the year 
Accumulated value 
adjustment- 
closing balance_______

-11,456,164.00 -264,579.00 -12,858,720.69 0.00 -24,579,463.69

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

0.00 0.00 0.000.00 0.00

-11,456,164.00 -264,579.00 -12,858,720.69 0.00 24,579,463.69

Net book value - Opening 
balance 37,343,755.85 491,361.00 2,293,360.32 18,733.21 40,147,210.38

Net book value - Closing 
balance 36,980,007.73 491,361.00 5,303,690.16 14,495.70 42,789,554.59

Management decided not to revalue the 75.594 own class A shares held in treasury to the underlying book 
value per share as of 31 December 2018 as the difference would be immaterial.

Movement in shares in affiliated undertakings during the 2018 refers to European Domain Centre Aps 
(“EDC”) liquidation on 29 August 2018. All assets of EDC fell to KeyDrive S.A., among them the Promissory 
Note on USD 300,000 dated August 10, 2018. KeyDrive assumes all Holder’s rights and obligations from 
the Promissory Note and executes them in the way foreseen by the Promissory Note.
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Notes to the amended annual accounts as at 31 December 2018

NOTE 5 - FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued)

Additions in loans are mainly composed of new promissory notes concluded during 2018 and interests 
accrued during the reporting period. On 14 May 2018 the following promissory notes were concluded:
- between KeyDrive S.A. (Lender) and Key-Systems GmbH (Borrower) on the total amount of 
EUR 2,000,000;
- between KeyDrive S.A. (Lender) and PartnerGate GmbH (Borrower) on the total amount of EUR 500,000.

The Company did not recognize any new impairment in 2018 of its long-term financial assets. Yet, it also 
did not reverse any impairment recorded in prior financial years for prudence principle purposes. It will 
review this position on subsequent balance sheet dates. Impairment tests are based on forward-looking 
factors beyond control of management, such as changes in behavioural patterns of customers, suppliers, 
and competitors of the US subsidiary as well as legal, regulatory, or economic changes, which can be 
favourable or adverse to the estimate.

Undertakings in which the Company holds at least 20% in the share capital or in which it is a general 
partner are as follows:

Last
financial

year

Shareholders*
equity

Share
holdingRegistered OfficeParticipation Currency Net result

traffic.club 
S.å r.l. (*)

T3, Boulevard de la Foire, 
L-1528 Luxembourg

1-3, Boulevard de la Foire, 
L-1528 Luxembourg

1-3, Boulevard de la Foire, 
L-1528 Luxembourg

13727 SW ^Street #513 
Miami, FL 33177

66.67% USD -1,206,413.60 -68,076.72 31/12/2018

Toweb S.å r.l. (*) 100% USD -17,162.79 9,133.59 31/12/2018

OpenRegistry 
S.A. (*)
Moniker.com, 
Inc. (*)(**)

100% EUR 2,252,265.41 57,726.61 31/12/2018

100% - 1,099,465.38 31/12/2018USD -15,823,568.31

Key-Systems
GmbH

Im Oberen Werk 1, 
D-66386 St. Ingbert 100% 2,868,633.87 2,841,633.87 31/12/2018EUR

The result of the year is included in shareholders’ equity.

(*) The financial statements are not audited or are exempted from any obligation to have their financial 
statements audited.

(**) The result and shareholder equity of Moniker.com, Inc. includes its two member-managed fully-owned 
subsidiaries Moniker Online Services, LLC and Moniker Privacy Services, LLC.

14



Notes to the amended annual accounts as at 31 December 2018

NOTE 6 - DEBTORS

Debtors are mainly composed of:
Total (USD) 
31/12/2018

Total (USD) 
31/12/2017

Receivables from third parties

Gross book value 
Accumulated value adjustment

Net book value
Amounts owed by affiliated undertakings 

Gross book value 
Accumulated value adjustment 

Net book value 
Escrow account 

Gross book value 
Accumulated value adjustment 

Net book value 
Tax authorities 

Gross book value 
Accumulated value adjustment 

Net book value
Other miscellaneous receivables 

Gross book value 
Accumulated value adjustment 

Net book value

0.00 2,879.02

0.00 0.00

2,879.020.00

7,090,571.91

-1,216,672.39

5,873,899.52

1,373,504.28

-1,216,672.39

156,831.89

1,116,653.920.00

0.00 0.00

0.00 1,116,653.92

109,053.89306,450.82
0.000.00

306,450.82 109,053.89

45.05 0.00

0.000.00

0.0045.05

Total Net book value 6,180,395.39 1,385,418.72

Accumulated value adjustments as of 31/12/2018 of USD 1,216,672.39 corresponds to the impairment of 
the interest of previous years owed by the subsidiary Traffic.club S.a r.l. and Toweb S.a r.l., as 
Management assessed that this amount would not be recovered.

Amounts owed by affiliated undertakings mainly composed of receivables against the Key-Systems GmbH 
assigned on 30 November 2018 to KeyDrive S.A. as part of contribution agreement between CentralNic 
Germany GmbH and KeyDrive S.A. dated 30 November 2018 in the total amount of USD 5,740,709.86.

NOTE 7 CAPITAL AND RESERVES

The Company was incorporated on 1 December 2010 with a subscribed and fully paid-up capital of 
USD 60,000.00 divided into 60,000 shares.

On 30 December 2010, the capital was increased by an amount of USD 1,940,000.00 so that it amounted 
to USD 2,000,000.00 represented by 2,000,000 shares (1,170,000 A shares and 830,000 B shares)

On 28 June 2011, the capital was increased by an amount of USD 2.133,437.00 so that it amounted to 
USD 4,133,437.00 represented by 4,133,437 shares (3,170,000 A shares, 830,000 B shares, 133,437 C 
shares).

On 30 January 2012, the capital was increased by an amount of USD 600,000.00 so that it amounted to 
USD 4,733,437.00 represented by 4,733,437 shares. On the same date, all shares became A redeemable 
shares.
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Notes to the amended annual accounts as at 31 December 2018

NOTE 7 - CAPITAL AND RESERVES (continued)

On 31 December 2018 the Company had in issue the following number of shares in the classes specified:

Share Class Number of Shares 
4,733,437 

(75,594 thereof in treasury)

Nominal Value per Share 
USD 1.00A

From 3 August 2018 the sole shareholder of the Company is CentralNic Germany GmbH.

The movement for the year 2018 are as follows:

Share 
premium and 

similar 
premiums 

(USD)

Reserves for 
Own Shares

Profit or loss 
brought 

(USD) forward (USD)

Legal
Reserves

(USD)

Profit or loss 
for the year 

(USD)
Subscribed 

capital (USD)
Balance as at 
31 December 2017
Shareholders 
meeting 
11 May 2018

4,733,437.00 23,205,828.11 473,343.70 491,361.00 2,459,794.07 522,012.72

0.00 0,00 522,012.72 -522,012.720.00 0.00

Contributions 
during the year 
30 November 2018

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.000.00 14,649,439.23

0.00 0.00 2,037,211.90Result of the year 0.000.00 0.00

Balance as at 
31 December 2018 4,733,437.00 37,855,267.34 473,343.70 491,361.00 2,981,806.79 2,037,211.90

Shareholders meeting hold on 11 May 2018, resolved to carry forward the profit for the financial year 
2017, i.e. USD 522,012.72 in addition to the profit of USD 2,459,794.07 brought forward from prior years.

On 30 November 2018 CentralNic Germany GmbH contributed and transferred to the Company the 
Receivables having an aggregate book value of USD 14,649,439.23, which were allotted to the Capital 
Surplus Account without issuance of any new shares of the Company.

NOTE 8 - PROVISIONS

As of 31 December 2017 there was a litigation with a shareholder of the Company, Prize Flyer, LLC. 
According to the restructuration of the shareholders structure, KeyDrive defaulted regarding a repayment 
of USD 2,500,000 of a vendor loan of USD 10,000,000 in December 2012. Consequence of this default and 
according to the contractual dispositions taken, Prize Flyer, LLC appropriated the shares of KeyDrive and 
reverted back as a shareholder (to 19% in the subscribed capital of the Company with 887,843 shares). 
The claim was about the fact that the pledge extinguished the debts of KeyDrive toward PrizeFlyer, LLC 
or not. As of 31 December 2017 Management resolved to accrue the provision for the PrizeFlyer litigation 
in the amount of USD 3,962,000.00.

As part of the agreement for the sale and purchase of the entire issued share capital of KeyDrive S.A. 
dated 16 July 2018 CentralNic Germany GmbH procures that the relevant Group Company settles in cash 
the Prize Flyer claim. The claim was settled and USD 3,974,654 were repaid on 2 August 2018 in favour 
of Prize Flyer.
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Notes to the amended annual accounts as at 31 December 2018

NOTE 9 - CREDITORS

Amounts due and payable for the accounts shown under “Creditors” are as follows:
Total (USD) Total (USD)

31/12/2018 31/12/2017

Subordinated debts

Subordinated bonds 
Subordinated loan

3,000,000.00
599,650.00

0.00
0.00

Total (subordinated debts) 3,599,650.000.00

Non-subordinated debts

Amounts owed to credit institutions 
Amounts owed to affiliated undertakings 
Trade creditors 
Tax debts
Social security debts 
Other creditors
Total (non-subordinated debts)

0.00 189,904.02
0.00 0.00

645,255.02
5,103.70

13,538.20
35,685.57

699,582.49

369,855.92
3,996.78
3,674.30

1,529,519.58
2,096,950.60

Total (debts) 699,582.49 5,696,600.60

The subordinated bonds, USD-denominated interest-bearing securities subscribed by BIP Venture 
Partners SA, SICAR, were repaid on 29 January 2018 in the nominal amount of USD 3,000,000 and 
USD 18,279.39 of accrued interest in addition.

The subordinated loan, EUR-denominated interest-bearing loan granted by inter.services GmbH, was 
repaid on 2 August 2018 as a part of the agreement for the sale and purchase of the entire issued share 
capital of KeyDrive S.A. dated 16 July 2018.

As at 31 December 2018, there were no outstanding debts due after one year and within five years nor 
any debt due after five years. All amounts disclosed in Note 8 are due within one year.
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Notes to the amended annual accounts as at 31 December 2018

NOTE 10 - INCOME FROM PARTICIPATING INTERESTS

Income from participating interests for the financial year is broken down as follows:

2018 (USD) 2017 (USD)
Dividend income and prepayment of dividend 3,853,912.16 2,423,629.44

Total 3,853,912.16 2,423,629.44

NOTE 11 - INTEREST PAYABLE AND SIMILAR EXPENSES

Interest expense for the financial year is broken down as follows:
2018 (USD) 2017(USD)

88,818.48

6,411.00
326,309.94
346,146.44

1,705,988.90

Due to credit institutions 
Due to affiliated undertakings 
Other interest expense 
Foreign exchange losses 
Other financial expenses

151,961.33
7,558.95

80,439.05
253,210.31
399,244.54

892,414.18 2,473,674.76Total

NOTE 12 - INCOME TAX EXPENSE

2018 (USD) 2017 (USD)
Income tax
Income tax regularisation 
Total income tax

0.00 17.583.53
17.583.530.00

Other taxes not included in the previous caption 
Other tax expenses 
Total other tax expenses

9,048.38
-9,048.38

-5,771.81
-5,771.81

-9,048.38 11,811.72Total

NOTE 13 - INCOME FROM OTHER INVESTMENTS AND LOANS
2018 (USD) 2017 (USD)

1,037,199.251,179,143.62Interest accrued

1,037,199.251,179,143.62Total
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Notes to the amended annual accounts as at 31 December 2018

NOTE 14 - OFF-BALANCE SHEET COMMITMENTS

In October 2014, the Company has pledged the proceeds from its loan to its fully owned subsidiary 
Moniker.com, Inc. to secure a loan provided by its fully owned subsidiary Key-Systems GmbH to said 
Moniker.com, Inc.. The secured loan amount is USD 1.400.000,00 as of the balance sheet date.

Pursuant to a share pledge agreement dated 1 October 2018 between CentralNic Germany GmbH 
and Silicon Valley Bank in the presence of KeyDnve S.A., the 4,733,437 shares in KeyDrive S.A. owned 
by CentralNic Germany GmbH and any future shares to be issued, have been pledged in favour of 
Silicon Valley Bank.

NOTE 15 - MISCELLANEOUS

No advances or loans were given to members of the management board or the supervisory board during 
the financial year and/or as of the balance sheet date.

All transactions with related parties have been conducted at normal market conditions.

NOTE 16 - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On 25 October 2019 100% shares of Key-Systems GmbH, which were part of financial assets of 
KeyDrive S.A. as of 31 December 2018, were sold to the sole shareholder of KeyDrive S.A. - CentralNic 
Germany GmbH.

As part of a reorganisation process of the Group, aiming at simplification of the Group structure and 
organizing the Group companies based on geographical regions, CentralNic Germany GmbH, sold and 
transferred the entire shareholding of KeyDrive S.A. to CentralNic Luxembourg S.a.r.l. The transfer of 
the ownership of KeyDrive S.A. took place on 1 December 2019.

Both subsequent events have no impact on the annual accounts of the Company as at 
31 December 2018.
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INTERNET DOMAIN SERVICE BS CORP

ANNUAL REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Independent Auditor's Report to the members of Internet Domain Service BS Corp

We have audited the financial statements of Internet Domain Service BS Corp for the years ended 31 December 2018 
and 2017 which comprises the statement of comprehensive income, the statement of financial position, the statement 
of changes in equity, the statement of cash flows and notes to the financial statements including a summary of 
significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is 
applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as endorsed by the European Union.

In our opinion,
• the financial statements give a true and fair view of the Company's affairs as at 31 December 2018 and 31 

December 2017 and of its financial performance and statement of cash flows for the years then ended; and
• the financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European 

Union.

BASIS FOR OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) as issued by IAASB and 
applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsibilities for the 
audit of the financial statements section of our report.

We are independent of the Company in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants' 
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to 
our audit of the financial statements, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements and the IESBA code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion.

CONCUISION RELATING TO GOING CONCERN

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs require us to report to you 
where:

* the directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is not 
appropriate; or

« the directors have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that may cast 
significant doubt about the Company's ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a 
period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue.

OTHER iNFORMATiON

The other information comprises the information included in the annual report, other than the financial statements 
and our auditor's report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the financial 
statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in 
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material 
inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material 
misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work 
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to 
report that fact.

We have nothing to report in this regard.

3



INTERNET DOMAIN SERVICE BS CORP

ANNUAL REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

RESPONSIBILITIES OF MANAGEMENT
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with 
IFRSs, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the company's ability to continue as 
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so. Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company's financial 
reporting process.

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

1 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error, designs and performs audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtains audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

= Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
internal control.

? Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by the directors.

•< Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on 
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may 
cast significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in the auditor's report to the related disclosures in the 
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based 
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of the auditor's report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.

* Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, 
and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation (i.e gives a true and fair view).

* Are required to report on financial statements, obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the 
financial information of the business activities within the Company to express an opinion on the financial 
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the audit. We remain solely 
responsible for the audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing 
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 
during our audit. We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with 
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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INTERNET DOMAIN SERVICE BS CORP

ANNUAL REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

The partner in charge of the audit resulting in this independent auditors' report is Colin Turnbull.
•—i.

a

RPG CROUCH CHAPMAN LIP
London, United Kingdom

702021 n\Date:

RPG Crouch Chapman LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales (with registered number 
OC375705
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INTERNET DOMAIN SERVICE BS CORP

ANNUAL REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Statement of comprehensive income

2018 2017
£ £Notes

3,876,241 4,014,363
(3,349,655) (3,273,083)

5Revenue 
Cost of sales

526,586 741,280Gross profit

(816,662) (667,851)Administrative expenses

(290,076)(Loss)/ Profit before interest and tax 73,429

171,475 274,169
(490,693) (610,219)

6Interest receivable 
Net interest payable 6

(609,294) (262,621)(Loss) after interest but before tax 7

8income tax expense

(609,294) (262,621)(Loss) for the year and total comprehensive loss
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INTERNET DOMAIN SERVICE BS CORP

ANNUAL REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Statement of financial position

2018 2017
£Notes £

ASSETS
Non-Current assets 
Property, plant and equipment 
Intangible assets

9 1,072
2,780,102 3,034,901

715
10

2,780,817 3,035,973

Current assets
Trade and other receivables 
Cash

4,323,290 3,538,872
1,118,687 1,396,022

11
12

5,441,977 4,934,894Total Current assets

8,222,794 7,970,867TOTAL ASSETS

EQUITY AND UABILITIES 
Equity
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 
Share capital 
Retained earnings

13 2,948
(1,131,019)

2,948
(521,725)13

(1,128,071) (518,777)Total equity

Current liabilities 
Trade and other payables 9,350,865 8,489,64414

9,350,865 8,489,644Total Current liabilities

8,222,794 7,970,867TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

These financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors and were signed on its 
behalf by:

// ,)
L- ''X~

B Crawford
Director

Date: 20 January 2020
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INTERNET DOMAIN SERVICE BS CORP

ANNUAL REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Statement of changes in equity

Accumulated
retained
earnings

Share
capital Total

£ ££

(259,104)

(262,621)

(256,156)

(262,621)

At 1 January 2017

Loss for the year

Total comprehensive loss for the year 

At 31 December 2017

Loss for the year

Total comprehensive loss for the year

2,948

(262,621) (262,621)

(521,725)

(609,294)

(518,777)

(609,294)

2,948

(609,294) (609,294)

(1,131,019) (1,128,071)At 31 December 2018 2,948
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INTERNET DOMAIN SERVICE BS CORP

ANNUAL REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Statement of cash flows

2018 2017
£ £Notes

Cash flows from operating activities 
{Loss)/Profit for the year (609,294) (262,611)

Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation 
Finance income 
Finance expense 
Foreign exchange 
Income tax expense

255,156
(174,475)
490,693

3,000

255,334
(274,169)
610,219

(34,920) 328,773

(273,359)

40,373
356,691
134,392

Decrease in trade and other receivables 
Decrease/increase in trade and other payables

Cash generated from operations 456,163 95,787

Income taxes paid

Net cash flows (used in)/from operating activities 456,163 95,787

Financing activities
Inter company advances repaid
Interest received
Interest paid on loans and borrowings

(414,280)
171,475

(490,693)

430,150
274,169

(610,219)

(733,498) (94,100)Net cash from/(used in) financing activities

(277,335) 189,888Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

1,396,022 1,206,314Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

1,118,687 1,396,022Cash and cash equivalents at end of year
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INTERNET DOMAIN SERVICE BS CORP

ANNUAL REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

Notes forming part of the consolidated financial statements 
For the year ended 31 December 2018

1. General information

Nature of operations
Internet Domain Service BS Corp is incorporated in The Bahamas. The company's principal place of business and registered 
office address is PO Box SS-190984, Ocean Centre, Montagu Foreshore, East Bay Street, Nassau, New Providence, The 
Bahamas.

The principal activity of the Company is that of domain name registrar that manages the reservation of internet domain 
names for small businesses.

2. Application of IFRS

(a) Basis of preparation and going concern

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are set out in section 3. The policies 
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and 
International Accounting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and Interpretations 
(collectively IFRSs) as endorsed by the European Union.

The financial statements have been prepared under the assumption that the Company operates on a going concern basis. 
The company has made a loss in the year end 31 December 2018 of £609,294 (2017: £262,621), has net current liabilities of 
£3,637,614 (2017: £3,554,750) and net liabilities of £842,797 (2017: £518,777). Notwithstanding the above, the entity has 
generated positive cash flows from operations. In addition, the ultimate parent company has confirmed that the amounts 
due from related entities will not be called due for a period of twelve months from the authorisation of the financial 
statements and therefore the Director considers it appropriate to prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis.

The financial statements are presented in British Pound Sterling (£) unless otherwise stated, which is the currency of the 
primary economic environment in which the entity operates. The financial statements have been prepared on a historical 
cost basis, except for financial instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income.

There have been no other standards adopted that have had a material impact on the financial statements and no standards 
adopted in advance of their implementation date.

2. Application of IFRS (continued)

(c) Standards, amendments and interpretations to published standards not yet effective

IFRS 16 supersedes IAS 17 Leases and introduces a new single lessee accounting model which eliminates the current 
distinction between operating and finance leases for lessees. IFRS 16 will primarily affect the accounting for the company's 
operating leases and is effective for the next accounting period. As at the reporting date, the company had no operating lease 
commitments.

There are no other standards issued not yet effective that will have a material effect on the financial statements.

3. Accounting policies

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, as explained in the accounting policies set out below, 
which has been prepared in accordance with IFRS. The principal accounting policies are set out below:
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INTERNET DOMAIN SERVICE BS CORP

ANNUAL REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

(a) Functional and foreign currencies

(i) Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of the Company are measured using the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the entity operates (the functional currency). The financial statements are presented in British Pound 
Sterling (£), the company's presentational currency as it provides a more relevant presentation of the Group financial affairs.

(ii) Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency at the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the 
transactions or valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign currency gains and losses resulting from the settlement of 
such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies are recognised in the income statement, except where deferred in other comprehensive income as 
qualifying cash flow hedges and qualifying net-investment hedges. Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to 
borrowings and cash and cash equivalents are presented in the income statement within finance income or finance costs. All 
other foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit and loss within administrative expenses.

(b) Financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are recognised in the statements of financial position when the company has become a party 
to the contractual provisions of the instruments.

The company's financial assets and liabilities are initially measured at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction 
costs. The carrying value of the Company's financial assets (primarily cash and bank balances) and liabilities (primarily 
payables and other accrued expenses) approximate their fair values.

Financial instruments are offset when the company has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends to settle either on a 
net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

All of the Company's financial assets are held at amortised cost. These assets arise principally from the provision of goods and 
services to customers but also incorporate other types of financial assets where the objective is to hold these assets in order 
to collect contractual cash flows and the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest. They are initially 
recognised at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to their acquisition or issue and are subsequently 
carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less provision for impairment.

Impairment provisions for current and non-current trade receivables are recognised based on the simplified approach within 
IFRS 9 using a provision matrix in the determination of the lifetime expected credit losses. During this process the probability 
of the non-payment of the trade receivables is assessed. This probability is then multiplied by the amount of the expected 
loss arising from default to determine the lifetime expected credit loss for the trade receivables. For trade receivables, which 
are reported net, such provisions are recorded in a separate provision account with the loss being shown as impairment 
charge in the Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. On confirmation that the trade receivable will not 
be collectable, the gross carrying value of the asset is written off against the associated provision.

Impairment provisions for receivables from related parties and loans to related parties are recognised based on a forward- 
looking expected credit loss model. The methodology used to determine the amount of the provision is based on whether 
there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition of the financial asset, For those where the credit 
risk has not increased significantly since initial recognition of the financial asset, 12 months expected credit losses along with 
gross interest income are recognised. For those for which credit risk has increased significantly, lifetime expected credit losses 
along with the gross interest income are recognised. For those that are determined to be credit impaired, lifetime expected 
credit losses along with interest income on a net basis are recognised.

The company's financial assets measured at amortised cost comprise trade and other receivables and cash and cash 
equivalents in the Statement of financial position.

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments 
with original maturities of three months or less.
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INTERNET DOMAIN SERVICE BS CORP

ANNUAL REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

(i) Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Financial liabilities are classified as liabilities or equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement. 
Interest, dividends, gains and losses relating to financial liabilities are reported in profit or loss. Distributions to holders of 
financial liabilities are classified as equity and charged directly to equity.

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities comprise trade and other payables measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest 
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments 
(including all fees on points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and 
other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period to 
the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all its liabilities. 
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new ordinary shares or options 
are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from proceeds.

Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised as liabilities when approved for appropriation.

(c) Property, plant, and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, represent computer equipment and are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is calculated using the methods below to write off the depreciable amount of the assets over their estimated 
useful lives. Depreciation of an asset does not cease when the asset becomes idle or is retired from active use unless the 
asset is fully depreciated. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are:

Computer equipment - 33.3%

The depreciation method, useful lives and residual values are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each 
reporting period to ensure that the amounts, method and periods of depreciation are consistent with previous estimates 
and the expected pattern of consumption of the future economic benefits embodied in the asset.

Subsequent component replacement costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, 
as appropriate, only when the cost is incurred and it is probable that the future economic benefits associated with the 
asset will flow to the company and the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of parts that are 
replaced is derecognised. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment are recognised in profit 
or loss as incurred. Cost also comprises the initial estimate of dismantling and removing the asset and restoring the site 
on which it is located for which the company is obliged to incur when the asset is acquired, if applicable.

An item of property and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected 
from its use. Any gain or loss arising from de-recognition of the asset is recognised in profit or loss.

(d) Intangible assets

I) Goodwill

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the amount 
recognised for non-controlling interests, and any previous interest held, over the net identifiable assets acquired and 
liabilities assumed. After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. For the 
purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each 
of the Group's cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether other 
assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the 
goodwill associated with the disposed operation is included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining
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the gain or loss on disposal. Goodwill disposed in these circumstances is measured based on the relative values of the 
disposed operation and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

ii) Customer list

The customer list was acquired separately and measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets 
acquired in a business combination is their fair value at the date of acquisition. Following initial recognition, intangible 
assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. The useful lives of 
intangible assets are assessed as either finite or indefinite.

The useful economic life for the customer list acquired is ten years.

Intangible assets are tested for impairment annually if facts and circumstances indicate that impairment may exist. In the 
event that the expected future economic benefits of the intangible assets are no longer probable or expected to be 
recovered, the capitalised amounts are written down to their recoverable amount through profit and loss.

(e) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and bank balances comprise of cash in hand, bank balances, deposits with financial institutions and short-term, highly 
liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of 
changes in value.

(f) Taxation

Taxation for the year comprises of current and deferred tax. Current tax is the expected amount of income taxes payable in 
respect of the taxable profit for the year and is measured using the tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted 
at the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets 
and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that the underlying tax loss or deductible temporary 
difference will be utilised against future taxable income. This is assessed based on the company's forecast of future operating 
results, adjusted for significant non-taxable income and expenses and specific limits on the use of any unused tax loss or 
credit,

Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised in full.

(g) Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for 
services provided in the course of ordinary activities, net of discounts and sales related taxes.

Revenue from the sale of Small business services for domain names to domain registrants are generated from the provision 
of retail and similar services to domain registrants. The sub revenue streams would be those of new registrations and 
renewals. Revenue originates when a transaction is generated on the service registry platform by the customer.

For the small business division, upon evaluation of the customer contract, the registry channel has performance obligations 
that are met at point of sale of the domain name. An invoice under this division could cover the licence to utilise the domain 
name for a fixed term period which could vary between one and ten years, however, all performance obligations are met at 
the point of sale, and therefore no revenue is deferred.

(h) Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit and loss in the period in which they are incurred.
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(i) Equity, reserves and dividend payments

Share capital represents the nominal (par) value of shares that have been issued.

Other components of equity include retained earnings. Retained earnings includes all current and prior period retained 
profits.

All transactions with owners of the parent are recorded separately within equity. Dividend distributions payable to equity 
shareholders are included in other liabilities when the dividends have been approved in a general meeting prior to the 
reporting date.

4. Critical accounting estimates and judgements

In the application of the company's accounting policies, the Director is required to make judgments, estimates and 
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not apparent from other sources. The estimates and 
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed 
to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision 
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements and estimates

The following are the judgements made by management in applying the accounting policies of the company that have the 
most significant effect on the financial statements:

Impairment Testing and Fair Value Assessment

The recoverable amounts of individual non-financial assets are determined based on the higher of the value-in-use and the 
fair value less costs to sell. These calculations will require the use of estimates and assumptions. It is reasonably possible 
that assumptions may change, which may impact the Directors' estimates and may then require a material adjustment to 
the carrying value of investments, tangible and intangible assets.

For the purposes of performing impairment tests, assets are grouped at the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows 
are largely independent of cash flows of other assets or liabilities. If there are indications that impairment may have 
occurred, estimates will be prepared of expected future cash flows for each group of assets.

Expected future cash flows used to determine the value in use of tangible and intangible assets will be inherently uncertain 
and could materially change over time. The carrying value of the Group's PPE and intangible assets are disclosed in notes 
9 and 10 respectively.

5. Revenue
2018 2017

£ £
Sale of domain names 3,876,241 4,014,363

All revenue is recognised at a point in time in accordance with the accounting policy.
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6. Finance income and expense

Recognised in profit or loss 2018 2017
£ £

Finance income
Interest income on intercompany debts 171,475 274,169

Finance expense
Interest expense on intercompany debts 490,693 610,219

7. Profit before tax

The following items have been recognised as expenses (income) in determining profit before tax:

2018 2017
£ £

Foreign exchange (gain)/loss 
Amortisation of intangible assets 
Depreciation 
Bad debt

(22,481)

254,799
50,743

254,799
357 535

285,273

8. Tax expense

Income tax expense 2018 2017
£ £

Income tax relating to continuing operations has been recognised in profit or 
loss as following:

Income Tax

A reconciliation of the current income tax expense applicable to the profit before taxation at the statutory tax rate 
to the current income tax expense at the effective tax rate of 19% is as follows:

2018 2017
£’000 £’000

Loss before taxation (609,294) (262,211)

Tax calculated at domestic tax rates applicable to profits (115,766) (49,898)

Tax effects of;
- Tax losses not recognized
- Group relief

115,766
49,898

Current income tax
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9. Property, plant and equipment
Computer
equipment

£
Cost
At 1 January 2017
Additions
At 1 January 2018
Additions
At 31 December 2018

2,313
178

2,491

2,491

Accumulated depreciation 
At 1 January 2017 
Charge for the year 
At 1 January 2018 
Charge for the year 
At 31 December 2018

884
535

1,419
357

1,776

Net book value 
At 31 December 2018 
At 31 December 2017 
At 31 December 2016

715
1,072
1,429

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is included in administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income.

10. Intangible assets
Customer

List Goodwill Total
£ £ £

Cost
2,548,000 1,378,697 3,926,697At 1 January 2017, 2018 and 31 December 2018
2,548,000 1,378,697 3,926,697

Amortisation 
At 1 January 2017 
Charge for the year 
At 1 January 2018 
Charge for the year 
At 31 December 2018

636,997
254,799

636,997
254,799
891,796
254,799

891,796
254,799

1,146,595 1,146,595

1,401,405 1,378,697 2,780,102At 31 December 2018

1,656,204 1,378,697 3,034,901At 31 December 2017

1,911,003 1,378,697 3,289,700At 31 December 2016
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Goodwill and Customer List
The Company tests goodwill for impairment annually. All of the goodwill and customer list relates to the same cash generating 
unit being the small business division.

The recoverable amount of goodwill at 31 December 2018 is determined based on a value in use using cash flow projections 
from financial budgets approved by senior management for a 12 month period. Cash flow projections beyond the one year 
time frame are extrapolated by applying a flat growth rate in perpetuity of 1% which is based on management judgement, 
historical trends, expected return on investment, experience and discretion. The pre-tax discount rate applied to the cash 
flow projections is 10%. As a result of the analysis, management did not identify any impairment of goodwill and have not 
identified any one assumption where a reasonable change in that assumption would lead to an impairment.

11. Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables consist of the following:
2018 2017

£ £

Trade debtors
Amounts due from group undertakings 
Prepayments and other receivables

45,469
4,097,984
179,837

25,087
2,956,875
556,910

4,323,290 3,538,872

12. Cash and cash equivalents

2018 2017
Cash at bank and in hand £ £

366,379
178,946
516,659

41,997
10,490
4,216

388,500
210,992
736,538

53,531
4,612
1,849

EUR
GBP
USD
CAD
AUD
JPY

1,396,0221,118,687

13. Equity

Share Capital
The share capital of Internet Domain Service BS Corp consists only of fully paid ordinary shares with a nominal (par) value 
of £ 1 per share. All shares are equally eligible to receive dividends and the repayment of capital and represent one vote at 
shareholders' meetings.

2018 2017
£ £

2,948Shares issued and fully paid 2,948

Retained earnings
Retained earnings represent the cumulative value of the profits not distributed to shareholders, but retained to finance 
the future capital requirements of the company.
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14. Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables consist of the following:
2018 2017

£ £

Trade payables
Amounts due to Group undertakings 
Accruals and deferred income 
Other taxes and social security

224,724
8,702,355
411,892
11,894

7,651
7,975,526
506,467

9,350,865 8,489,644

15. Parent company and related party transactions

Ultimate controlling party
The company's immediate parent company is Company Pic, a company incorporated in the UK and listed on the Aim Market 
of the London Stock Exchange. A copy of the consolidated accounts are available at 4th Floor, Saddlers House, 44 Gutter Lane, 
London, EC2V6BR.

Transactions with subsidiaries
Included in debtors and creditors are amounts advanced to/by related companies.

2018 2017
£ £

Balances
Receivables
From Group Undertakings 4,097,984 2,956,875

Payables
To Group Undertakings {8,702,355} (7,975,526)

Interest Receivables 
From Group Undertakings 172,475 274,169

Interest Payables 
To Group Undertakings (491,692) (610,219)

Management fee Payables 
To Group Undertakings (138,129) (171,281)

Directors of Internet Domain Service BS Corp are also directors of other Companies within the Group and constitute related parties. In 
conformity with IAS24, persons having a direct or indirect authority and responsibility for the planning, directing and controlling of the 
activities, including the executive and non-executive directors of Internet Domain Service BS Corp.

16. Financial Instruments
The company is exposed to market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk arising from financial instruments. The company's overall 
financial risk management policy focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse 
effects on the Company's financial performance. The company does not trade in financial instruments.

The principal financial instruments used by the company, from which financial instrument risk arises comprise of cash and 
cash equivalents, amounts due from group undertakings, trade receivables and other debtors. The company's financial
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liabilities comprise of trade payables, amounts owed to group undertakings and accruals. All of the above are measured at 
the amortised costs.

(a) Financial risk management framework
The Directors' risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Company, to set 
appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits.

(i) Market risk
(i) Foreign currency risk

The Company is exposed to foreign currency risk on transactions and balances that are denominated in a currency other 
than its functional currency, primarily US Dollars and Euros. Foreign currency risk is monitored on an on-going basis to ensure 
that the net exposure is at an acceptable level.

The carrying amounts of the Company's net monetary assets and liabilities are denominated in the following currencies at 
31 December 2017 and 2018:

As at 31st December 2017

other
currencies

US$ TotalEuroGBP

£ ££ £ £

Current Financial assets 
Trade and other receivables 
Amounts due from group undertakings 
Cash and cash equivalents

581,997 581,997 
- 2,956,875

59,992 1,396,022
2,956,875
210,992 736,538 388,500

Total 3,167,867 1,318,535 388,500 59,992 4,934,894

Current Financial liabilities measured at amortised costs 
Trade and other payables 
Amounts due to group undertakings 
Accruals

(7,651)
(7,975,526)

(91,778)

(7,651)
(7,975,526)

(91,778)

Total (8,074,955) (8,074,955)
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As at 31st December 2018
other

currenciesUS$ Euro TotalGBP

££ £ £ £
Current Financial assets 
Trade and other receivables 
Amounts due from group undertakings 
Cash and cash equivalents

225,306 225,306 
- 4,097,984 

56,703 1,118,687
4,097,984
178,946 516,659 366,379

Total 4,276,930 741,965 366,379 56,703 5,441,977

Current Financial liabilities measured at amortised costs 
Trade and other payables 
Amounts due to group undertakings 
Accruals

(224,724)
(8,702,355)

(22,427)

(224,724)
(8,702,355)

(22,427)

Total (8,949,506) (8,949,506)

The sensitivity analyses in the table below details the impact of changes in foreign exchange rates on the Company's post
tax profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2018. It is assumed that the named currency is strengthening or weakening 
against ail other currencies, while all the other currencies remain constant.

If the GBP strengthened or weakened by 10% against the other currencies, with all other variables in each case remaining 
constant, then the impact on the Company's post-tax profit or loss would be gains or losses as follows:

Strengthen/
Weaken

2018
£’000

Strengthen/
Weaken

2017
£’000

2018
USD +/- 74 

+/- 37
+/- 132 
+ /- 39EUR

Others +/- 6 +/- 6

(ii) Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes 
in market interest rates. The Company's exposure to interest rate risk arises mainly from interest-bearing financial assets 
and liabilities. The Directors' policy is to obtain the most favourable interest rates available.

As at each of 31 December 2017 and 2018, Company's long-term debt facility entered into with SVB bearing interest at a 
margin plus LIBOR.

2018 2017
££

Cash and bank balances
Effect of interest rate change of 100 basis points on cash and bank balances

1,118,689 
+/-11,187

1,396,022
+/-13,960

(4,604,370) 
+/- (46,044)

(5,018,651) 
+/-(50,187)

Net intercompany balances
Effect of interest rate change of 100 basis points on cash and bank balance
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(H) Credit risk
The Company's exposure to credit risk arises mainly from counterparty's failure to meet its obligation to settle a financial 
asset. The Directors consider the Company's exposure to credit risk arising from trade receivables to be minimal as the 
Company is often paid at the outset or in advance. Credit risk arising from other receivables is controlled through monitoring 
procedures, including credit approvals and credit limits, with the balance largely offset by separate liabilities held on the 
balance sheet relating to the same party. The Company has no experience of bad debts with exception of the amount 
indicated in note 7.

For cash and bank balances, the Director minimises the Company's credit risk by dealing exclusively with banks and financial 
institution counterparties with high credit ratings. The maximum credit exposure relates to the cash and cash equivalents 
and trade and other debtors as shown on the balance sheet.

(Hi) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in settling its financial obligations that are settled with 
cash or another financial asset. The Directors' objective is to maintain, as much as possible, a level of its cash and bank 
balances adequate enough to ensure that there will be sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when they fall due.

The following set forth the remaining contractual maturities of financial liabilities as at:

2017
Greater 

3-12 than 12 
Months Months

2-3
Month 1 Months Total

££ £ £ £
Trade Payable 
Other Payables

(7,651)
(8,067,304)

(7,651)
(8,067,304)

Net Amount (8,074,955) (8,074,955)

2018
Greater 

3-12 than 12 
Months Months

2-3
Month 1 Months Total

£ £ £ £ £
Trade Payable 
Other Payables

(224,724)
(8,724,782)

(224,724)
(8,724,782)

(8,949,506) (8,949,506)Net Amount

(b) Capital risk management
The Director defines capital as the total equity of the company and intercompany balances. The Director's objectives when 
managing capital are to safeguard the company's ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns for 
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders . The decisions are made by Group management as to appropriate level of 
funding are in place such as cash held at back to service its debts, requiring the Company to maintain financial flexibility and 
liquidity. The capital management policy of the Group is aimed at maintaining sufficient and appropriate balance of liquidity 
at bank excluding restricted cash.

The Group management has also the ability to make alteration to the capital structure by raising equity or debt finance as 
and when required.
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1 
 

Independent Auditor’s Report 
To the Members of Instra Holdings (NZ) Limited 
 

Opinion 
 
We have audited the special purpose financial report (the financial report) of Instra Holdings (NZ) 

Limited (the Company), which comprises the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2018, 

the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity 

and the statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, 

including a summary of significant accounting policies, and the directors’ declaration.  

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Company for the year ended 31 December 

2018 is prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the basis of accounting as described in 

Note 1 to the financial report.  

Basis for Opinion  

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under 

those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Report section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical 

requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics 
for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in 

Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 

for our opinion.  

Emphasis of Matter – Basis of Accounting and Restriction on Distribution and Use 

We draw attention to Note 1 to the financial report, which describes the basis of accounting. The 

financial report has been prepared by the Directors to meet the needs of the members. As a result, 

the financial report may not be suitable for another purpose. Our report is intended solely for the 

members and should not be distributed to parties other than the members and / or regulatory 

authorities as required. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report  

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report and have 

determined that the basis of preparation described in Note 1 to the financial report is appropriate to 

meet the needs of the members and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary 

to enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
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In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the Company 

to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 

the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company or 

to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.  

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report  
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is 

free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that 

an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material 

misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 

if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 

decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.  

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional 

judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to 

fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 

audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of 

not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 

error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or 

the override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 

an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of 

accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 

related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 

required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial 
report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are 

based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the 

disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and 

events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 
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We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 

the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 

identify during the audit. 

 

 

Crowe Audit Australia  

 

 

 

David Munday  

Partner 

 

Dated at Melbourne Victoria, this 21st  day of January 2020  
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1 
 

Independent Auditor’s Report 
To the Members of Only Domains Limited  
 

Opinion 
 
We have audited the special purpose financial report (the financial report) of Only Domains Limited 

(the Company), which comprises the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2018, the 

statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity and 

the statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a 

summary of significant accounting policies, and the directors’ declaration.  

In our opinion, the accompanying financial report of the Company for the year ended 31 December 

2018 is prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the basis of accounting as described in 

Note 1 to the financial report.  

Basis for Opinion  

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under 

those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 
Report section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical 

requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of Ethics 
for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the financial report in 

Australia. We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.  

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 

for our opinion.  

Emphasis of Matter – Basis of Accounting and Restriction on Distribution and Use 

We draw attention to Note 1 to the financial report, which describes the basis of accounting. The 

financial report has been prepared by the Directors to meet the needs of the members. As a result, 

the financial report may not be suitable for another purpose. Our report is intended solely for the 

members and should not be distributed to parties other than the members and / or regulatory 

authorities as required. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Report  

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report and have 

determined that the basis of preparation described in Note 1 to the financial report is appropriate to 

meet the needs of the members and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary 

to enable the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  
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In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the Company 

to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 

the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company or 

to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.  

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Report  

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is 

free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that 

an audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material 

misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 

if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 

decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.  

As part of an audit in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards, we exercise professional 

judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial report, whether due to 

fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain 

audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of 

not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from 

error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or 

the override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 

an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the directors. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of 

accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 

related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 

required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial 
report or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are 

based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial report, including the 

disclosures, and whether the financial report represents the underlying transactions and 

events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 
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We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 

the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 

identify during the audit. 

 

 

Crowe Audit Australia  

 

 

 

David Munday  

Partner 

 

Dated at Melbourne Victoria this 21st  day of January 2020  
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
 
Board of Directors and Stockholder 
Moniker.com, Inc: 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Moniker.com, Inc, 
which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, and the 
related consolidated statements of operations, changes in stockholder’s equity (deficit), and cash 
flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated 
financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control 
relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility  
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on 
our audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted 
in the United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from 
material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the 
auditor’s judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the 
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair 
presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit 
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness 
of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 
 



  
  
  

 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion. 
 
Opinion 
 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of Moniker.com, Inc as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, 
and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 
 
KBF CPAs LLP 
 
Portland, Oregon 
November 21, 2019 



2018 2017
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 498,416$           221,374$           
Accounts receivable, net 8,641 89,853
Accounts receivable, related party 55,736 49,130
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 31,924 34,861
Prepaid expenses and other current assets, related party 1,261 97

Total current assets 595,978             395,315             

Intangible assets, net 3,117,704 1,452,603

Total assets 3,713,682$        1,847,918$        

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable 351,739$           228,332$           
Accounts payable, related party 22,310               23,228               
Customer Deposits 611,160             576,223             
Accrued expenses 295,245 72,191
Accrued Interest, related party 3,524,712 3,004,634          
Notes payable, related party 12,467,413 12,667,413        

Total liabilities 17,272,579        16,572,021        

Stockholder's equity (deficit)
Share capital; no par value; 1 share authorized, issued and outstanding -                    -                    
Additional paid-in capital 72,785               72,785               
Accumulated deficit (13,631,682)       (14,796,888)       

Total stockholder's equity (deficit) (13,558,897)       (14,724,103)       

Total liabilities and stockholder's equity (deficit) 3,713,682$        1,847,918$        

MONIKER.COM, INC
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017

ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDER'S EQUITY (DEFICIT)

See accompanying notes and independent auditor's report.
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2018 2017

Revenues 5,832,089$        5,781,858$        
Revenues, related party 102,519             105,607             

Total revenues 5,934,608          5,887,465          

Cost of revenues 3,821,261          4,009,700          
Cost of revenues, related party 626,631             501,543             

Total cost of revenues 4,447,892          4,511,243          

Operating expenses:
Selling, general and administrative expenses 1,762,967          1,031,236          
Selling, general and administrative expenses, related party 328,759             294,311             

Total selling, general and administrative expenses 2,091,726          1,325,547          

Income (loss) from operations (605,010)            50,675               

Interest expense, related party (1,090,974)         (1,036,350)         

Net loss (1,695,984)$       (985,675)$          

MONIKER.COM, INC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017

See accompanying notes and independent auditor's report.
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Total
Additional Accumulated Stockholder's

Share Amount Paid-in Capital Deficit Equity (Deficit)

Balances, December 31, 2016 1                      -$                 72,785$            (13,811,213)$    (13,738,428)$      

Net loss -                   -                   -                   (985,675)           (985,675)             

Balances, December 31, 2017 1                      -                   72,785              (14,796,888)      (14,724,103)        

Equity contribution from acquisition -                   -                   -                   2,861,190         2,861,190           

Net loss -                   -                   -                   (1,695,984)        (1,695,984)          

Balances, December 31, 2018 1                      -$                 72,785$            (13,631,682)$    (13,558,897)$      

Share Capital

MONIKER.COM, INC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDER'S EQUITY (DEFICIT)

AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017

See accompanying notes and independent auditor's report.
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2018 2017
Cash Flows From Operating Activities:

Net loss (1,695,984)$      (985,675)$      
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in
    operating activities:

Amortization 781,858            599,560         
Impairment of intangible assets prior to acquisition 414,231            -                

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable 74,606             (13,409)          
(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses and other assets 1,773               (9,594)           
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable 122,489            (582,364)        
Increase (decrease) in accrued expenses 223,054            (86,995)          
Increase (decrease) in accrued interest expenses 520,078            879,935         
Increase (decrease) in customer deposits 34,937             (58,515)          

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 477,042            (257,057)        

Cash Flows From Financing Activities:
Repayment under notes payable, related party (200,000)          -                

Net cash used in financing activities (200,000)          -                

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 277,042            (257,057)        

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 221,374            478,431         

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 498,416$          221,374$       

Supplemental cash flow information: 
Cash paid during the year for interest -$                 -$              
Cash paid during the year for income taxes -$                 -$              

Non-cash investing and financing activities:
Equity contribution from acquisition 2,861,190$       -$              

MONIKER.COM, INC

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

See accompanying notes and independent auditor's report.
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MONIKER.COM, INC 
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017 
 
 
NOTE 1 – GENERAL INFORMATION 
 
Moniker.com, Inc (the “Company”) is organised by the laws of the United States of America, incorporated 
in the state of Florida. 
 
The Company’s financial year starts on January 1 and ends on December 31 of each year. 
 
On August 2, 2018, CentralNic Group Plc acquired indirectly the entire share capital of Moniker.com, Inc 
(the “Acquisition”). CentralNic Group Plc is the UK holding company of a group of companies which are 
engaged in the provision of global domain name services. CentralNic Group Plc has been admitted to 
trading in the AIM segment of the London Stock Exchange.  
 
From August 2, 2018 through December 31, 2018, the Company is included in the consolidated accounts 
of CentralNic Group Plc, which is published and available on the website of London Stock Exchange. From 
January 1, 2017 through August 1, 2018, the Company was wholly-owned by KeyDrive S.A. As part of the 
Acquisition on August 2, 2018, KeyDrive S.A. was also acquired by CentralNic Group Plc and the Company 
is now a wholly-owned subsidiary within CentralNic Group Plc.    
 
The Company’s business is part of the CentralNic’s small business segment, and it provides domain names 
and value-added services to customers. Core of the business is the offer of registering domain names. 
The Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Moniker Online Services, LLC, has 1,000 top-level-domains in its 
portfolio.  
 
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts and transactions of Moniker.com, Inc and the 
Company’s wholly-owned subsidiaries; 1) Moniker Online Services, LLC, and 2) Moniker Privacy Services, 
LLC. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in the accompanying consolidated 
financial statements.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

8 

 
NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
2.1 Basis of preparation 
 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. Generally Accepted 
Accounting Principles.  
 
The Company makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities 
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the year. Estimates and judgments are 
continuously evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations 
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Significant estimates 
requiring management judgment include application of revenue recognition criteria, valuation of 
intangible assets, and assumptions related to potential value-added tax contingencies. The estimation 
process may result in actual results differing from those estimated amounts used in the preparation of 
the consolidated financial statements. 
 
2.2 Significant accounting policies 
 
The significant accounting policies applied by the Company are the following: 
 
2.2.1 Long-lived assets and impairment assessments 
 
Long-lived assets, including intangible assets, are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes 
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. In evaluating the 
value and future economic benefits of long-lived assets, their carrying value is compared to 
management’s estimate of the anticipated undiscounted future net cash flows of the related long-lived 
asset. In connection with the Acquisition, intangible assets were revalued at August 2, 2018. 
 
The estimated useful life of customer relationships and tradename is 7 years and 15 years, respectively.  
 
2.2.2 Revenue recognition 
 
Revenues are generated from the provision of retail and similar services to domain registrants. Other 
revenue streams would be those of new registrations and renewals. Revenues are recognized when a 
transaction is generated on the service registry platform by the customer. 
 
Revenue is recognized when the following criteria are met: (a) the Company has entered into a legally 
binding agreement with the customer; (b) the subscription or maintenance service has been provided, or 
in the case of professional services, the services have been delivered; (c) the fee is fixed or determinable; 
and (d) collection is probable. 
 
For the Company’s business, all criteria for revenue recognition are met at the point of sale, and therefore 
no revenue is deferred. When customers make prepayment for the registration services, the prepaid 
amounts are included in customer deposits and revenue is recognized when the services are performed.  
 
2.2.3 Cost of sales 
 
Cost of sales comprises the expenses for the purchase of domains from registrars and corresponding fees 
as well as merchant fees. 
 
2.2.4 Cash and cash equivalents  
 
The Company considers all highly liquid monetary instruments with an original maturity of three months 
or less to be cash equivalents. 
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2.2.5 Concentration of Credit Risk 
 
The Company maintains its cash balances in large financial institutions. At times, such cash balances may 
be in excess of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation limit. The Company does not believe it is 
exposed to any significant credit risk related to its cash accounts. 
 
The Company grants credit to customers of various sizes throughout the United States and Europe. 
Accounts receivable consist primarily of the net amounts to be collected from customers. The Company 
estimates its allowance for doubtful accounts based on historical write-off activity and known specific 
issues or disputes which exist as of the balance sheet date. Management believes that the risk of loss on 
its accounts receivable is adequately reserved for in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. 
Uncollectible accounts are written off against the allowance for doubtful accounts after exhausting all 
collection attempt remedies.  
 
2.2.6 Income taxes 
 
The Company utilizes the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under this method, 
deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to 
differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their 
respective tax bases and operating loss and tax credit carry forwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities 
are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those 
temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and 
liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in results of operations in the period that includes the 
enactment date. A valuation allowance is recorded for deferred tax assets when it is more likely than not 
that such deferred tax assets will not be realized.  
 
The Company follows the guidance under Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting 
Standards Codification (“ASC”) 740, Income Taxes, in accounting for uncertainties in income taxes, which 
defines the thresholds for recognizing the benefits of tax return positions in the consolidated financial 
statements as “more likely than not” to be sustained by the taxing authority. The Company recognizes 
interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits as a component of income tax expense. The 
Company is subject to federal, state and local income taxes. The Company is not currently under any 
Internal Revenue Service or state tax examination. At December 31, 2018, the Company’s statutes of 
limitations are closed for all federal tax years before 2015 and all state tax years before 2014. 
 
2.2.7 Recently issued accounting pronouncements 
 
In May 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2014-09, Revenue From Contracts 
with Customers, which requires an entity to recognize the amount of revenue to which it expects to be 
entitled for the transfer of promised goods or services to customers. ASU 2014-09 outlines a single 
comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for revenue arising from contracts with customers 
and supersedes most current revenue recognition guidance. This ASU is effective for reporting periods 
beginning after December 15, 2018. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this accounting 
standard. 
 
 
NOTE 3 – INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

Intangible assets as of December 31, 2018 consist of the following:  
 

Gross Amount 
Accumulated 
Amortization Balance 

Trademark $                   399,999 $                 11,024 $              388,975 

Customer relationship 2,900,000 171,271 2,728,729 

Total $                3,299,999 $               182,295 $           3,117,704 
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Intangible assets as of December 31, 2017 consist of the following: 
 

Gross Amount 
Accumulated 
Amortization Balance 

Trademark $                1,740,000 $                791,924 $              948,076 

Customer relationship 3,260,000 2,755,473 504,527 

Total $                5,000,000 $             3,547,397 $           1,452,603 

In connection with the Acquisition on August 2, 2018, all of the intangible assets were recorded at fair 
value based on push-down accounting. The push-down accounting resulted in a non-cash equity 
contribution totalling $2,861,190 recorded on the date of acquisition.  

Amortization expense of intangible assets during the years ended December 31,2018 and 2017 totaled 
$781,858 and $599,560, respectively. The estimated future amortization expense as of December 31, 
2018 is: 

    
2019   $                  440,953 
2020   440,953 
2021   440,953 
2022   440,953 
2023   440,953 
Thereafter   912,939 

Total  
  

$               3,117,704 

 
 
NOTE 4 - CAPITAL AND RESERVES 

The Company’s share capital consists of one share at no par value. 
 

NOTE 5 – VALUE-ADDED TAX  

The Company renders registration services to customers in the European Union (“EU”) and countries 
outside the EU which involves transactions for which the ultimate value-added tax (‘VAT’) determination 
is uncertain. During 2018, the Company began a comprehensive examination of certain VAT risks tax rules 
for each of the various jurisdictions where the Company generates sales. In the course of this 
examination, the Company has concluded and recorded the estimated VAT exposure and associated 
penalty of $234,297 as of December 31, 2018. This estimated liability is included in accrued expenses on 
the accompanying balance sheet. 

 
NOTE 6 – RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
During 2012, the Company issued a note payable to KeyDrive S.A., Luxembourg for $16,896,900. The 
Company was a wholly-owned subsidiary of the holder. The loan is due on request of the holder. The 
interest rate is 7 % per annum. The outstanding amount is $11,267,413 as of December 2018 and 2017.  
 
During 2014, the Company issued a note payable of $1,400,000 to Key-Systems GmbH, Germany, a wholly 
owned subsidiary of KeyDrive S.A., Luxembourg. The loan is due on request of the holder. The interest 
rate is 6% per annum. The outstanding amount is $1,200,000 and $1,400,000 as of December 2018 and 
2017, respectively. 
 
In connection with the Acquisition, these note payables and accrued interest remain outstanding to 
subsidiaries of CentralNic Group Plc. All of the note agreements and terms and conditions remain the 
same after the Acquisition. 
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The interest expense due to the related party note holders are $1,090,974 and $1,036,350, respectively. 
The amounts have been included in interest expense on the accompanying statements of operations. 
 
During 2018 and 2017, the Company recorded cost of revenue of $626,631 and $501,543, respectively, 
which represents registrar expenses paid by to Key-Systems GmbH, Germany on behalf of the Company. 
The amounts have been included in cost of revenue on the accompanying statements of operations. 
 
During 2018 and 2017, the Company recorded operating expenses paid by related parties on behalf of the 
Company of $328,759 and $294,311, respectively. The amounts have been included in selling, general 
and administrative expenses on the accompanying statements of operations. 
 
 
NOTE 7 – CONTINGENCIES 
 
The Company may be periodically involved in legal proceedings and claims in the ordinary course of 
business. Management does not believe they are a party to any legal proceedings that could be expected 
to have a material adverse effect on its financial position or results of operations. 
 
 
NOTE 8 – SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

The Company has evaluated subsequent events and transactions through November 21, 2019, the date 
the consolidated financial statements were available for issuance.  
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the members of  
CentralNic USA Ltd 
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We have audited the financial statements of CentralNic USA Limited for the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2017 
which comprises the statement of comprehensive income, the statement of financial position, the statement of 
changes in equity, the statement of cash flows and notes to the financial statements including a summary of significant 
accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation is applicable law and 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as endorsed by the European Union.  
 
In our opinion, 

x the financial statements give a true and fair view of the Company’s affairs  as at 31 December 2018 and 31 
December 2017 and of its financial performance and statement of cash flows for the years then ended; and 

• the financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European 
Union. 

 
BASIS FOR OPINION 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) as issued by IAASB and 
applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the 
audit of the financial statements section of our report. 
 
We are independent of the Company in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ 
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to 
our audit of the financial statements, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements and the IESBA code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 
CONCULSION RELATING TO GOING CONCERN 
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs require us to report to you 
where:  
 

• the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is not 
appropriate; or 

• the directors have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that may cast 
significant doubt about the Company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a 
period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue. 

 
OTHER INFORMATION 
The other information comprises the information included in the annual report, other than the financial statements 
and our auditor’s report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the financial 
statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
 
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in 
doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such material 
inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material 
misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work 
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to 
report that fact.  
 
We have nothing to report in this regard. 
 
RESPONSIBILITIES OF MANAGEMENT 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with 
IFRSs, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
  



Independent Auditor’s Report to the members of  
CentralNic USA Ltd 
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In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the company’s ability to continue as 
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so. Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial 
reporting process. 
 
AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements 
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error, designs and performs audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtains audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the  internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by the directors. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on 
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may 
cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in the auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based 
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of the auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation (i.e gives a true and fair view). 

• Are required to report on financial statements, obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the 
financial information of the business activities within the Company to express an opinion on the financial 
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the audit. We remain 
solely responsible for the audit opinion. 

 
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing 
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 
during our audit. We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with 
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 
 
The partner in charge of the audit resulting in this independent auditors’ report is Colin Turnbull. 
 
 
RPG CROUCH CHAPMAN LLP 
London, United Kingdom 
20 December 2019 
 
RPG Crouch Chapman LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales (with registered number 
OC375705
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  2018 2017 
 Notes $ $ 
 
 
Administrative expenses        (74,992) (28,873) 
Other income  5 12,011 31,759 
  ──────── ──────── 
(Loss)/Profit before interest and tax  (62,981) 2,886 
    
Net intercompany interest   (20,774) 2,763 
  ──────── ──────── 
(Loss)/Profit after interest but before tax                                                                                                  (83,755)              5,649 
 
Income tax expense 8 (14,709)   1,753 
  ──────── ──────── 
(Loss)/Profit for the year  (98,464) 7,402 
  ══════ ══════ 
 
All amounts relate to continuing operations 



Statement of financial position 
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  2018 2017 
 Notes $ $ 
 
ASSETS 
Current assets 
Trade and other receivables  9 750,054 815,873 
Cash   10 2,523,540 157,511 
   ────---─── ───----─── 
Total Current assets  3,273,594       973,384
   
   ────-─--── ───-─---── 
TOTAL ASSETS   3,273,594 973,384 
   ══════ ══════ 
 
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  
Equity 
Equity attributable to owners of the Company     
Share capital  11 100 100 
Retained earnings  11 269,088 367,552 
   ───--──── ────--─── 
Total equity   269,188 367,652 
   ────--─── ─────--── 
Current liabilities 
Trade and other payables  12 3,004,406 605,732 
   ─────--── ───--──── 
Total Current liabilities   3,004,406 605,732 
   ───--──── ──────--─ 
TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES   3,273,594 973,384 
   ══════ ══════ 
 
 
 



Statement of changes in equity 
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Share 

capital 

 Accumulated 
retained 
earnings 

  
 

Total 
 $  $  $ 

At 1 January 2017 100  360,150  360,250 
Loss for the year -  7,402  7,402 
Total comprehensive income for the year -  7,402  7,402 
At 31 December 2017 100  367,552  367,652 
Loss for the year -  (98,464)  (98,464) 
Total comprehensive income for the year -  (98,464)  (98,464) 
At 31 December 2018 100  269,088  269,188 
      
      

 



Statement of cash flows 
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   2018 2017 
  Notes $ $ 
Cash flows from operating activities 
(Loss)/Profit for the year   (98,464) 7,402 
     
Adjustments for: 
Finance income   - (2,763) 
Finance expense   20,774 - 
Income tax expense   14,709 (1,753) 
   ─────── ─────── 
   (62,981) 2,886 
 
Increase in trade and other receivables   (34,371) 926 
Decrease in trade and other payables   12,403 (81) 
   ─────── ─────── 
Cash generated from operations   (84,949) 3,731 
 
Income taxes received   - 137,283 
   ─────── ─────── 
Net cash flows (used in)/from operating activities   (84,949) 141,014 
 
Investing activities 
Interest received    - 2,763 
    ─────── ─────── 
Net cash from investing activities   - 2,763 
 
Financing activities  
Inter-company advances   2,471,752 260,103 
Inter-company advances repaid   - (284,765) 
Interest paid on loans and borrowings   (20,774) - 
   ──────── ──────── 
Net cash from/(used in) financing activities    2,450,978 (24,662) 
 
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents   2,366,029 119,115 
 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year    157,511 38,396 
   ──────-── ───────── 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year   2,523,540 157,511 
   ══════ ══════ 



Notes forming part of the consolidated financial statements 
For the year ended 31 December 2018 
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1. General information  
 
Nature of operations 
CentralNic USA Ltd is incorporated in Los Angeles, California in the United States of America (USA’).  The company’s principal 
place of business address is 885 Harrison Street SE, Leesburg. VA 20175 and its registered office address of the Company is 
4th Floor, Saddlers House, 44 Gutter Lane, London, EC2V 6BR.   
 
The Company provides management services to other group companies. The parent company and its subsidiaries provides 
reseller, small business, and corporate and strategic consultancy for new Top Level Domains (TLDs), Country Code TLD’s 
(ccTLDs) and Second-Level Domains (SLDs) and it is the owner and registrant of a portfolio of domain names, which it uses as 
domain extensions and for resale on the domain name aftermarket 
 
2. Application of IFRS 

 
(a) Basis of preparation and going concern 
 
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are set out in section 3.  The policies 
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.  
 
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and 
International Accounting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and Interpretations 
(collectively IFRSs) as endorsed by the European Union.   
 
The financial statements have been prepared under the assumption that the Company operates on a going concern basis. In 
the forming this opinion, the Director  has confirmed that the amounts payable to group undertakings will not be repayable 
until such funds are available and therefore they consider it appropriate to prepare the financial statements on a going concern 
basis. 
 
The financial statements are presented in US Dollars ($) unless otherwise stated, which is the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the entity operates. The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for 
financial instruments measured at fair value through other comprehensive income.  
 
 (b) Standards, amendments and interpretations to published standards not yet effective  

There are no standards issued not yet effective that will have a material effect on the financial statements. 

 

3. Accounting policies 
 
The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, as explained in the accounting policies set out below, 
which has been prepared in accordance with IFRS. The principal accounting policies are set out below: 
 
(a) Functional and foreign currencies 
 
(i) Functional and presentation currency 
Items included in the financial statements of the Company are measured using the currency of the primary economic 
environment in which the entity operates (the functional currency). The financial statements are presented in US Dollars ($), 
the company’s presentational currency and are rounded to the US Dollar ($). 
 
(ii) Transactions and balances 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency at the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the 
transactions or valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign currency gains and losses resulting from the settlement of 
such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are recognised in the income statement, except where deferred in other comprehensive income as qualifying cash 
flow hedges and qualifying net-investment hedges. Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings and cash and 
cash equivalents are presented in the income statement within finance income or finance costs. All other foreign exchange 
gains and losses are recognised in profit and loss within administrative expenses. 
   
  



Notes forming part of the consolidated financial statements 
For the year ended 31 December 2018 
 

10 
 

(b) Financial instruments 
Financial assets and liabilities are recognised in the statements of financial position when the company has become a party to 
the contractual provisions of the instruments.  
 
The company’s financial assets and liabilities are initially measured at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. 
The carrying value of the Company’s financial assets (primarily cash and bank balances) and liabilities (primarily payables and 
other accrued expenses) approximate their fair values.  
 
Financial instruments are offset when the company has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends to settle either on a 
net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 
 
The Company only has financial assets held at amortised cost. These assets arise principally from the provision of goods and 
services to customers (eg trade receivables), but also incorporate other types of financial assets where the objective is to hold 
these assets in order to collect contractual cash flows and the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and 
interest. They are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to their acquisition or 
issue and are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less provision for impairment.  
 
Impairment provisions for receivables from group undertakings are recognised based on a forward-looking expected credit loss 
model. The methodology used to determine the amount of the provision is based on whether there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk since initial recognition of the financial asset. For those where the credit risk has not increased 
significantly since initial recognition of the financial asset, 12 months expected credit losses along with gross interest income 
are recognised. For those for which credit risk has increased significantly, lifetime expected credit losses along with the gross 
interest income are recognised. For those that are determined to be credit impaired, lifetime expected credit losses along with 
interest income on a net basis are recognised. 
 
The company’s financial assets measured at amortised cost comprise amounts owed to group  and cash and cash equivalents 
in the Statement of financial position.  
 
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments 
with original maturities of three months or less.  
 
(ii)Financial liabilities and equity instruments 
Financial liabilities are classified as liabilities or equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangement. 
Interest, dividends, gains and losses relating to financial liabilities are reported in profit or loss. Distributions to holders of 
financial liabilities are classified as equity and charged directly to equity. 
 
Financial liabilities 
Financial liabilities comprise trade payables and amounts owed to group undertakings are measured at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method.  
 
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest 
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments 
(including all fees on points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other 
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the net 
carrying amount on initial recognition. 
 
Equity instruments 
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all its liabilities. 
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. 
 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new ordinary shares or options 
are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from proceeds. 
 
Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised as liabilities when approved for appropriation. 
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(c) Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and bank balances comprise of cash in hand, bank balances, deposits with financial institutions and short-term, highly 
liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of 
changes in value. 
 
(d) Taxation 
Taxation for the year comprises of current and deferred tax 
 
Deferred tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets 
and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements.  
 
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that the underlying tax loss or deductible temporary 
difference will be utilised against future taxable income. This is assessed based on the company’s forecast of future operating 
results, adjusted for significant non-taxable income and expenses and specific limits on the use of any unused tax loss or credit.  
 
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised in full.  
 
 (f) Borrowing costs 
All borrowing costs are recognised in profit and loss in the period in which they are incurred. 
 
(g) Equity, reserves and dividend payments 
Share capital represents the nominal (par) value of shares that have been issued. 
 
Other components of equity include retained earnings. Retained earnings includes all current and prior period retained profits.  
 
All transactions with owners of the parent are recorded separately within equity. Dividend distributions payable to equity 
shareholders are included in other liabilities when the dividends have been approved in a general meeting prior to the reporting 
date. 
 
 
4. Critical accounting estimates and judgements 

 
In the application of the company’s accounting policies, the Director is required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions 
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not apparent from other sources. The estimates and assumptions 
are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable 
under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates.  
 
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised 
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future 
periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. 
 
The directors do not consider that there are significant estimates and judgements used in the preparation of the financial 
statements.  
 
 
5. Other income 

 
Other operating comprises the below amounts.  
 
Since this is not considered to be part of the main revenue generating activities, the Company presents this income separately 
from revenue.  
  2018 2017 
  $   $ 
 
Management fees 12,011 31,759 
  ═════ ═════ 
 
  



Notes forming part of the consolidated financial statements 
For the year ended 31 December 2018 
 

12 
 

6. Employee information 
 
There were no other staff employed by the company other than the director during 2017 and 2018. No remuneration was paid 
by the company to the director during those periods.  
 
  
7. Finance income and expense 
 
Recognised in profit or loss 2018 2017 
  $ $ 
Finance income 
 Interest received on intercompany debts 32,115 26,075 
  ═════ ═════ 
   
Finance expense 
Interest expense on intercompany debts (52,889) (23,312) 
  ═════ ═════ 
 
Net intercompany interest (cost)/ income (20,774) 2,763 
 
 
8. Tax expense     
 
Income tax expense 2018 2017 
 $ $ 
Income tax relating to continuing operations has been recognised in profit or 
loss as following: 
 
Income Taxes 14,709 - 
Federal tax - (2,553) 
State tax - 800   
 ──────── ──────── 
  14,709 (1,753) 
 ══════ ══════ 
The reconciliation between the income tax expense and the product of profit before tax from continuing operations 
multiplied by the Income Tax rate is as follows: 
 2018 2017 
 $ $ 
 
(Loss)/Profit before tax from continuing operations (83,755) 5,649 
 
Tax at the Income Tax rate of 21% (2017: 35%) (17,589) 1,977 
 
Adjustments to prior year provisions 14,709 - 
Tax losses carried forward 17,589 - 
Others  (3,730)  
 ──────── ──────── 
Income tax expense relating to continuing operations                            14,709 (1,753) 
 ══════ ══════ 
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9. Trade and other receivables   
 

Trade and other receivables consist of the following:  
 2018 2017 
 $ $ 
 
Amounts owed by group undertakings 712,715 798,196 
Prepayments and other receivables 35,095 724 
Income tax 2,244 16,953 
 ──────── ──────── 
  750,054 815,873 
 ══════ ══════ 

 
 
10. Cash and cash equivalents   

 2018 2017 
Cash at bank and in hand $ $ 
 

- GBP - 7 
- USD 2,523,540 157,504 

 ──────── ──────── 
  2,523,540 157,511 
 ══════ ══════ 
 
 
11. Equity 
 

Share Capital  
The share capital of CentralNic USA Ltd consists only of fully paid ordinary shares with a nominal (par) value of $ 1 per 
share. All shares are equally eligible to receive dividends and the repayment of capital and represent one vote at 
shareholders’ meetings. 
 2018 2017
 $ $
Shares issued and fully paid 100 100
 ══════ ══════

Other components of equity 
 
Retained earnings 
Retained earnings represent the cumulative value of the profits not distributed to shareholders, but retained to finance 
the future capital requirements of the company. 

 
 
12. Trade and other payables  
 

Trade and other payables consist of the following:  
 2018 2017 
 $ $ 
 
Trade payables 12,967 564 
Amounts owed by group undertaking 2,991,439 605,168 
 ──────── ──────── 
  3,004,406 605,732 
 ══════ ══════ 
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13. Financial instruments and Risk Management 
  

Financial instruments  
 The company is exposed to market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk arising from financial instruments. The company’s 
overall financial risk management policy focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise 
potential adverse effects on the company’s financial performance. The group does not trade in financial instruments. 
 
The principal financial instruments used by the company, from which financial instrument risk arises comprise of cash 
and cash equivalents and amounts due from group undertakings. The company’s financial liabilities comprise of trade 
payables and amounts owed to group undertakings.  All of the above are measured at the amortised costs.  
 
Financial risk management framework 
The Directors’ risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the company, to set 
appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits.  
 
Market risk  
 
(i) Foreign currency risk 

The company’s exposure to foreign currency risk is minimal as it trades predominantly in US Dollars. Exposure to currency 
risk is negated by holding minimum debt and cash balances in other currencies. As the company evolves, foreign currency 
risk will be monitored more closely given exposure to additional markets and currencies.  
 
The company did not hold any financial instruments denominated in foreign currencies at 31 December 2018. 
 
(ii) Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market interest rates. The Company’s exposure to interest rate risk arises mainly from interest-bearing 
financial assets and liabilities which are on cash balances and the intercompany balances that are due on demand and 
bear interest at a rate of 3.95% + LIBOR.  

The interest bearings assets and inabilities and there  

 
Credit risk 
The Company’s exposure to credit risk arises mainly from counterparty’s failure to meet its obligation to settle a 
financial asset. The Company was not exposed to credit risk arising from trade receivables as there were no trade 
receivable at the year ends. Credit risk arising from other receivables is controlled through monitoring procedures, 
including credit approvals and credit limits, with the balance largely offset by separate liabilities held on the balance 
sheet relating to the same party. Intercompany receivables are supported by the group and the provision for expected 
credit losses is considered to be immaterial and therefore no provision is made.  
 
For cash and bank balances, the Director minimises the Company’s credit risk by dealing exclusively with banks and 
financial institution counterparties with high credit ratings.   

  

    2018  2017 
    $  $ 
       
Cash and bank balances    2,523,540  157,511 
Effect of interest rate change of 100 basis 
points on cash and bank balances 

    
+/- 25,235 

  
+/- 1,575 

       
Net intercompany balances    (2,278,724)  193,028  
Effect of interest rate change of 100 basis 
points on cash and bank balance 

   +/-22,787   +/-1,930  
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Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in settling its financial obligations that are settled 
with cash or another financial asset. The Director’s objective is to maintain, as much as possible, a level of its cash and 
bank balances adequate enough to ensure that there will be sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when they fall due. 
 
The following financial liabilities were all due with one year: 

  2018 2017 
    

Trade and other payables   3,004,406 605,732     
     

The Group have pledged support to the entity and whilst intercompany amounts are technically due on demand the 
entity has received confirmation that these balances will not be called until adequate funds exist to repay these 
amounts.  

 
Capital risk management 
The Director defines capital as the total equity of the company and intercompany balances. The Director’s objectives 
when managing capital are to safeguard the company’s ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns 
for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders. 

 
 
14. Parent company and related party transactions 
 

The company’s immediate parent company is CentralNic Group Plc, a company incorporated in the UK and listed on the 
Aim Market of the London Stock Exchange. A copy of the consolidated accounts are available at 4th Floor, Saddlers House, 
44 Gutter Lane, London, EC2V 6BR. 
 
All balances with related parties are shown in note 9 & 12 as amounts due to / from Group undertakings/ fellow 
subsidiaries. All management fees were earned from Group undertakings/ fellow subsidiaries. 
 
No member of key management are remunerated through the entity. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
 
Board of Directors and Stockholder 
Key‐Systems USA, Inc.: 
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Key‐Systems USA, Inc., 
which comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, and the 
related consolidated statements of operations, changes in stockholder’s equity (deficit) and cash 
flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements.  
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Consolidated financial Statements 
 
Management  is  responsible  for  the  preparation  and  fair  presentation  of  these  consolidated 
financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control 
relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of consolidated financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  
 
Auditor’s Responsibility  
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on 
our audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted 
in the United States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from 
material misstatement.  
 
An  audit  involves  performing  procedures  to  obtain  audit  evidence  about  the  amounts  and 
disclosures  in  the  consolidated  financial  statements. The procedures  selected depend on  the 
auditor’s  judgment,  including  the  assessment  of  the  risks  of material misstatement  of  the 
consolidated  financial  statements,  whether  due  to  fraud  or  error.  In  making  those  risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair 
presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit 
also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness 
of  significant  accounting  estimates made  by management,  as well  as  evaluating  the  overall 
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.  
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion.  
 



   
   
   

 

 

Opinion 
 
In  our  opinion,  the  consolidated  financial  statements  referred  to  above  present  fairly,  in  all 
material respects, the financial position of Key‐Systems USA, Inc. as of December 31, 2018 and 
2017, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 
 
 
 
 
KBF CPAs LLP 
 
Portland, Oregon 
January 15, 2020 



2018 2017
Current assets:

Cash 90,491$            384,843$          
Accounts receivable, net 846,075            475,035            
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 13,247              1,522                

Total current assets 949,813            861,400            

Total assets 949,813$          861,400$          

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable 10,756$            15,714$            
Accounts payable, related party 516,386            814,833            
Accrued expenses 22,435              13,100              
Note payable, related party 202,400            202,400            
Deferred revenue 382,423            372,468            

Total current liabilities 1,134,400         1,418,515         

Stockholder's equity (deficit):
Share capital; no par value; 1 share authorized, issued, and outstanding 1,000                1,000                
Accumulated deficit (185,587)           (558,115)           

Total stockholder's equity (deficit) (184,587)           (557,115)           

Total liabilities and stockholder's equity (deficit) 949,813$          861,400$          

AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017

KEY-SYSTEMS USA, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDER'S EQUITY (DEFICIT)

ASSETS

See accompanying notes and independent auditor's report.
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2018 2017

Revenues 2,304,915$         1,821,420$         

Cost of revenues 113,448             35,019               
Cost of revenues, related party 1,074,150          799,351             

Total cost of revenues 1,187,598          834,370             

Gross Profit 1,117,317          987,050             

Selling, general and administrative expenses 731,616             745,349             

Income from operations 385,701             241,701             

Interest expense, related party (13,200)              (13,100)              
Other income (expense) 27                      (2,966)                

Net income 372,528$            225,635$            

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017

KEY-SYSTEMS USA, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

See accompanying notes and independent auditor's report.
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Total
Additional Accumulated Stockholder's

Share Amount Paid-in Capital Deficit Equity (Deficit)

Balances, December 31, 2016 1                     1,000$             -$                (783,750)$        (782,750)$          

Net income -                  -                  -                  225,635           225,635             

Balances, December 31, 2017 1                     1,000               -                  (558,115)          (557,115)            

Net income -                  -                  -                  372,528           372,528             

Balances, December 31, 2018 1                     1,000$             -$                (185,587)$        (184,587)$          

Share Capital

KEY-SYSTEMS USA, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS'S EQUITY (DEFICIT)

AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017

See accompanying notes and independent auditor's report.
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2018 2017
Cash Flows From Operating Activities:

Net income 372,528$          225,635$       
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by (used in)
    operating activities:

Depreciation -                  835               
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable (371,040)          (123,204)        
(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses and other assets (11,725)            6,650            
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable (4,958)              3,109            
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable, related party (298,447)          125,844         
Increase (decrease) in accrued expenses 9,335               13,100           
Increase (decrease) in deferred revenue 9,955               100,717         

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities (294,352)          352,686         

Cash Flows From Financing Activities:
Repayment under notes payable, related party -                  (15,050)         

Net cash used in financing activities -                  (15,050)         

Net increase (decrease) in cash (294,352)          337,636         

Cash, beginning of year 384,843           47,207           

Cash, end of year 90,491$           384,843$       

KEY-SYSTEMS USA, INC.

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

See accompanying notes and independent auditor's report.
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NOTE 1 – GENERAL INFORMATION 
 
Key-Systems USA, Inc (the “Company”) is organised by the laws of the United States of America, 
incorporated in the state of Virginia.  
 
The Company’s financial year starts on January 1 and ends on December 31 of each year.  
 
On August 2, 2018, CentralNic Group Plc acquired indirectly the entire share capital of Key-Systems USA, 
Inc (the “Acquisition”). CentralNic Group Plc is the UK holding company of a group of companies which 
are engaged in the provision of global domain name services. CentralNic Group Plc has been admitted to 
trading in the AIM segment of the London Stock Exchange.  
 
From August 2, 2018 through December 31, 2018, the Company is included in the consolidated accounts 
of CentralNic Group Plc, which is published and available on the website of London Stock Exchange. From 
January 1, 2017 through August 1, 2018, the Company was wholly-owned by Key-Systems GmbH. As part 
of the Acquisition on August 2, 2018, Key-Systems GmbH was also acquired by CentralNic Group Plc and 
the Company is now a wholly-owned subsidiary within CentralNic Group Plc.  
 
The Company’s business is part of the CentralNic’s corporate services business segment, providing 
services in the domain industry to other companies. Core of the business is providing services to protect 
corporate brand names on the Internet. Services include domain name registration and management, and 
online brand protection for companies and trademark owners.  
 
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts and transactions of Key-Systems USA, Inc. 
and the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary; Key-Systems LLC. All intercompany balances and 
transactions have been eliminated in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.  
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NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
2.1 Basis of preparation 
 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. Generally Accepted 
Accounting Principles.  
 
The Company makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities 
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the year. Estimates and judgments are 
continuously evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations 
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Significant estimates 
requiring management judgment include application of revenue recognition criteria and valuation of 
accounts receivable. The estimation process may result in actual results differing from those estimated 
amounts used in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements.  
 
2.2 Significant accounting policies 
 
The significant accounting policies applied by the Company are the following: 
 
2.2.1 Long-lived assets and impairment assessments  
 
Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that 
the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. In evaluating the value and future economic 
benefits of long-lived assets, their carrying value is compared to management’s estimate of the 
anticipated undiscounted future net cash flows of the related long-lived asset.  
 
2.2.2 Revenue recognition  
 
Revenue from domain registration and renewals are recorded in the month of registration. Revenues for 
domain management and trademark protections are recognized on a monthly basis as the services are 
performed.   Deferred revenue is recorded in those circumstances where the Company invoices in advance 
for domain management and trademark protection services.  
 
2.2.3 Cost of revenues  
 
The Company incurs domain registration and renewal fees that are paid by Key-Systems GmbH, Germany. 
The Company records these fees as cost of revenues, related party on the accompanying consolidated 
statements of operations.  
 
The Company also records cost of revenues for other expenditures related to the domain maintenance 
and trademark management services provided to its customers.  
 
2.2.4 Cash and cash equivalents  
 
The Company considers all highly liquid monetary instruments with an original maturity of three months 
or less to be cash equivalents. The Company does not hold any cash equivalents as of December 31, 2018 
and 2017. 
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2.2.5 Concentration of Credit Risk  

The Company maintains its cash balances in large financial institutions. At times, such cash balances may 
be in excess of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation limit. The Company does not believe it is 
exposed to any significant credit risk related to its cash accounts.  

Accounts receivable consist primarily of the net amounts to be collected from customers. The Company 
estimates its allowance for doubtful accounts based on historical write-off activity and known specific 
issues or disputes which exist as of the balance sheet date. Management believes that the risk of loss on 
its accounts receivable is adequately reserved for in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. 
Uncollectible accounts are written off against the allowance for doubtful accounts after exhausting all 
collection attempt remedies.  

2.2.6 Income taxes  

The Company utilizes the asset and liability method of accounting for income taxes. Under this method, 
deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to 
differences between the consolidated financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and 
liabilities and their respective tax bases and operating loss and tax credit carry forwards. Deferred tax 
assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the 
years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on 
deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in results of operations in the 
period that includes the enactment date. A valuation allowance is recorded for deferred tax assets when 
it is more likely than not that such deferred tax assets will not be realized.  

The Company follows the guidance under Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting 
Standards Codification (“ASC”) 740, Income Taxes, in accounting for uncertainties in income taxes, which 
defines the thresholds for recognizing the benefits of tax return positions in the consolidated financial 
statements as “more likely than not” to be sustained by the taxing authority. The Company recognizes 
interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits as a component of income tax expense. The 
Company is subject to federal, state and local income taxes. The Company is not currently under any 
Internal Revenue Service or state tax examination. The Company’s statutes of limitations are closed for 
all federal and state tax years before 2016.  

2.2.7 Recently issued accounting pronouncements  

In May 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2014-09, Revenue From Contracts 
with Customers, which requires an entity to recognize the amount of revenue to which it expects to be 
entitled for the transfer of promised goods or services to customers. ASU 2014-09 outlines a single 
comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for revenue arising from contracts with customers 
and supersedes most current revenue recognition guidance. This ASU is effective for reporting periods 
beginning after December 15, 2018. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this accounting 
standard.  
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NOTE 3 – INCOME TAXES 

The Company has recorded a full valuation allowance on its net deferred tax asset as of December 31, 
2018 and 2017. The deferred tax asset primarily consists of net operating loss carryforwards (“NOL”). The 
Company utilized NOL’s to offset taxable income in 2018 and 2017. As of December 31, 2018, the Company 
has NOL’s remaining totaling $104,157 to offset taxable income in the future. The resulting deferred tax 
asset totaling approximately $28,000 has a full valuation allowance recorded due to the uncertainty 
surrounding its utilization.    
 
NOTE 4 – RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS  
 
During 2010, the Company issued a note payable to Key-Systems GmbH., Germany for $550,000. The 
Company is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the note holder. The loan is due on request of the note holder, 
thus has been recorded as a current liability.  The interest rate is 3 % per annum. The outstanding principal 
amount is $202,400 as of December 2018 and 2017.  
 
Interest expense on the related party note was $13,200 and $13,100 for the years ended December 31, 
2018 and 2017, respectively. The amounts have been included in interest expense on the accompanying 
consolidated statements of operations.  
 
As discussed in Note 2.2.3, the company incurs domain registration and revenue fees paid by Key-Systems 
GmbH, Germany. The company owes Key-Systems GmbH, Germany $516,386 and $814,833 as of December 
31, 2018 and 2017, respectively and is included in accounts payable, related party, on the accompanying 
consolidated balance sheets.  

NOTE 5 – CONTINGENCIES  
 
The Company may be periodically involved in legal proceedings and claims in the ordinary course of 
business. Management does not believe they are a party to any legal proceedings that could be expected 
to have a material adverse effect on its financial position or results of operations.  

NOTE 6 – COMMITMENTS  
 
Leases 
The Company leases its facility under a non-cancelable operating lease. The facility leases contain 
escalation clauses calling for increased annual rental payments. The related rent expense is recognized 
in accordance with ASC  840, Leases, utilizing the straight-line method over the term of the lease. The 
following is a schedule of future minimum lease payments under the non-cancelable operating lease as 
of December 31, 2018: 
 

2019   $             34,350 
2020      26,100 
    
Total   $             60,450 

 
For the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, total rent expense was 33,570 and 32,910, respectively.  
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NOTE 7 - CAPITAL AND RESERVES 

The Company’s share capital consists of one share at no par value. 

NOTE 8 – SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

The Company has evaluated subsequent events and transactions through January 15, 2020, the date the 
consolidated financial statements were available for issuance.  
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
 
Board of Directors and Member 
Key‐Systems, LLC: 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Key‐Systems, LLC, which comprise 
the balance sheets as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, and the related statements of operations, 
changes in member’s equity and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to 
the financial statements.  
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
 
Management  is  responsible  for  the  preparation  and  fair  presentation  of  these  financial 
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant 
to  the preparation  and  fair presentation of  financial  statements  that  are  free  from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  
 
Auditor’s Responsibility  
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We 
conducted our audits  in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted  in  the United 
States  of  America.  Those  standards  require  that  we  plan  and  perform  the  audit  to  obtain 
reasonable  assurance  about  whether  the  financial  statements  are  free  from  material 
misstatement.  
 
An  audit  involves  performing  procedures  to  obtain  audit  evidence  about  the  amounts  and 
disclosures  in  the  financial  statements.  The  procedures  selected  depend  on  the  auditor’s 
judgment,  including  the  assessment  of  the  risks  of  material  misstatement  of  the  financial 
statements,  whether  due  to  fraud  or  error.  In making  those  risk  assessments,  the  auditor 
considers  internal  control  relevant  to  the  entity’s  preparation  and  fair  presentation  of  the 
financial  statements  in  order  to  design  audit  procedures  that  are  appropriate  in  the 
circumstances, but not  for  the purpose of expressing an opinion on  the effectiveness of  the 
entity’s  internal  control.  Accordingly,  we  express  no  such  opinion.  An  audit  also  includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 
financial statements.  
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion.  
 



   
   
   

 

 

Opinion 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of Key‐Systems, LLC as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, and the results of 
its  operations  and  its  cash  flows  for  the  years  then  ended  in  accordance  with  accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 
 
 
 
 
KBF CPAs LLP 
 
Portland, Oregon 
December 23, 2019 



2018 2017
Current assets:

Cash 536$                 589$                 
Total current assets 536                   589                   

Related party receivable 17,550 17,550

Total assets 18,086$            18,139$            

Total liabilities -$                 -$                 

Member's equity:
Share Capital; no par value; 1 unit authorized, issued and outstanding -                   -                   
Retained earnings 18,086              18,139              

Total member's equity 18,086              18,139              

Total liabilities and member's equity 18,086$            18,139$            

LIABILITIES AND MEMBER'S EQUITY

KEY-SYSTEMS, LLC
BALANCE SHEETS

AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017

ASSETS

See accompanying notes and independent auditor's report.
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2018 2017

Revenues, related party -$                   2,025$               

Operating expenses:
Selling, general and administrative expenses 53                      186                    

Income (loss) from operations (53)                     1,839                 

Interest income (expense), net -                        -                     

Income (loss) before provision for income taxes (53)                     1,839                 

Income tax provision -                        -                     

Net income (loss) (53)$                   1,839$               

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017
STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

KEY-SYSTEMS, LLC

See accompanying notes and independent auditor's report.
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Total
Retained Member's

Units Amount Earnings Equity 

Balances, December 31, 2016 1                     -$                 16,300$           16,300$           

Net income -                  -                  1,839               1,839               

Balances, December 31, 2017 1                     -                  18,139             18,139             

Net loss -                  -                  (53)                  (53)                  

Balances, December 31, 2018 1                     -$                 18,086$           18,086$           

Share Capital

KEY-SYSTEMS, LLC
STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN MEMBER'S EQUITY 

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017

See accompanying notes and independent auditor's report.
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2018 2017
Cash Flows From Operating Activities:

Net income (loss) (53)$              1,839$           
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash used in

operating activities
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:

(Increase) decrease in related party receivable -                   (1,875)           

(53)                (36)                

Net decrease in cash (53)                (36)                

Cash, beginning of year 589               625               

Cash, end of year 536$              589$              

Supplemental cash flow information: 
Cash paid during the year for interest -$              -$              
Cash paid during the year for income taxes -$              -$              

KEY-SYSTEMS, LLC

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

See accompanying notes and independent auditor's report.
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NOTE 1 – GENERAL INFORMATION 
 
Key-Systems, LLC (“Company”) is a limited liability company organised by the laws of the United States 
of America, incorporated in the state of Virginia. 
 
The Company’s financial year starts on January 1 and ends on December 31 of each year. 
 
On August 2, 2018, CentralNic Group Plc acquired indirectly the entire share capital of Key-Systems, LLC 
(the “Acquisition”). CentralNic Group Plc is the UK holding company of a group of companies which are 
engaged in the provision of global domain name services. CentralNic Group Plc has been admitted to 
trading in the AIM segment of the London Stock Exchange. 
  
From August 2, 2018 through December 31, 2018, the Company is included in the consolidated accounts 
of CentralNic Group Plc, which is published and available on the website of London Stock Exchange. From 
January 1, 2017 through August 1, 2018, the Company was wholly-owned by KeyDrive S.A. As part of the 
Acquisition on August 2, 2018, KeyDrive S.A. was also acquired by CentralNic Group Plc. 
  
The company is directly owned by Key-Systems USA, Inc. The Company is included as a consolidated entity 
of Key-Systems USA, Inc. The Company holds an ICANN account that is utilized by a related party for 
which an annual fee is due.  
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NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  

2.1 Basis of preparation  

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting 
Principles.  

2.2 Income taxes 

The Company is a limited liability company (“LLC”) under the Internal Revenue Code. As an LLC, the 
Company’s taxable income (loss) flows to the member’s federal and state income tax returns. 
Accordingly, no income tax provision or benefit is presented for financial statement purposes.  

The Company follows the guidance under Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting 
Standards Codification (“ASC”) 740, Income Taxes, in accounting for uncertainties in income taxes, and 
defines the thresholds for recognizing the benefits of tax return positions in the financial statements as 
“more-likely-than-not” to be sustained by the taxing authority. The Company recognizes interest and 
penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits as a component of income tax expense. At December 31, 
2018, the Company has no unrecognized tax benefits and the Company’s statutes of limitation are closed 
for all Federal and state tax years before 2016. The Company is not currently under any Internal Revenue 
Services or state tax examination.  

NOTE 3 – RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

The Company is party to an agreement with Key-Systems GmbH, regarding the usage of the Company’s 
ICANN account by Key-Systems GmbH. The agreed annual fee due by Key-Systems GmbH to the Company 
is $2,000. Key-Systems GmbH is a wholly-owned entity within the CentralNic Group Plc group of entities. 

The Company has recorded a related party receivable with Key-Systems USA, Inc. totaling $17,550 as of 
December 31, 2018 and 2017. There are no repayment terms associated with this receivable. Accordingly, 
the amount is reflected as a long-term asset.  

NOTE 4 – CONTINGENCIES 

The Company may be periodically involved in legal proceedings and claims in the ordinary course of 
business. Management does not believe they are a party to any legal proceedings that could be expected 
to have a material adverse effect on its financial position or results of operations.  

NOTE 5 - CAPITAL AND RESERVES  

The Company’s share capital consists of one unit at no par value. 

NOTE 6 – SUBSEQUENT EVENTS  

The Company has evaluated subsequent events and transactions through December 23, 2019, the date 
the financial statements were available for issuance.  
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
 
Board of Directors and Member 
Moniker Online Services, LLC: 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Moniker Online Services, LLC, which 
comprise the balance sheets as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, and the related statements of 
operations, changes in member’s equity (deficit), and cash flows for the years then ended, and 
the related notes to the financial statements. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial 
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant 
to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility  
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We 
conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. 
 



  
  
  

 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion. 
 
Opinion 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of Moniker Online Services, LLC as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, and the 
results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 
 
KBF CPAs LLP 
 
Portland, Oregon 
November 21, 2019 



2018 2017
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents 498,416$           221,374$           
Accounts receivable, net 8,641 89,853
Accounts receivable, related party 55,736 49,130
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 31,924 34,861
Prepaid expenses and other current assets, related party 1,261 97

Total current assets 595,978             395,315             

Intangible assets, net 3,117,704 1,452,603

Total assets 3,713,682$        1,847,918$        

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable 351,739$           228,332$           
Accounts payable, related party 22,310               23,228               
Customer Deposits 611,160             576,223             
Accrued expenses 295,245 72,191
Accrued Interest, related party 3,524,712 3,004,634          
Notes payable, related party 12,467,413 12,667,413        

Total liabilities 17,272,579        16,572,021        

Member's equity (deficit):
Share capital; no par value; 1 share authorized, issued and outstanding -                    -                    
Additional paid-in capital 72,785               72,785               
Accumulated deficit (13,631,682)       (14,796,888)       

Total member's equity (deficit) (13,558,897)       (14,724,103)       

Total liabilities and member's equity (deficit) 3,713,682$        1,847,918$        

MONIKER ONLINE SERVICES, LLC
BALANCE SHEETS

AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017

ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND MEMBER'S EQUITY (DEFICIT)

See accompanying notes and independent auditor's report.
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2018 2017

Revenues 5,832,089$        5,781,858$        
Revenues, related party 102,519             105,607             

Total revenues 5,934,608          5,887,465          

Cost of revenues 3,821,261          4,009,700          
Cost of revenues, related party 626,631             501,543             

Total cost of revenues 4,447,892          4,511,243          

Operating expenses:
Selling, general and administrative expenses 1,762,967          1,031,236          
Selling, general and administrative expenses, related party 328,759             294,311             

Total selling, general and administrative expenses 2,091,726          1,325,547          

Income (loss) from operations (605,010)            50,675               

Interest expense, related party (1,090,974)         (1,036,350)         

Net loss (1,695,984)$       (985,675)$          

MONIKER ONLINE SERVICES, LLC
STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017

See accompanying notes and independent auditor's report.
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Total
Additional Accumulated Member's

Share Amount Paid-in Capital Deficit Equity (Deficit)

Balances, December 31, 2016 1                      -$                 72,785$            (13,811,213)$    (13,738,428)$      

Net loss -                   -                   -                   (985,675)           (985,675)             

Balances, December 31, 2017 1                      -                   72,785              (14,796,888)      (14,724,103)        

Equity contribution from acquisition -                   -                   -                   2,861,190         2,861,190           

Net loss -                   -                   -                   (1,695,984)        (1,695,984)          

Balances, December 31, 2018 1                      -$                 72,785$            (13,631,682)$    (13,558,897)$      

Share Capital

MONIKER ONLINE SERVICES, LLC
STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN MEMBER'S EQUITY (DEFICIT)

AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017

See accompanying notes and independent auditor's report.
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2018 2017
Cash Flows From Operating Activities:

Net loss (1,695,984)$      (985,675)$      
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in
    operating activities:

Amortization 781,858            599,560         
Impairment of intangible assets prior to acquisition 414,231            -                

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
(Increase) decrease in accounts receivable 74,606             (13,409)          
(Increase) decrease in prepaid expenses and other assets 1,773               (9,594)           
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable 122,489            (582,364)        
Increase (decrease) in accrued expenses 223,054            (86,995)          
Increase (decrease) in accrued interest expenses 520,078            879,935         
Increase (decrease) in customer deposits 34,937             (58,515)          

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities 477,042            (257,057)        

Cash Flows From Financing Activities:
Repayment under notes payable, related party (200,000)          -                

Net cash used in financing activities (200,000)          -                

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 277,042            (257,057)        

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 221,374            478,431         

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 498,416$          221,374$       

Supplemental cash flow information: 
Cash paid during the year for interest -$                 -$              
Cash paid during the year for income taxes -$                 -$              

Non-cash investing and financing activities:
Equity contribution from acquisition 2,861,190$       -$              

MONIKER ONLINE SERVICES, LLC

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

See accompanying notes and independent auditor's report.
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MONIKER ONLINE SERVICES, LLC 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017 
 
NOTE 1 – GENERAL INFORMATION 
 
Moniker Online Services, LLC (the “Company”) is a limited liability company organised by the laws of the 
United States of America, incorporated in the state of Florida. 
 
The Company’s financial year starts on January 1 and ends on December 31 of each year. 
 
On August 2, 2018, CentralNic Group Plc acquired indirectly the entire share capital of Moniker Online 
Services, LLC (the “Acquisition”). CentralNic Group Plc is the UK holding company of a group of companies 
which are engaged in the provision of global domain name services. CentralNic Group Plc has been 
admitted to trading in the AIM segment of the London Stock Exchange.  
 
From August 2, 2018 through December 31, 2018, the Company is included in the consolidated accounts 
of CentralNic Group Plc, which is published and available on the website of London Stock Exchange. From 
January 1, 2017 through August 1, 2018, the Company was wholly-owned by KeyDrive S.A. As part of the 
Acquisition on August 2, 2018, KeyDrive S.A. was also acquired by CentralNic Group Plc.   
 
The Company’s business is part of the CentralNic’s small business segment, and it provides domain names 
and value-added services to customers. Core of the business is the offer of registering domain names. 
Moniker Online Services, LLC has 1,000 top-level-domains in its portfolio. The Company is directly owned 
by Moniker.com, Inc. and included as a consolidated entity of Moniker.com, Inc. 
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NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
2.1 Basis of preparation 
 
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting 
Principles.  
 
The Company makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities 
and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the year. Estimates and judgments are 
continuously evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations 
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Significant estimates 
requiring management judgment include application of revenue recognition criteria, valuation of 
intangible assets, and assumptions related to potential value-added tax contingencies. The estimation 
process may result in actual results differing from those estimated amounts used in the preparation of 
the financial statements. 
 
2.2 Significant accounting policies 
 
The significant accounting policies applied by the Company are the following: 
 
2.2.1 Long-lived assets and impairment assessments 
 
Long-lived assets, including intangible assets, are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes 
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. In evaluating the 
value and future economic benefits of long-lived assets, their carrying value is compared to 
management’s estimate of the anticipated undiscounted future net cash flows of the related long-lived 
asset. In connection with the Acquisition, intangible assets were revalued at August 2, 2018. 
 
The estimated useful life of customer relationships and tradename is 7 years and 15 years, respectively.  
 
2.2.2 Revenue recognition 
 
Revenues are generated from the provision of retail and similar services to domain registrants. Other 
revenue streams would be those of new registrations and renewals. Revenues are recognized when a 
transaction is generated on the service registry platform by the customer. 
 
Revenue is recognized when the following criteria are met: (a) the Company has entered into a legally 
binding agreement with the customer; (b) the subscription or maintenance service has been provided, or 
in the case of professional services, the services have been delivered; (c) the fee is fixed or determinable; 
and (d) collection is probable. 
 
For the Company’s business, all criteria for revenue recognition are met at the point of sale, and therefore 
no revenue is deferred. When customers make prepayment for the registration services, the prepaid 
amounts are included in customer deposits and revenue is recognized when the services are performed.  
 
2.2.3 Cost of sales 
 
Cost of sales comprises the expenses for the purchase of domains from registrars and corresponding fees 
as well as merchant fees. 
 
2.2.4 Cash and cash equivalents  
 
The Company considers all highly liquid monetary instruments with an original maturity of three months 
or less to be cash equivalents. 
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2.2.5 Concentration of credit risk 
 
The Company maintains its cash balances in large financial institutions. At times, such cash balances may 
be in excess of the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation limit. The Company does not believe it is 
exposed to any significant credit risk related to its cash accounts. 
 
The Company grants credit to customers of various sizes throughout the United States and Europe. 
Accounts receivable consist primarily of the net amounts to be collected from customers. The Company 
estimates its allowance for doubtful accounts based on historical write-off activity and known specific 
issues or disputes which exist as of the balance sheet date. Management believes that the risk of loss on 
its accounts receivable is adequately reserved for in the accompanying financial statements. 
Uncollectible accounts are written off against the allowance for doubtful accounts after exhausting all 
collection attempt remedies.  
 
2.2.6 Income taxes 
 
The Company is a limited liability company (“LLC”) under the Internal Revenue Code. As an LLC, the 
Company’s taxable income (loss) flows to the member’s federal and state income tax returns. 
Accordingly, no income tax provision or benefit is presented for financial statement purposes.  
 
The Company follows the guidance under Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting 
Standards Codification (“ASC”) 740, Income Taxes, in accounting for uncertainties in income taxes, and 
defines the thresholds for recognizing the benefits of tax return positions in the financial statements as 
“more-likely-than-not” to be sustained by the taxing authority. The Company recognizes interest and 
penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits as a component of income tax expense. At December 31, 
2018, the Company has no unrecognized tax benefits and the Company’s statutes of limitation are closed 
for all Federal and state tax years before 2016. The Company is not currently under any Internal Revenue 
Services or state tax examination.  
 
2.2.7 Recently issued accounting pronouncements 
 
In May 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2014-09, Revenue From Contracts 
with Customers, which requires an entity to recognize the amount of revenue to which it expects to be 
entitled for the transfer of promised goods or services to customers. ASU 2014-09 outlines a single 
comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for revenue arising from contracts with customers 
and supersedes most current revenue recognition guidance. This ASU is effective for reporting periods 
beginning after December 15, 2018. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of this accounting 
standard. 
 
 
NOTE 3 – INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

Intangible assets as of December 31, 2018 consist of the following:  
 

Gross Amount 
Accumulated 
Amortization Balance 

Trademark $                   399,999 $                 11,024 $              388,975 

Customer relationship 2,900,000 171,271 2,728,729 

Total $                3,299,999 $               182,295 $           3,117,704 
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Intangible assets as of December 31, 2017 consist of the following: 
 

Gross Amount 
Accumulated 
Amortization Balance 

Trademark $                1,740,000 $                791,924 $              948,076 

Customer relationship 3,260,000 2,755,473 504,527 

Total $                5,000,000 $             3,547,397 $           1,452,603 

In connection with the Acquisition on August 2, 2018, all of the intangible assets were recorded at fair 
value based on push-down accounting. The push-down accounting resulted in a non-cash equity 
contribution totalling $2,861,190 on the acquisition date.  

Amortization expense of intangible assets during the years ended December 31,2018 and 2017 totaled 
$781,858 and $599,560, respectively. The estimated future amortization expense as of December 31, 
2018 is: 

    
2019   $             440,953 
2020   440,953 
2021   440,953 
2022   440,953 
2023   440,953 
Thereafter   912,939 

Total  
  

$          3,117,704 

 
 
NOTE 4 - CAPITAL AND RESERVES 

The Company’s share capital consists of one share at no par value. 
 

NOTE 5 – VALUE-ADDED TAX  

The Company renders registration services to customers in the European Union (“EU”) and countries 
outside the EU which involves transactions for which the ultimate value-added tax (‘VAT’) determination 
is uncertain. During 2018, the Company began a comprehensive examination of certain VAT risks tax rules 
for each of the various jurisdictions where the Company generates sales. In the course of this 
examination, the Company has concluded and recorded the estimated VAT exposure and associated 
penalty of $234,297 as of December 31, 2018. This estimated liability is included in accrued expenses on 
the accompanying balance sheet. 

 
NOTE 6 – RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
During 2012, the Company issued a note payable to KeyDrive S.A., Luxembourg for $16,896,900. The 
Company was a wholly-owned subsidiary of the holder. The loan is due on request of the holder. The 
interest rate is 7 % per annum. The outstanding amount is $11,267,413 as of December 2018 and 2017.  
 
During 2014, the Company issued a note payable of $1,400,000 to Key-Systems GmbH, Germany, a wholly 
owned subsidiary of KeyDrive S.A., Luxembourg. The loan is due on request of the holder. The interest 
rate is 6% per annum. The outstanding amount is $1,200,000 and $1,400,000 as of December 2018 and 
2017, respectively. 
 
In connection with the Acquisition, these note payables and accrued interest remain outstanding to 
subsidiaries of CentralNic Group Plc. All of the note agreements and terms and conditions remain the 
same after the Acquisition. 
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The interest expense due to the related party note holders are $1,090,974 and $1,036,350, respectively. 
The amounts have been included in the interest expenses on the accompanying statements of operations. 
 
During 2018 and 2017, the Company recorded cost of revenue of $626,631 and $501,543, respectively, 
which represents registrar expenses paid by to Key-Systems GmbH, Germany on behalf of the Company. 
The amounts have been included in cost of revenue on the accompanying statements of operations. 
 
During 2018 and 2017, the Company recorded operating expenses paid by related parties on behalf of the 
Company of $328,759 and $294,311, respectively. The amounts have been included in selling, general 
and administrative expenses on the accompanying statements of operations. 

NOTE 7 – CONTINGENCIES 
 
The Company may be periodically involved in legal proceedings and claims in the ordinary course of 
business. Management does not believe they are a party to any legal proceedings that could be expected 
to have a material adverse effect on its financial position or results of operations. 
 
 
NOTE 8 – SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

The Company has evaluated subsequent events and transactions through November 21, 2019, the date 
the financial statements were available for issuance.  
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
 
Board of Directors and Member 
Moniker Privacy Services, LLC: 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Moniker Privacy Services, LLC, which 
comprise the balance sheets as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, and the related statements of 
operations, changes in member’s equity, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related 
notes to the financial statements. 
 
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial 
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 
America; this includes the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant 
to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility  
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We 
conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
States of America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. 
 



  
  
  

 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion. 
 
Opinion 
 
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of Moniker Privacy Services, LLC as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, and 
the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 
 
KBF CPAs LLP 
 
Portland, Oregon 
November 21, 2019 



2018 2017

Total assets -$                  -$                  

Total liabilities -                    -                    

Member's equity:
Share Capital; no par value; 1 share authorized, issued and outstanding -                    -                    

Total member's equity -                    -                    

Total liabilities and member's equity -$                     -$                     

LIABILITIES AND MEMBER'S EQUITY

MONIKER PRIVACY SERVICES, LLC
BALANCE SHEETS

AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017

ASSETS

See accompanying notes and independent auditor's report.
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2018 2017

Revenues -$                   -$                   

Cost of revenues -                    -                    

Operating expenses -                    -                    

Net income (loss) -$                   -$                   

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017
STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

MONIKER PRIVACY SERVICES, LLC

See accompanying notes and independent auditor's report.

4



Total
Member's

Shares Amount Equity

Balances, December 31, 2016 1                              -$                         -$                            

Net income (loss) -                           -                          -                             

Balances, December 31, 2017 1                              -                          -                             

Net income (loss) -                           -                          -                             

Balances, December 31, 2018 1                              -$                         -$                            

Share Capital

MONIKER PRIVACY SERVICES, LLC
STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN MEMBER'S EQUITY 

AS OF DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017

See accompanying notes and independent auditor's report.
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2018 2017

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents -$              -$              

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year -                -                

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year -$              -$              

Supplemental cash flow information: 
Cash paid during the year for interest -$              -$              
Cash paid during the year for income taxes -$              -$              

MONIKER PRIVACY SERVICES, LLC

FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

See accompanying notes and independent auditor's report.
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MONIKER PRIVACY SERVICES, LLC 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
DECEMBER 31, 2018 AND 2017 

 
NOTE 1 – GENERAL INFORMATION 
 
Moniker Privacy Services, LLC is a limited liability company organised by the laws of the United States of 
America, incorporated in the state of Florida. 
 
The Company’s financial year starts on January 1 and ends on December 31 of each year. 
 
On August 2, 2018, CentralNic Group Plc acquired indirectly the entire share capital of Moniker Privacy 
Services, LLC (the “Acquisition”). CentralNic Group Plc is the UK holding company of a group of companies 
which are engaged in the provision of global domain name services. CentralNic Group Plc has been 
admitted to trading in the AIM segment of the London Stock Exchange.  
 
From August 2, 2018 through December 31, 2018, the Company is included in the consolidated accounts 
of CentralNic Group Plc, which is published and available on the website of London Stock Exchange. From 
January 1, 2017 through August 1, 2018, the Company was wholly-owned by KeyDrive S.A. As part of the 
Acquisition on August 2, 2018, KeyDrive S.A. was also acquired by CentralNic Group Plc.   
 
The company is directly owned by Moniker.com, Inc, the parent company, and has no own accounts or 
transaction activity as of and for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017. The Company is included 
as a consolidated entity of Moniker.com, Inc. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

8 

 
NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
2.1 Basis of preparation 
 
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting 
Principles.  
 
2.2 Income taxes 
 
The Company is a limited liability company (“LLC”) under the Internal Revenue Code. As an LLC, the 
Company’s taxable income (loss) flows to the member’s federal and state income tax returns. 
Accordingly, no income tax provision or benefit is presented for financial statement purposes.  

The Company follows the guidance under Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting 
Standards Codification (“ASC”) 740, Income Taxes, in accounting for uncertainties in income taxes, and 
defines the thresholds for recognizing the benefits of tax return positions in the financial statements as 
“more-likely-than-not” to be sustained by the taxing authority. The Company recognizes interest and 
penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits as a component of income tax expense. At December 31, 
2018, the Company has no unrecognized tax benefits and the Company’s statutes of limitation are closed 
for all Federal and state tax years before 2016. The Company is not currently under any Internal Revenue 
Services or state tax examination.  

NOTE 3 – CONTINGENCIES 
 
The Company may be periodically involved in legal proceedings and claims in the ordinary course of 
business. Management does not believe they are a party to any legal proceedings that could be expected 
to have a material adverse effect on its financial position or results of operations. 
 
NOTE 4 - CAPITAL AND RESERVES 

The Company’s share capital consists of one share at no par value. 
 
NOTE 5 – SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 
The Company has evaluated subsequent events and transactions through November 21, 2019, the date 
the financial statements were available for issuance 
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Balance sheet as at 31 December 2018 
 

SkyWay DataCenter GmbH, St. Ingbert 

     
 Kiefer & Jochum PartGmbB Otto-Toussaint-Str. 7 
 Auditor 66386 St. Ingbert 
 Tax consultant  

 

ASSETS  LIABILITIES 
  
 
  Fiscal Year  Previous Year 
 Euros Euros Euros 

 
 A. Fixed assets 
 
  I. Intangible assets 
 
  Purchased concessions, industrial property rights and  
  similar rights and assets such as licences to such 
  rights and assets 3.00 3.00 
 
 II. Tangible Assets 
 
 1. Technical equipment and 
  machinery 59,960.00 81,192.00 
 2. Other plant, fixtures and 
  equipment 90,392.00  135,896.00 
    150,352.00 217,088.00 
 
 B. Current assets 
 
 I.  Receivables and other 
  assets 
 
 1. Trade accounts receivable 
   67,588.17  70,911.12 
 2. Amounts due from affiliated 
  companies 63,308.71 63,068.06 
 3. Amounts due from companies, 
  with whom there is a shareholding 
  relationship  1,829.25  1,661.10 
 4. Other assets 63,383.54   69,069.11 
   196,109.67  204,709.39 

 Fiscal Year  Previous Year 
 Euros Euros Euros 

 
 A.  Equity capital 
 
 I. Subscribed capital  50,000.00  50,000.00 
 
 II. Net income for the year -6,152.93 -6,152.93 
    43,847.07              43,847.07 
 
  
 
 B. Reserves 
 
  
  Other reserves  19,385.00  22,993.70 
    19,385.00 22,993.70 
 
 C. Liabilities 
 
 1. Trade accounts 
  payable  52,434.96  25,168.46 
 2. Amounts owed to 
  affiliated companies 622,415.68 623,178.33 
 3. Other liabilities  34,343.44   39,730.59 
     709,194.08 688,077.38 
 

  



Balance sheet as at 31 December 2018 
 

SkyWay DataCenter GmbH, St. Ingbert 

     
 Kiefer & Jochum PartGmbB Otto-Toussaint-Str. 7 
 Auditor 66386 St. Ingbert 
 Tax consultant  

ASSETS  LIABILITIES 
  
 
  Fiscal Year  Previous Year 
 Euros Euros Euros 

 
 II. Cash at 
  credit institutions  381,087.84 277,839.37 
 
 C. Prepaid expenses  44,873.64 55,278.39 

 Fiscal Year  Previous Year 
 Euros Euros Euros 

 

      
 
  772,426.15 754,918.15 
     

     
 
  772,426.15 754,918.15 
     
 



Notes to the financial statements for the fiscal year 2018 
 
SkyWay DataCenter GmbH, St. Ingbert 
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Profit and loss account from 01.01.2018 to 31.12.2018 
SkyWay DataCenter GmbH, St. Ingbert 
  Fiscal Year  Previous Year 
 Euros Euros Euros 
 
 
 1. Sales revenue 1,359,783.96 1,367,556.61 
  
 2. Other operating income 
  
    19,860.00 17,360.49 
 
 3. Material expenditure 
 a)  Cost of purchased goods  0.00  814.42 
 b) Cost of purchased services 531,682.25  467,651.35 
    531,682.25 468,465.77 
 
 4. Labour costs 
 a) Wages and salaries  395,027.83  381,034.99 
 b) Social security contributions and expenses for 
  pensions and support  83,124.39   80,096.76 
     478,152.22 461,131.75 
 
 5. Depreciation 
  of intangible 
  and tangible fixed assets  92,540.92  118,736.82 
 
 6. Other operating expenses 297,731.08          303,451.47 
     
 7. Other interest and similar income 886.68 1,159.05 
 
 8. Interest and similar expenses  26,616.47  28,473.36 
 
 9. Earnings after taxes  -46,192.30  5,816.98 
 
 10. Other taxes  178.00  311.48 
 
 11. Income from the transfer of losses  46,370.30  0.00 
 
 12. Annual surplus 0.00 5,505.50 
 
 13. Loss carried forward -6,152.93 -11,658.43 
 
 14. Net income for the year -6,152.93 -6,152.93 
 
 



Notes to the financial statements for the fiscal year 2018 
 
SkyWay DataCenter GmbH, St. Ingbert 
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Notes to the annual financial statements 
 

General information on the annual financial statements 
 
The annual financial statements for SkyWay DataCenter GmbH were prepared in accordance with the 

accounting principles of the German Commercial Code. 

 
In addition to these principles, the provisions set down in the German Limited Liability Companies Act were 

also to be applied. 

 
The total cost method was selected for the income statement. 

 
According to the thresholds for determining the size of a company set down in § 267 HGB [German Commercial 

Code], the company is a small corporation. 

 
Data maintained by Registration Court to identify the company 
 
Company name registered at court: SkyWay DataCenter GmbH 

 With legal effect from 21 January    

 2019, the company changed its name to "Key-Systems Data 

 Center GmbH". 

 
Company seat registered at court: St. Ingbert 

 
Registration entry: Commercial Register 

 
Registration Court Saarbrücken 

 
Register No.: 18931 

 

Information on accounting and valuation methods 
 
Accounting and valuation principles 
 
Purchased intangible assets are recorded at acquisition cost and, if subject to wear, less scheduled 

depreciation. 

Useful lives for depreciation of intangible assets were between 1 and 3 years. 

 
Tangible fixed assets are recorded at acquisition or production cost and, if subject to wear, less scheduled 

depreciation. 

Useful lives for depreciation of tangible assets were between 3 and 8 years. 



Notes to the financial statements for the fiscal year 2018 
 
SkyWay DataCenter GmbH, St. Ingbert 
 

 
 

     
 Kiefer & Jochum PartGmbB Otto-Toussaint-Str. 7 
 Auditor 66386 St. Ingbert 
 Tax consultant 

Scheduled depreciation is undertaken on a linear and digressive basis according to the expected useful life of 

the assets. 

 
Movable fixed assets up to a value of 410 Euros were fully depreciated in the year of acquisition. 

 
Receivables and other assets are recognised at nominal value, less appropriate deductions for recognisable 

impairment under the principle of lower of cost or market value.  

 
Cash at credit institutions is recognised at nominal value. 

 

Prepaid expenses and accrued income includes expenses paid before the balance sheet date for a specific 

time after that date. 

 

Equity capital is recognised at face value. 

 

Reserves are recorded at the settlement amount dictated by prudent business judgment and, if applicable, in 

consideration of expected future price and cost changes.  

 
Payables are recorded at the settlement amount. 

 
Accounting policies and valuation methods that are different from the previous year 
 
The accounting and valuation methods previously used were still applied for the annual financial statements. 

 
There was no fundamental change in accounting and valuation methods compared with the previous year. 

 



Notes to the financial statements for the fiscal year 2018 
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Information on the balance sheet 
 
Asset schedule for the individual items of fixed assets 
 
The development of the assets for each item on the balance sheet is shown in the asset schedule. 

 
Information in accordance with § 42 Subsection 3 GmbHG [German Limited Liability 
Companies Act] 
 
 
Information on receivables from and payables to shareholders 
 
The shareholders are subject to the following rights and obligations: 

 
Items  Amount 

 
Receivables (included in the amounts due from affiliated companies)  49,250.94 Euros 

 (previous year: 49,733.42 Euros) 

 
Liabilities (included in the amounts owed to affiliated companies) 622,415.68 Euros 

 (previous year: 623,178.33 Euros) 

 
As at the balance sheet date, the amounts due from affiliated companies include 46,000 Euros from profit 
and loss transfer and the rest of the deliveries and services. The receivables from companies with whom 
there is a shareholding relationship as at the balance sheet date result (as in the previous year) from 
deliveries and services. 
The amounts owed to affiliated companies as the balance sheet date essentially relate (as in the previous 
year) to a credit line of Key-Systems GmbH.  
 
 
Information on receivables and other assets with a term to maturity of greater than one year 
 
The amount of other assets with a remaining term to maturity greater than one year amounts to 59,998.25 

Euros (previous year: 59,111.57 Euros). 
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Amount of liabilities with a residual term to maturity of greater than 5 years and security rights  
 
As in the previous year, there are no payables with a term to maturity of greater than 5 years. 
 

Information on other financial obligations 
 
 
In addition to the liabilities shown in the balance sheet, there are other financial obligations in the amount of 

964,000 Euros (previous year: 492,300 Euros). These are financial commitments to affiliated companies and 

can be broken down as follows: 

 

 Total of which of which of which 
  up to 1 year 2-5 years > 5 years 

Lease for office space 220,000 Euros 44,000 Euros 176,000 Euros 0 Euros 

Lease for technical 
equipment in the data centre 744,000 Euros 149,000 Euros 595,000 Euros 0 Euros 

 
 
There are no contingent liabilities as at the balance sheet date. 
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Proposal for the appropriation of profit 
 
 
A control and profit and loss transfer agreement was concluded between Key-Systems GmbH and SkyWay 

Key-Systems Datacenter GmbH on 14.09.2010. As a result, the negative annual result in the amount of 

46,370.30 Euros was compensated for the Key-Systems GmbH. 

 
 
Average number of employees during the fiscal year 
 
The average number of employees during the fiscal year remained at the previous year's level of 7. 
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Other required disclosures  
 
 

Name of the Managing Directors 
 
 
Throughout the past financial year, the following carried out the transactions of the company: 

 
Mr Roman Schließmeyer 

 
Mr Alexander Siffrin 

 
 

 
Group affiliation 
 
As at 31 December 2018, SkyWay DataCenter GmbH was included in the consolidated financial statements 

of CentralNic Group PLC, London, United Kingdom (Companies House 08576358). CentralNic Group PLC is 

the only group company that prepares consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2018.  

 
 

St. Ingbert, 07 November 2019 

 

 
[Signature]                                              [Signature] 
Alexander Siffrin Roman Schließmeyer 

(Managing Director) (Managing Director) 
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Gross asset schedule as at 31.12.2018 – Commercial Law 
  

  

SkyWay DataCenter GmbH 
  

St. Ingbert 
  

        

Acquisition Additions Disposals Acquisition Accumulated Depreciation Disposals Accumulated Book value Book value 
      

costs 
    

costs depreciation in the fiscal year 
  

depreciation 
    

                        

      

01.01.18 
    

31.12.2018 01.01.18 
    

31.12.2018 31.12.2018 31.12.2017       

EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR EUR 

I. Intangible 
assets 

                    

                      

1. Purchased 
concessions, 
industrial 
property rights 
and similar rights 
and assets such 
as licences to 
such rights and 
assets 

                    

                      

                      

                      

                      

  

13,743.00 
 

0.00 
 

0.00 13,743.00 13,740.00 
 

0.00 
 

0.00 13,740.00 3.00 3.00 

                          

  

Intangible 
assets 

                    

  

13,743.00 
 

0.00 
 

0.00 13,743.00 13,740.00 
 

0.00 
 

0.00 13,740.00 3.00 3.00 
                          

II. Tangible Assets 
                    

                          

1. Technical 
equipment and 
machinery 

                    

  

169,855.00 
 

0.00 
 

0.00 169,855.00 88,663.00 21,232.00 
 

0.00 109,895.00 59,960.00 81,192.00 

         

2. Other plant, 
fixtures and 
equipment 

806,552.10 26,371.92 588.99 832,335.03 670,656.10 71,308.92 21.99 741,943.03 90,392.00 135,896.00                      

  

Tangible assets 976,407.10 26,371.92 588.99 1,002,190.03 759,319.10 92,540.92 21.99 851,838.03 150,352.00 217,088.00 
                          

      

990,150.10 26,371.92 588.99 1,015,933.03 773,059.10 92,540.92 21.99 865,578.03 150,355.00 217,091.00 
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Cash flow statement for the fiscal year from 1 January to 31 December 2018 

 

SkyWay DataCenter GmbH, 66386 St. Ingbert 
 

 

   2018  2017 
 

 
Net result for the period (before profit transfer) 

 
-46,370.30 

 
5,505.50 

+ Depreciation of fixed assets 
 

92,540.92 
 

118,736.82 

+/- Increase / decrease in provisions 
 

-3,608.70 
 

12,393.70 

+/- Decrease / increase in trade accounts receivable and 
other assets not attributable to investment or financing 
activities 

 
19,891.15 

 
-53,828.61 

+ Increase in trade accounts payable, as well as other 
liabilities not attributable to investment or financing 
activities 

 
47,280.25 

 
11,180.47 

- Profit from the disposal of fixed assets 
 

-13.00 
 

0.00 

- Interest income 
 

-886.68 
 

-1,159.05 

+ Interest expenses 
 

26,616.47 
 

28,473.36       

= Cash flow from operating activities 
 

135,450.11 
 

121,302.19       

- Payments for investments in tangible fixed assets 
 

-26,371.92 
 

-123,242.82 

+ Proceeds from disposals of tangible fixed assets 
 

580.00 
 

0.00 

      

= Cash flow from investment activities 
 

-25,791.92 
 

-123,242.82       

- Payments to shareholders from profit transfer 
 

-5,505.50 
 

-17,810.10 

- Outgoing payments for the repayment of loans 
 

0.00 
 

-40,000.00 

- Interest paid 
 

-904.22 
 

-3,961.79       

= Cash flow from financing activities 
 

-6,409.72 
 

-61,771.89       

 
Change in cash and cash equivalents (sum of cash 
flows) 

 
103,248.47 

 
-63,712.52 

+ Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the 
period 

 
277,839.37 

 
341,551.89 

      

= Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 
 

381,087.84 
 

277,839.37 
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 Auditor 
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AUDIT CERTIFICATE ISSUED BY THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR OF THE ANNUAL 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 

To Key-Systems DataCenter GmbH, St. Ingbert 

 

Audit opinion 

 

We have audited the annual financial statements of SkyWay DataCenter GmbH St. Ingbert, comprising the 

balance sheet for the year ending 31 December 2018, the income statement for the fiscal year from 01 

January to 31 December 2018, and the notes to the financial statements, together with a presentation of 

the accounting policies. 

 

In our opinion, based on the findings of our audit, 

 

• the attached annual financial statements have been prepared in all material respects in accordance 

with German commercial law and give a true and fair view in compliance with the German principles 

of proper accounting of the assets and financial position of the company for the year ending 31 

December 2018, as well as the profit situation for the fiscal year from 01 January to 31 December 

2018. 

 

Pursuant to § 322 Subsection 3 Sentence 1 HGB [German Commercial Code], we declare that our audit has 

not led to any reservations to the legal compliance of the annual financial statements. 

 

Basis for the audit opinion 

 

We conducted our audit of the annual financial statements in accordance with § 317 HGB and German 

generally accepted standards for the audit of financial statements promulgated by the Institut der 

Wirtschaftsprüfer [Institute of Public Auditors in Germany] (IDW). Our responsibilities under those 

requirements and principles are described in greater detail in the section ‘Responsibilities of the auditor for 

the audit of the annual financial statements’ of our audit certificate. We are independent of the company in 

accordance with the requirements of German commercial and professional law and have fulfilled our other 

German professional responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit 

evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions on the annual 

financial statements. 

 

Responsibility of the legal representatives for the annual financial statements 

 

The legal representatives are responsible for the preparation of the annual financial statements, which 

comply in all material respects with the requirements of German commercial law, and for the annual 

financial statements to give a true and fair view of the assets, financial position and profit situation of the 

company in compliance with German generally accepted accounting principles.  In addition, the legal 

representatives are responsible for such internal control as, in accordance with German generally accepted 

accounting principles, they have deemed necessary to enable the preparation of the annual financial 

statements, which are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. 

 

In preparing the annual financial statements, the legal representatives are responsible for assessing the 

ability of the company to continue as a going concern.  They also have the responsibility for disclosing, as 

applicable, matters relating to the continuation of the business activities.  Furthermore, they are 

responsible for the financial reporting based on the accounting principles of the going concern provided no 

actual or legal circumstances conflict therewith.  
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Responsibility of the auditor for the audit of the annual financial statements 

 

Our aim is to obtain reasonable assurance on whether the annual financial statements as a whole are free 

from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an audit certificate containing our 

audit opinion of the annual financial statements. 

 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but it is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 

accordance with § 317 HGB and in compliance with the German generally accepted standards for the audit 

of financial statements promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer [Institute of Public Auditors in 

Germany] (IDW) will always detect a material misstatement. Misstatements may arise from irregularities or 

error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 

influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these annual financial statements. 

 

We exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also 

 

• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the annual financial statements, whether due 

to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures in response to those risks, and obtain 

sufficient and appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for our audit opinions. The risk of not 

detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than from error, as fraud may involve 

collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls. 

 

• obtain an understanding of the internal control system relevant to the audit of the annual financial 

statements in order to design appropriate audit procedures in the given circumstances, but not for 

the purpose of expressing an audit opinion on the effectiveness of this company system.  

 

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used by the legal representatives and the 

reasonableness of estimates made by the legal representatives and related disclosures. 

 

• conclude on the appropriateness of the accounting policies applied by the legal representatives to the 

going concern and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists 

related to events or conditions which may cast significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue 

its business activities. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 

attention in the audit certificate to the related disclosures in the annual financial statements or, if 

such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our respective audit opinion.  Our conclusions are based 

on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of the audit certificate. However, future events or 

conditions may prevent the company from being able to continue its business activities. 

 

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the annual financial statements, including 

the disclosures, and whether the annual financial statements present the underlying transactions and 

events in such a manner that the annual financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets, 

financial position and profit situation of the company in compliance with German generally accepted 

accounting principles. 
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We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, amongst other matters, the planned

scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any deficiencies in the internal control

system identified in the course of our audit.

Saarbrücken, 07 November 2019

PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH

Audit Firm

[Signature]

Michael Rohkämper

Auditor

Certified to be a true tran

[Stamp: PricewaterhouseCoopers GmbH]

Audit Firm

FRANKFURTAM MAIN

[Signature]

Ppa. Roman Wolf

Auditor
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